COMBUSTION CHARACTERISTICS AND THERMAL UTILIZATION OF SEWAGE SLUDGE AND COAL MIXTURES

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL AND APPLIED SCIENCES OF MIDDLE EAST TECHNICAL UNIVERSITY

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$

ONUR ATAK

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING

SEPTEMBER 2013

Approval of the thesis:

COMBUSTION CHARACTERISTICS AND THERMAL UTILIZATION OF SEWAGE SLUDGE AND COAL MIXTURES

Submitted by **ONUR ATAK** in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science in Environmental Engineering Department, Middle East Technical University** by,

Prof. Dr. Canan Özgen Dean, Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences	
Prof. Dr. F. Dilek Sanin Head of Department, Environmental Engineering	
Prof. Dr. Aysel Atımtay Supervisor, Environmental Engineering Dept., METU	
Prof. Dr. F. Dilek Sanin Co-Supervisor, Environmental Engineering Dept., METU	
Examining Comitee Members:	
Prof. Dr. Aysel Atımtay Environmental Engineering Dept., METU	
Prof. Dr. F. Dilek Sanin Environmental Engineering Dept., METU	
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ayşegül Aksoy Environmental Engineering Dept., METU	
Prof. Dr. F. Hayati Olgun Solar Energy Institute, Ege University	
Prof. Dr. F. Hüsnü Atakül Chemical Engineering Department, ITU	

Date: 03.09.2013

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all material and results that are not original to this work.

Name, Last Name: Onur ATAK

Signature :

ABSTRACT

COMBUSTION CHARACTERISTICS AND THERMAL UTILIZATION OF SEWAGE SLUDGE AND COAL MIXTURES

ATAK, Onur M.Sc., Department of Environmental Engineering Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Aysel Atımtay

September 2013, 155 Pages

Management of sewage sludge is generally one of the greatest problems that municipalities face due to its large quantities and different characteristics. Since dry sludge has a heating value close to a lignite coal, this energy can be recovered and used. The aim of this thesis is to <u>investigate the beneficial use of sewage sludge by exploring its energy content.</u> In this context, six Wastewater Treatment Plants (WWTPs) are chosen with different characteristics. Proximate and ultimate analysis, calorific value determination and thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) are carried out on the samples to determine the characteristics of sludges of these WWTPs. Then, co-combustion of these sludges with coal is investigated in a laboratory scale batch combustor. Sludge samples are added to coal at 3, 5, 10, 20, and 30% by wt. and combusted to see the effect of sludge addition on combustion efficiency and emissions. Elemental composition of ashes is also determined by X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF). In ash analysis of sludges alkali content was found in the range of 0.5-1.5% by wt. showing high slagging and fouling tendencies in the combustor if burned alone.

Results of the experiments have shown that thermal characteristics of sludges depend on types and operating conditions of wastewater and sludge treatment processes. In combustion experiments as the sludge addition to fuel mixtures increased, carbon monoxide formation also increased and the efficiency of combustion is reduced. Lastly, kinetic analysis with TGA experiments show that sewage sludge decomposes according to multiple reaction models, however, the most dominant models are based on nucleation processes.

Keywords: sewage sludge, thermal analysis, combustion

ARITMA ÇAMURLARI VE KÖMÜR KARIŞIMLARININ ISIL DAVRANIMI VE YANMA KARAKTERİSTİKLERİ

ATAK, Onur Yüksek Lisans, Çevre Mühendisliği Bölümü Tez Yöneticisi: Prof. Dr. Aysel Atımtay

Eylül 2013, 155 Sayfa

Atık su arıtma tesislerinde oluşan arıtma çamurunun yönetimi, çamur miktarının çok fazla olmasından ve camurun değisken özelliklerinden dolayı bu tesisleri isleten Belediyelerin karşılaştıkları en büyük problemlerden biridir. Diğer taraftan kurutulmuş arıtma çamurunun ısıl değerinin linyit kömürlerine yakın olması, bu enerjinin geri kazanımını önemli kılmaktadır. Bu tezin amacı, arıtma camurlarının enerji iceriğini belirleverek bu camurların yararlı kullanımını araştırmaktır. Bu kapsamda, değişik özellikler gösteren altı adet atık su arıtma tesisi seçilmiştir. Alınan arıtma çamuru örneklerinin yaklaşık ve elemental analizleri yapılmış, kalorifik değerleri belirlenmiş ve termogravimetrik analiz ile arıtma çamurlarının yanma kinetikleriincelenmistir. Daha sonra, laboratuvar ölçekli bir kesikli yakma reaktöründe arıtma çamuru-kömür karışımlarının yakılması araştırılmıştır. Arıtma çamurları kömüre kütlece %3, 5, 10, 20, 30 oranında karıştırılarak, arıtma camuru eklenmesinin yanma verimine ve emisyonlara etkisi incelenmiştir. Ayrıca arıtma çamuru külünün elemental komposizyonu X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) analizi ile belirlenmiştir. Arıtma çamuru örneklerinden elde edilen küllerin elemental kompozisyon çalışmasında alkali içeriğinin %0.5-1.5 arasında olduğu ve bu kompozisyonun da çamur tek başına yakıldığında cüruf oluşumunu artırabileceği belirlenmistir.

Deney sonuçları, arıtma çamurunun termal karakterizasyon parametrelerinin atık su ve çamur arıtma prosesi tiplerine ve bu proseslerin çalışma koşullarına göre değiştiğini göstermiştir. Ayrıca, arıtma çamuru ile kömürün yakılması deneylerinde karışımdaki arıtma çamuru oranının artması, karbon monoksit emisyonlarını artırarak yanma veriminin azalmasına yol açmıştır. Son olarak, TGA deneyleri ile yapılan kinetik analiz sonucunda, arıtma çamuru yanmasının birbirinden farklı birçok reaksiyon modeline göre gerçekleştiği açığa çıkarılmıştır. Çalışılan deneysel koşullarda baskın olan modelin nükleasyon (nucleation) proseslerine dayandığı bulunmuştur.

Anahtar sözcükler: arıtma çamuru, termal analiz, yakma

To my family, to the one who I believe will be somewhere beyond here.

ACKNOWLADGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Prof. Dr. Aysel Atimtay for her guidance which makes it possible to complete this study. Her wisdom and knowledge have been a guiding light to overcome problems occurred during this period.

My co-supervisor Prof. Dr. F. Dilek Sanin is the key person for me to pursue an academic career. I consider myself lucky for working with such a sophisticated scientist.

Along with my supervisor and co-supervisor, I would like to thank other jury members of my thesis; Prof. Dr. Hayati Olgun, Prof. Dr. Hüsnü Atakül, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ayşegül Aksoy for their efforts to make my thesis more improved in writing.

I would like to thank Savaş Karadağ and Emre Başpınar for their support and patience during this study period.

I am very lucky to have these wonderful friends who gave me support throughout this study: Özlem Duyan, Hülya Duyan, Merve Boysan, Gül Ayaklı, Murat Akpınar, Mustafa Can Büyükkatran, and İbrahim Can Akbayır.

I would like to thank Ceren Aygül for everything she has done for me to make this study to be completed.

My brother, life is easier when we stand shoulder to shoulder and when we support each other.

My sister, you know me better than I do, thank you for everything.

Lastly, but most importantly, my heartfelt gratitude goes to my family for their unflagging love and support throughout my life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	v
ÖZ	vi
ACKNOWLADGEMENTS	viii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	ix
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	. xiii
INTRODUCTION	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	3
2.1. Sources and Treatment of Sewage Sludge	3
2.1.1. Sources of Sewage Sludge	3
2.1.2. Treatment of Sewage Sludge	4
2.2. Disposal and Beneficial Use of Sewage Sludge	5
2.3. Studies on Thermal Processing of Sewage Sludge	9
2.3.1. Pyrolysis/Gasification of Sewage Sludge	9
2.3.2. Combustion of Sewage Sludge	. 12
2.3.3. Characteristics of Ash Produced in Combustion of Sewage Sludge	. 14
2.4. Kinetics of Sewage Sludge Combustion	. 18
2.4.1. Temperature Dependence of Chemical Reactions	. 18
2.4.2. Kinetic Analysis of Thermal Decomposition of Solids	. 19
2.5. Studies on Thermal Analysis of Sewage Sludge	. 22
MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 27
3.1. Wastewater Treatment Plants Investigated	. 27
3.2. Characterization of Sewage Sludge Samples	. 28
3.2.1. Proximate Analysis	. 28
3.2.2. Ultimate Analysis	. 29
3.2.3. Micro X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) Analysis	. 30
3.3. Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA) of Sewage Sludge Samples	. 30
3.3.1. Experimental Procedure	. 31
3.3.2. Data Treatment	. 32
3.3.2.1. Derivation and Treatment of Reaction Rate and Heating Rate Curves	. 32
3.3.2.2. Normalization of Data	. 33
3.3.3. Kinetic Analysis	. 34

3.3.3.1. Determination of Activation Energy	35
3.3.3.2. Calculation of Reaction Rate	36
3.3.3.3. Identification of Reaction Model and Frequency Factor	36
3.4. Laboratory Scale Combustion Experiments of Sewage Sludge Coal Blends	38
3.4.1. Flue Gas Analyzer	39
3.4.2. Sample Preparation for Combustion Experiments	40
3.4.3. Combustion Experiments and Interpretation of Results	41
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	45
4.1. Thermal Characterization of Sewage Sludge Samples and Coal	45
4.1.1. Proximate/Ultimate Analysis of Sewage Sludge Samples and Coal	45
4.1.2. Determination of Ash Composition of Sewage Sludge Samples by XRF Ana	alysis 53
4.2. Co-combustion of Sewage Sludge and Coal	56
4.3. Kinetic Study of Thermogravimetric Analysis of Sewage Sludge Samples	63
4.3.1. Activation Energy Calculation	65
4.3.2. Calculation of Reaction Rate	67
4.3.3. Determination of Reaction Model and Frequency Factor	72
CONCLUSIONS	77
FUTURE STUDIES AND RECOMMENDATIONS	79
REFERENCES	81
APPENDICES	97
A. Emissions Obtained in Co-Combustion Experiments	97
B. TGA Profiles	115
C. Matlab Codes for Filtering and Interpolation Operation	127
D. Fitting of Time Vectors to Experimental Data	129
D.1. Fitting Integral Data	129
D.2. Fitting Differential Data	143

LIST OF TABLES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Projections for sewage sludge management in Europe (Werther and Ogada 1999)6
Figure 2.2 Sewage sludge disposal and beneficial use in Europe in 2004 (Stehlík 2009) 6
Figure 2.3 Processes which are available for thermal treatment of sewage sludge (Werther and
Ogada 1999)9
Figure 2.4 Schematic drawing of the process which is used for pyrolysis of sewage sludge
sample (Chun, Kim, and Yoshikawa 2011) 10
Figure 2.5 Partitioning of nitrogen in sewage sludge pyrolysis(H. Chen, Namioka, and
Yoshikawa 2011) 11
Figure 3.1 Truspec Leco CHN-S elemental analyzer
Figure 3.2 Leco AC 500 calorimeter
Figure 3.3 Perkin Elmer Pyris STA 6000 TG analyzer
Figure 3.4 The effect of Savitzky-Golay filtering
Figure 3.5 Diagram of lab scale combustion setup
Figure 3.6 Madur photon flue gas analyzer
Figure 3.7 Emissions measured in a combustion experiment
Figure 4.1 Change in calorific values of sewage sludge samples
Figure 4.2 Correlation between calorific value and volatile matter of samples
Figure 4.3 Correlation between volatile matter contents and calorific values of sludges
obtained from literature data
Figure 4.4 Correlation between carbon contents and calorific values of sludges obtained from
literature data
Figure 4.5 Correlation between volatile matter and carbon contents of sludges obtained from
literature data
Figure 4.6 Result of co-combustion of coal with 3% A-1 sludge
Figure 4.7 Combustion efficiencies of samples studied
Figure 4.8 Mass loss profiles of sample A-1 in TGA experiments at different heating rates 63
Figure 4.9 Heating rates of sample A-1 in TGA experiments
Figure 4.10 Reaction rates of sample A-1 in TGA experiments
Figure 4.11 Change of activation energy of sewage sludge samples with extent of conversion

Figure 4.12 Coefficient of correlations obtained in activation energy calculations
Figure 4.13 P-values which correspond to values of coefficient of correlation obtained in
activation energy calculations
Figure 4.14 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values
with calculated values for sample A-1 (* indicates calculated values)
Figure 4.15 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values
with calculated values for sample B-1 (* indicates calculated values)
Figure 4.16 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values
with calculated values for sample C-1 (* indicates calculated values)
Figure 4.17 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values
with calculated values for sample D-1 (* indicates calculated values)
Figure 4.18 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values
with calculated values for sample E1-1 (* indicates calculated values)70
Figure 4.19 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values
with calculated values for sample E2-1 (* indicates calculated values)70
Figure 4.20 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values
with calculated values for sample F-1 (* indicates calculated values)71
Figure 4.21 Intercept values obtained during activation energy calculation of sample A-173
Figure 4.22 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile for sample A-1 at 4 °C/min heating
rate74
Figure 4.23 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of sample A-1 at 4 °C/min heating
rate75
Figure A.1 Results of coal combustion experiment97
Figure A.2 Result of co-combustion of coal and A-1 sludge with %3 addition97
Figure A.3 Result of co-combustion of coal and A-1 sludge with %5 addition98
Figure A.4 Result of co-combustion of coal and A-1 sludge with %10 addition98
Figure A.5 Result of co-combustion of coal and A-1 sludge with %20 addition99
Figure A.6 Result of co-combustion of coal and A-1 sludge with %30 addition99
Figure A.7 Result of co-combustion of coal and B-1 sludge with %3 addition100
Figure A.8 Result of co-combustion of coal and B-1 sludge with %5 addition100
Figure A.9 Result of co-combustion of coal and B-1 sludge with %10 addition101
Figure A.10 Result of co-combustion of coal and B-1 sludge with %20 addition101
Figure A.11 Result of co-combustion of coal and B-1 sludge with %30 addition102
Figure A.12 Result of co-combustion of coal and C-1 sludge with %3 addition102
Figure A.13 Result of co-combustion of coal and C-1 sludge with %5 addition103

Figure A.14 Result of co-combustion of coal and C-1 sludge with $\%10$ addition103
Figure A.15 Result of co-combustion of coal and C-1 sludge with $\%20$ addition104
Figure A.16 Result of co-combustion of coal and C-1 sludge with $\%30$ addition104
Figure A.17 Result of co-combustion of coal and D-1 sludge with %3 addition 105
Figure A.18 Result of co-combustion of coal and D-1 sludge with %5 addition 105
Figure A.19 Result of co-combustion of coal and D-1 sludge with %10 addition106
Figure A.20 Result of co-combustion of coal and D-1 sludge with %20 addition 106
Figure A.21 Result of co-combustion of coal and D-1 sludge with %30 addition 107
Figure A.22 Result of co-combustion of coal and E1-1 sludge with %3 addition 107
Figure A.23 Result of co-combustion of coal and E1-1 sludge with %5 addition 108
Figure A.24 Result of co-combustion of coal and E1-1 sludge with %10 addition108
Figure A.25 Result of co-combustion of coal and E1-1 sludge with %20 addition109
Figure A.26 Result of co-combustion of coal and E1-1 sludge with %30 addition109
Figure A.27 Result of co-combustion of coal and E2-1 sludge with %3 addition110
Figure A.28 Result of co-combustion of coal and E2-1 sludge with %5 addition110
Figure A.29 Result of co-combustion of coal and E2-1 sludge with %10 addition111
Figure A.30 Result of co-combustion of coal and E2-1 sludge with %20 addition111
Figure A.31 Result of co-combustion of coal and E2-1 sludge with %30 addition112
Figure A.32 Result of co-combustion of coal and F-1 sludge with %3 addition 112
Figure A.33 Result of co-combustion of coal and F-1 sludge with %5 addition 113
Figure A.34 Result of co-combustion of coal and F-1 sludge with %10 addition113
Figure A.35 Result of co-combustion of coal and F-1 sludge with %20 addition114
Figure A.36 Result of co-combustion of coal and F-1 sludge with %30 addition114
Figure B. 1 Mass Loss Profiles of A-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 115
Figure B. 2 Sample Heating Rates of A-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 115
Figure B. 3 Reaction Rates of A-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 116
Figure B. 4 Mass Loss Profiles of B-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 116
Figure B. 5 Sample Heating Rates of B-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 117
Figure B. 6 Reaction Rates of B-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 117
Figure B. 7 Mass Loss Profiles of C-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 118
Figure B. 8 Sample Heating Rates of C-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 118
Figure B. 9 Reaction Rates of C-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 119
Figure B. 10 Mass Loss Profiles of D-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 119
Figure B. 11 Sample Heating Rates of D-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 120
Figure B. 12 Reaction Rates of D-1 Sample in TGA Experiments 120

Figure B. 13 Mass Loss Profiles of E1-1 Sample in TGA Experiments
Figure B. 14 Sample Heating Rates of E1-1 Sample in TGA Experiments
Figure B. 15 Reaction Rates of E1-1 Sample in TGA Experiments
Figure B. 16 Mass Loss Profiles of E2-1 Sample in TGA Experiments
Figure B. 17 Sample Heating Rates of E2-1 Sample in TGA Experiments
Figure B. 18 Reaction Rates of E2-1 Sample in TGA Experiments
Figure B. 19 Mass Loss Profiles of F-1 Sample in TGA Experiments
Figure B. 20 Sample Heating Rates of F-1 Sample in TGA Experiments
Figure B. 21 Reaction Rates of F-1 Sample in TGA Experiments125
Figure D.1 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 4 °C/min experiment129
Figure D.2 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 8 °C/min experiment129
Figure D.3 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 16 °C/min experiment130
Figure D.4 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 32 °C/min experiment130
Figure D.5 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 4 °C/min experiment131
Figure D.6 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 8 °C/min experiment131
Figure D.7 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 32 °C/min experiment132
Figure D.8 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 4 °C/min experiment132
Figure D.9 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 8 °C/min experiment133
Figure D.10 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 16 °C/min experiment.133
Figure D.11 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 32 °C/min experiment.134
Figure D.12 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 4 °C/min experiment134
Figure D.13 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 8 °C/min experiment135
Figure D.14 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 16 °C/min experiment. 135
Figure D.15 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 32 °C/min experiment. 136
Figure D.16 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 4 °C/min experiment.136
Figure D.17 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 8 °C/min experiment.137
Figure D.18 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 16 °C/min experiment137
Figure D.19 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 32 °C/min experiment138
Figure D.20 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 4 °C/min experiment.138
Figure D.21 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 8 °C/min experiment.139
Figure D.22 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 16 °C/min experiment139
Figure D.23 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 32 °C/min experiment140
Figure D.24 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 4 °C/min experiment 140
Figure D.25 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 8 °C/min experiment 141
Figure D.26 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 16 °C/min experiment.141

Figure D.27 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 32 °C/min experiment. 142 Figure D.28 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 4 °C/min experiment Figure D.29 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 8 °C/min experiment Figure D.30 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 16 °C/min experiment Figure D.31 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 32 °C/min experiment Figure D.32 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 4 °C/min experiment Figure D.33 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 8 °C/min experiment Figure D.34 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 32 °C/min experiment Figure D.35 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 4 °C/min experiment Figure D.36 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 8 °C/min experiment Figure D.37 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 32 °C/min experiment Figure D.38 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 4 °C/min experiment Figure D.39 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 8 °C/min experiment Figure D.40 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 16 °C/min experiment Figure D.41 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 32 °C/min experiment Figure D.42 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 4 °C/min experiment Figure D.43 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 8 °C/min experiment Figure D.44 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 16 °C/min experiment

Figure D.45 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 32 $^{\circ}$ C/min experiment
Figure D.46 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 4 °C/min experiment
Figure D.47 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 8 °C/min experiment
Figure D.48 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 16 °C/min experiment
Figure D.49 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 32 °C/min experiment
Figure D.50 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 4 °C/min experiment
Figure D.51 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 8 °C/min experiment
Figure D.52 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 16 °C/min experiment
Figure D.53 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 32 °C/min experiment

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Sewage sludge is a byproduct of wastewater treatment. It is mainly constituted of excess microorganisms that are produced during wastewater treatment as well as the pollutants in wastewater. As a semi solid mixture, water constitutes remaining fraction of sewage sludge. Water content of sewage sludge depends on treatment processes. For instance, dewatering is commonly used last step in sludge treatment process line. Therefore, sewage sludge leaves the system with typical moisture content of about 75%. Remaining is a mixture of organic and inorganic solids. Organic fraction of sewage sludge contains mostly carbon. Also, it contains nutrients like nitrogen and phosphorus in varying amounts. Other important feature of organic fraction of sewage sludge is that microorganisms, pathogens and trace organic pollutants such as PCBs (polychlorinated biphenyls), NPEs (nonylphenol ethoxylates) are present in sewage sludge. Inorganic fraction of sewage sludge includes constituents which are beneficial such as calcium, magnesium, iron, potassium and sodium as well as heavy metals such as cadmium, arsenic, chromium, copper, lead, mercury and so on.(Surampalli et al. 2009) Therefore, it can be said that uncontrolled disposal of sewage sludge to the environment causes risk on both nature and public health.

Traditionally, landfilling is the common method to dispose sewage sludge. However, due to limitations on available land and increasing quantities of sewage sludge production, this option is about to be abandoned. For instance, in Turkey, a person generates 40 gram sewage sludge on dry basis which yields approximately 3600 tons of sewage sludge per day. This makes a substantial amount of waste which should be handled.

Starting on 1980's landfilling of sewage sludge was started to be replaced by some beneficial use. Nutrient characteristics of sewage sludge is determined to be similar with industrial nutrients. As a result, use of sewage sludge as a fertilizer accepted as a potential replacement for landfilling. However, toxic characteristics of sewage sludge limits this option. Today, more stringent regulations are being applied as these toxic characteristics become clearer. Therefore, agricultural use of sewage sludge is determined to be an alternative for handling of sewage sludge while still a more sustainable solution is needed.

In 1990's use of sewage sludge in thermal processes became a topic of investigation since it offers a way of using the organic constituents (calorific value) of sludge by combustion processes. With this alternative, coal fired thermal power plants, cement production facilities, municipal solid waste incinerators became available for sewage sludge. In this option, heating content of sewage sludge is utilized to replace fuels in thermal processes (Werther and Ogada 1999). With these studies, it is determined that sewage sludge can substitute coal in such processes which results in both finding an alternative for management of sewage sludge and

reduced use of primary fuel. However, the studies are limited since this is a recent approach in sludge management. Therefore, more information is needed especially in linking the wastewater and sludge treatment processes with the combustion characteristics of sludge.

In this context, this study aims to define thermal characteristics sewage sludge from different wastewater treatment plants and to investigate the combustion efficiency of sludge as an alternative fuel. Samples are obtained from six different wastewater treatment plants three times in a year to observe the effects of wastewater and sludge treatment processes on thermal characteristics of sewage sludge. On these samples, proximate and ultimate analysis are conducted in order to define thermal characteristics of sewage sludge. Thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) is studied to reveal processes on combustion of sewage sludge by means of kinetic analysis. Also, elemental composition of sewage sludge ash is determined by XRF analysis. These samples are combusted in a lab-scale batch combustion reactor and the combustion efficiencies are investigated.

The structure of the thesis is as follows. Chapter 2 in the following section provides a brief literature review. Then the materials and methods used to reach the aim of the study are described in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 summarizes and discusses the results obtained and a brief conclusion is given in Chapter 5. Finally in Chapter 6 suggestions for future work are provided.

CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter consists of three major topics. First, general information regarding treatment, disposal and thermal processing of sewage sludge are reviewed. Then, use of sewage sludge in thermal processes are discussed. Brief information about historical development of chemical reaction kinetics and its application to thermal decomposition of materials are stated. Finally, studies in literature regarding thermal decomposition of sewage sludge are also discussed.

2.1. Sources and Treatment of Sewage Sludge

Sewage sludge is a by-product of wastewater treatment processes. While wastewater is subjected to physical, chemical and biological operations to achieve removal of constituents in wastewater such as settle able solids, organic forms of carbon, nitrogen, phosphorus, treated wastewater and sludge are formed. According to process which is applied to wastewater, formed sludge has different characteristics (Sanin, Clarkson, and Vesilind 2011).

2.1.1. Sources of Sewage Sludge

Physical operations which are applied in wastewater treatment includes sedimentation and filtration processes. In primary sedimentation process, settle able solid content of wastewater is concentrated by gravity. Therefore, a semi-solid by product, called primary sludge, is formed (Metcalf 2002).

Chemical operations mainly consists of series of process which are called as coagulation, flocculation and sedimentation. Chemical processes are applied to wastewater to achieve flocculants of various constituents such as heavy metals or phosphorus. Sludge which is produced during chemical treatment of wastewater includes coagulants and flocculants which are introduced, also the constituent which is aimed to be removed from wastewater (Metcalf 2002).

Biological operations are applied in order to treat organic carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus content of wastewater. The idea of biological wastewater treatment process is to achieve removal of constituents in wastewater by forming an activated sludge which is concentrated in a tank where wastewater is introduced. In this process, biomass of activated sludge is fed with wastewater; while microorganisms use carbon and nutrients in wastewater as source of energy for reproductive activities, treatment of wastewater is achieved. However, excessive biomass is produced in this process and it is removed from the system (Anthony and Howard 2004). This portion of biomass is called as secondary (biological, excess) sludge (Henze 2002).

2.1.2. Treatment of Sewage Sludge

The main purpose of sewage sludge treatment is to increase dry matter content and achieve biologically stabilized residue. In order to increase dry matter content of sewage sludge, thickening, dewatering and drying are applied. Sludge stabilization is achieved by anaerobic, aerobic or chemical processes (Hartenstein 1981).

Sludge thickening is a preliminary process of sewage sludge treatment which is either used for increasing the concentration of biological sludge removed from activated sludge process (Mixon 1981), or obtaining a denser primary sludge. Sludge thickening process benefits from the effect of gravity as well as flotation. As the volume of water in sludge is reduced by %50, up to 5% solids content sludge can be obtained (Katz and Geinopolos 1967).

Sludge stabilization is the following sludge treatment process which is applied to thickened sludge. Stabilization can be achieved by either biological or chemical process. Biological sludge stabilization is operated under anaerobic or aerobic conditions. Activity of microorganisms in stabilization unit is enhanced in biological sludge stabilization process, therefore microorganisms are allowed to use organic fraction of sludge as source of energy. As a result, used organic fraction is converted into gas and stabilized residue (Werther and Ogada 1999).

Anaerobic sewage sludge stabilization is a biological sludge stabilization process which is conducted in the absence of oxygen. Typically, there are four steps in biochemical conversion of organic matter which is occurred in anaerobic digestion. Hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis are steps which are aimed to be achieved in anaerobic sludge stabilization process. Organic portion of sewage sludge is converted into methane, carbon dioxide and hydrogen sulphide; as well as solid residue which is removed from the system as effluent of the process. Remaining sludge residue is called as anaerobically stabilized sludge which has low pathogen content and relatively low biological activity (Appels et al. 2008).

Aerobic sewage sludge stabilization is another biological sludge stabilization process in which speeding up the endogenous respiration of microorganisms under the presence of oxygen is achieved. Organic fraction of sludge is oxidized to carbon dioxide and water and nitrification can also occur. Complex forms of organic matter contained in sewage sludge is oxidized to biologically stable products, therefore, structure of sludge after aerobic stabilization is shifted into simpler, more stable form (Turovskiy and Mathai 2006).

Cannibal sludge stabilization is a patented process that uses specialized microorganisms which have enormous biological activity. Excess biological activated sludge is directed into cannibal process tank. Therefore, similar to biological wastewater treatment process, cannibal microorganisms are actually fed with excess sludge. With minimal oxygen supply, this process achieves high solids removal efficiency. It is operated in a continuously mixed tank and effluent is discharged into biological wastewater treatment process, therefore, a solid separation unit is used to eliminate solids build-up in wastewater treatment unit (Siemens 2008).

Lime stabilization is a chemical stabilization process which involves the addition of quick lime (CaO) to sludge until pH reaches 12. Lime stabilization process can be applied to thickened and dewatered sludge in different processes (Christensen 1987). Increasing pH to 12 reduces pathogenic activity, prevents odor formation by enhancing reactions between calcium and sulfur and forms precipitates of heavy metals. Therefore, stabilized residue is formed ("Uses of Lime Biosolids and Sludge" 2013).

Sludge dewatering is applied after one of the sludge stabilization processes. The aim of dewatering is to reduce water content of sludge which yields lower transportation cost and reduces produced sludge mass. It is also applied to increase the mass loadings to sludge drying process, since it is easier to dry sludge which has lower moisture content. Stabilized sewage sludge which has %1-4 dry solids is transformed into a material which is called as 'cake' having %20-30 dry solids by dewatering. Pressure, vacuum or centrifugal forces are used in sludge dewatering process (Porteous). Decanters (High 1988), belt filters and vacuum filters are used as mechanical devices for dewatering process (Werther and Ogada 1999).

Sludge drying is the last step in sewage sludge treatment. It is used to achieve further volume reduction of sewage sludge, to obtain biologically stable material which allows for easier transportation or handling and to make sewage sludge usable in thermal process (Werther and Ogada 1999) which requires fully dried material such as thermal power plants or cement kiln (Stasta et al. 2006). Solar energy as well as thermal energy from combustion processes are used for sewage sludge drying. Use of solar energy is carried by spreading dewatered sewage sludge to a controlled land where high solar energy is available. Thermal drying of sewage sludge consists of two different mechanisms; direct drying is a high rate operation where high temperatures are reached. Indirect drying is achieved by countercurrent introduction of low temperature air to sewage sludge which is sprayed in a filter medium to obtain a thin film. Regardless, both methods of thermal drying enables sewage sludge having more than %90 dry solids content (G. Chen, Yue, and Mujumdar 2002).

2.2. Disposal and Beneficial Use of Sewage Sludge

Even though sludge goes through a treatment during which its unpleasant characteristics is amended and its volume is reduced significantly; at the end of treatment there is still a high quantity of material left behind. This part of sludge management is challenging since there are not so many options.

After treatment of sewage sludge, most typical application is to send to landfilling. It is the simplest operation which offers to handle sludge with least amount of cost. On the other hand, huge quantities of sludge could become a limiting factor where land is scarce. Therefore, in order to achieve sustainable sewage sludge management, alternatives to landfilling of sewage sludge have been used. Composting, agricultural usage and thermal treatment of sewage sludge are the most frequently used sewage sludge management alternatives.

Figure 2.1 shows that in 1985 landfilling consists the most widely applied sewage sludge disposal method in Europe. However, it has gradually been replaced by use of sewage sludge in thermal processes when it is realized that landfilling is out of option. It can be seen in Figure

2.2 that in 2004, application of landfilling is reduced significantly in developed countries of Europe.

Although landfilling of sewage sludge is aimed to be limited, it still constitutes the dominant management method in developing countries due to its low cost. However, trend is to apply more strict regulations to reduce the application of landfilling (H. Wang et al. 2008).



Figure 2.1 Projections for sewage sludge management in Europe (Werther and Ogada 1999)



Figure 2.2 Sewage sludge disposal and beneficial use in Europe in 2004 (Stehlík 2009)

Sewage sludge have been considered as a candidate for replacement of industrial fertilizer due to its nutrient content (Fytili and Zabaniotou 2008). With sewage sludge usage in agriculture,

energy need for production of industrial fertilizers could also be saved (Werther and Ogada 1999).

However, agricultural use of sewage sludge has been gradually restricted since it is regarded as risky due to the presence of pathogens, heavy metals and trace organic compounds in sludge (Manara and Zabaniotou 2012). Also, there are some technical difficulties of agricultural use of sewage sludge since sewage sludge is being produced continuously, while fertilizers are applied in certain periods of a year in agriculture. In addition, public opinion regarding sewage sludge is generally negative, therefore it brings a negative impact on agricultural use of sewage sludge (Fytili and Zabaniotou 2008). Summation of these factors yields that agricultural use may not be a sustainable solution for handling of sewage sludge.

Use of sewage sludge in thermal processes becomes an attractive solution since it enables both handling of sludge and substitution of primary fuels. Sewage sludge is an organic substance, in fact it has a calorific value close to brown coal in dry basis. Therefore, when it is dried, it is considered as a biomass, an alternative to primary fuels, to be used in thermal processes. Table 2.1 and 2.2 shows the calorific values of sewage sludge at different stages of treatment as well as its comparison with other common fuels, respectively.

Type of sludge	Heating value (MJ/Kg of DS)		
	Range	Typical	
Raw sludge	23–29	25.5	
Activated sludge	16-23	21	
Anaerobically digested primary sludge	9-13	11	
Raw chemically precipitated primary sludge	14-18	16	
Biological filter sludge	16-23	19.5	

Table 2.1 Heating value of various types of sewage sludge (Fytili and Zabaniotou 2008)

Table 2.2 Comparison of heating value of sewage sludge with other fuels/alternative fuels (Manara and Zabaniotou 2012)

Fuels	Heating value
Coal	14,600–26,700 kJ kg ⁻¹
Plastics, wood, paper, rags, garbage	17,600–20,000 kJ kg ⁻¹
Wood	16,000–20,000 kJ kg ⁻¹
Dry sewage sludge	12,000–20,000 kJ kg ⁻¹
Wet sewage sludge	1000–3000 kJ kg ⁻¹
Gas-oil	45,500 kJ kg ⁻¹
Black liquor	12,500–15,500 kJ kg ⁻¹
Natural gas	38,000 kJ kg ⁻³
Coke-oven gas	19,000–22,000 kJ kg ⁻³
Synthetic coal gas	10,800 kJ kg ⁻³
Blast-furnace gas	4400–5300 kJ kg ⁻³

Thermal processes in which sewage sludge could be used involves numerous applications. Mainly, it can be divided into three categories, mono combustion, co-combustion and alternative process. Availability of various types of thermal processes also enhances the applicability of this option. Figure 2.3 lists thermal processes in which sewage sludge could be used. Sewage sludge could be introduced to mono-incineration systems and co-combustion systems. Mono incineration systems that is suitable for sewage sludge includes multiple hearth furnaces, smelting furnaces. Co-combustion systems refer sewage sludge addition in thermal power plants which operates fluidized bed or pulverized coal combustion. Cement factories can use sewage sludge as an alternative fuel as well. Also, there are other thermal processes where sewage sludge is suitable such as, wet oxidation, pyrolysis, and gasification and so on.



Figure 2.3 Processes which are available for thermal treatment of sewage sludge (Werther and Ogada 1999)

The fact that many thermal processes which can be used for sewage sludge management attracts attention to investigate the applicability of these processes on sewage sludge. Therefore, case studies regarding the use of sewage sludge in thermal processes are discussed in the following section.

2.3. Studies on Thermal Processing of Sewage Sludge

Literature regarding analysis of sewage sludge in combustion reactors involves investigation of partitioning of heavy metals, fate of PCDD/F's or monitoring of combustion gases, i.e. sulfur and nitrogen oxides. Studies on laboratory scale or pilot scale reactors, as well as industrial applications are reported for investigation of pyrolysis, gasification and combustion of sewage sludge. Laboratory and pilot scale combustion reactors are mainly consists of various types of fluidized bed reactors and drop tube furnaces. Cement factories, coal-fired power plants, municipal solid waste incinerators are common examples which are selected in investigation of use of sewage sludge in thermal processes.

2.3.1. Pyrolysis/Gasification of Sewage Sludge

Pyrolysis is the phenomena which defines solid substances' decomposition at temperatures around 300-350°C. Presence of heat affects molecular bonds of materials which are forced to break and generate smaller molecules which may then form even bigger molecules. Nevertheless, the effect of heat alone causes materials undergo a thermal decomposition which is called as the phenomena of pyrolysis (Moldoveanu 2009).

Gasification is the process of obtaining gaseous fuel from a solid fuel. Application of this process can benefit from the phenomena of pyrolysis, as well as partial oxidation. In order to achieve gaseous substances out of a solid carbonaceous type of material (coal, biomass, sewage sludge etc.) hot steam, steam/air or even oxygen could be introduced. The material is converted to H_2 , CO and CH₄ (Higman and Burgt 2008).

Investigation of sewage sludge pyrolysis mainly involves characterization of gaseous products. In the study which is conducted by Ishica et al. (2011), end products of co-pyrolysis of sewage sludge and clay mixtures. Effect of clay presence, mainly composed of a silica and aluminum oxide, is investigated by a lab scale, electrically heated furnace. Batches of dried sewage sludge and clay mixtures are subjected into furnace under the presence of nitrogen. CO, H₂ and CH₄ gases are continuously monitored by gas chromatography. As a result, it is reported that presence of clay reduces occurrence of CH₄ and CO while enhances H₂ formation (Ischia et al. 2011).

Characteristics of char which is obtained from gasification/pyrolysis process is studied in literature. A study conducted by Chun et al. (2011) investigates surface area, average pore diameter and average pore volume of char which is produced by pyrolysis of sewage sludge in a process called as combined screw/rotary kiln gasifier which is shown in Figure 2.4. In this complex process, produced hot steam is counter currently subjected to dried sewage sludge. End products of the process, gaseous products and char is sampled through gas outlet and char outlet, respectively. Analysis of gases which consists of H₂, CH₄, CO, CO₂ are conducted by a gas chromatograph. Tests on char consists of specific surface area determination, scanning electron microscopy (SEM) analysis of pores, energy dispersive X-Ray spectroscopy for chemical composition.



Figure 2.4 Schematic drawing of the process which is used for pyrolysis of sewage sludge sample (Chun, Kim, and Yoshikawa 2011)

Chemical composition analysis reveals that char consists large amount of carbon and oxygen, which contribute 95% of total mass. Remaining is inert alkalis and earth alkalines. Due to its carbon content, produced char shows adsorbent behavior with specific surface area and pore characteristics close to industrial activated carbon. It is also reported that composition of produced gases is associated with process variables, steam flow rate, operating temperature, moisture content of dried sewage sludge. However, under steady state conditions pyrolysis gas which has calorific value approximately 10000 kj/Nm³ is produced.

While pyrolysis/gasification of sewage sludge is a promising technology which provides both valuable gaseous fuel and activated char, it involves some problems. Formation of NO_x precursors is a topic of investigation.

Since pyrolysis/gasification are typically carried in an inert atmosphere, nitrogen content of sewage sludge is not oxidized; it is converted to gaseous form as HCN and NH_3 which can be further oxidized to NO_x when they are emitted to atmosphere. Also, some portion of nitrogen could be gasified as N_2 . Remaining nitrogen is contained in tar and char. Figure 2.5 shows forms of nitrogen contained in sludge as a result of sewage sludge pyrolysis (H. Chen, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2011).



Figure 2.5 Partitioning of nitrogen in sewage sludge pyrolysis(H. Chen, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2011)

It is presented by Tian et al. (2002) that ratio of HCN and NH₃ formation is depended on temperature, at lower temperatures (around 400-500 °C), NH₃ is favored, on the other hand temperatures more than 700°C is enough is to break bonds of amino acids in sewage sludge which increases HCN formation (F.-J. Tian et al. 2002).

Since organic part of sewage sludge is mainly consisted of volatile matter (Thipkhunthod et al. 2006), HCN represents 80% of gaseous forms of nitrogen which is contained in sewage sludge. Another important gaseous forms of nitrogen is NH₃. The process of formation of NH₃ is reported to be reactions between nitrogen and hydrogen at elevated temperatures and release of amino acids in lower temperatures.

However, gasification of sewage sludge is reported to be carried at high temperatures to promote the production of H_2 . Operating temperature should be higher than 800C° to increase reactivity of sewage sludge, which is lower than that of other alternative fuels such as paper, food wastes and plastics (Nipattummakul et al. 2010). One option could be co-gasification of sewage sludge with biomasses. It is reported that co-gasification of sewage sludge with wood chips, where ratio of sewage sludge in mixture is less than 50%, does not have a negative impact on syngas yield (Seggiani et al. 2012).

Another negative impact of sewage sludge pyrolysis is formation of tars. Tars, which are defined as organic compounds in evolved gases which have higher molecular weight than benzene (Mun, Kang, and Kim 2009). These organic materials cause severe impact on process equipment once they condenses. Therefore, minimization of tar formation is essential (Milne, Abatzoglou, and Evans 1998). Studies on minimization of tars by adjustment of operating conditions reveals that changing air supply on gasification process does have little impact on amount of tar produced (Phuphuakrat et al. 2010). Therefore, applicability of various adsorbents which can be installed as flue gas cleaners are studied. It is reported that venturi scrubbers and adsorbents made by sawdust efficiently remove tars made of light PAHs and phenols (Phuphuakrat et al. 2010). Also, waste oil is reported to be a good candidate for the removal of tar compounds which contains nitrogen (H. Chen, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2011). Activated carbon is used for tar removal in which 90% tar removal could be achieved (Mun, Kang, and Kim 2009).

2.3.2. Combustion of Sewage Sludge

Basically, combustion is accepted as the oxidation process between a fuel and an oxidant in a controlled medium which results in heat release (Borghi and Destriau 1998). Fuels are defined as materials which produce heat when they react with an oxidant. Traditionally, non-renewable carbon based fossil materials are accepted as primary fuels and biomass other renewable materials are classified as alternative fuels (McAllister, Chen, and Fernandez-Pello 2011). Therefore, due to its organic content, sewage sludge could be classified as an alternative fuel and it could be used in combustion processes (Werther and Ogada 1999). Studies regarding sewage sludge combustion are published to investigate the effects of sewage sludge on combustion efficiency, ash characteristics, heavy metal partitioning and some other aspects of combustion.

Cement factories offer an option for sewage sludge utilization as an alternative fuel. A review conducted by Uson et al. (2013) states that along with other wastes and biomasses (municipal solid waste, meat and bone animal meal, end-of-life tires) sewage sludge could be used to replace primary fuels in cement production process. Especially, using alternative fuels, as well as sewage sludge in pre-calciner does not affect the quality of cement and performance of the combustion process. It is also reported that using alternative fuels at the main burner (in the rotary kiln) may bring some disturbances in flame characteristics due to high volatile content of such fuels. In case of sewage sludge, limitations occur when potassium and chlorine content is high. On the other hand, adsorbent capacity of cement raw material have an impact that heavy metal emission and PCDD/F emissions which result in sewage sludge combustion is low. Therefore, these advantages also favors sewage sludge use in cement factories, for both replacement of primary fuels and to sustain a clean, environmental friendly sludge management option (Aranda Usón et al. 2013).

Besides cement factories, there are full scale applications in coal fired thermal power plants. In Poland, such an application is investigated (Stelmach and Wasielewski 2008). As sewage sludge is substituted to coal as 1% by weight for 18 hours of operation, process variables are measured. Temperature distribution of combustion chamber, power output, heat losses and gaseous emissions are controlled. It is determined that substitution of coal with sewage sludge reduces boiler efficiency, temperature of combustion chamber and the thermal power output only by a slight amount. Heat losses are reported as a minor increase. While CO, NO_x, SO₂ HCl and HF are determined be relatively stable, sharp increase in TOC emission is observed. Therefore, it is concluded that use of sewage sludge in a coal fired thermal power as alternative fuel by an amount of 1% by weight does not upset the efficiency of combustion process and the efficiency of boiler during 18 hours of operation. Emissions apart from TOC are not harmfully affected either.

Emission profile of sewage sludge combustion is further investigated by Deng et al. N_2O , HCN, HCl, NO_x , SO_2 and some hydrocarbons such as methane, hexane, propane, benzene, and cyclohexane are measured as sewage sludge, coal and various sewage sludge coal mixtures are combusted. A lab scale, electrically heated fluidized bed reactor is used. It is observed that gaseous emissions; N_2O , HCN, HCl, SO_2 are increased sharply when sewage sludge is mixed with coal with a ratio of 1:1 by weight on dry basis. NO, CO, NO_2 , NH_3 and HF are not affected. On the other hand, when sewage sludge is used alone, nearly all of concentration of gaseous products are doubled, including organic compounds. It is also reported that addition of CaO has a retarding effect on formation of these pollutants (Deng et al. 2009).

Sewage sludge combustion is investigated in lab scale drop tube furnace by Kim & Lee. Sewage sludge samples and a coal sample which is used in a full scale thermal power plant are studied. Continuous feeding is operated to achieve residence time as 1 second. For temperatures ranging from 1100°C to 1400°C combustion efficiency is measured. It is reported that at 1400°C, both sewage sludge and coal yield the same efficiency. However, as temperature decreases yield of sewage sludge combustion decreases significantly when compared to coal sample (J. Kim and Lee 2010). Same trend is observed when temperatures kept constant but residence time is changed. While yields obtained in sewage sludge combustion are sensitive to change in residence time, yields with coal are not. Residence time lower than 0.8 second lowers yields dramatically. The reason for this observation is stated as higher temperature range of sewage sludge devolatilization.

An alternative approach could be the combustion of sewage sludge in a pressurized medium, so that energy which is stored in gaseous products of combustion could be used in a turbine. This kind of turbine is already available in automobile industry called turbocharger, which uses hot exhaust gases to produce power. Therefore, Murakami et al. (2009) proposes a process for an alternative to a conventional incineration plant in Japan which uses this technology. A pilot scale pressurized fluidized bed combustion reactor is built and a turbocharger with various supplementary units are installed. Results of sewage sludge combustion in a pressurized medium are better combustion efficiency and obtaining energy carrying exhaust gases which is converted to electricity in turbocharger. It is reported that steady state operations of sewage sludge combustion for electricity production in turbocharger is achieved. It is proposed that converting existed version of incinerator to new technology could save 25% of supplementary fuel need. Also, extra 50% energy which older incinerator required could be saved since these units are not used in proposed process. In addition, it is reported that average CO, NO_x and N₂O emissions of proposed technology are lower than older incinerator (Murakami et al. 2009). However, corrosive nature of fly ash which is produced in sewage sludge combustion is not mentioned.

In fact, formation of chlorine compounds becomes a subject of study which simulates combustion and gasification of sewage sludge in a pressurized medium. Potential forms of chlorine are calculated using *FactSage* chemical equilibrium software. Composition of sewage sludge and process conditions which represent combustion and gasification are determined. It is reported that HCl is the form of chlorine when sewage sludge is combusted at temperatures 800-1400°K. Increasing oxygen concentration by applying more excess air results conversion of HCl to KCl. For gasification process, pressure and air excess (gasification gas i.e. H₂O) decreases formation of HCl (Wei, Schnell, and Hein 2005). It is a fact that chlorine and alkali compounds can promote corrosion which occurs in high temperature surfaces such as heat exchangers (Spliethoff 2010).

2.3.3. Characteristics of Ash Produced in Combustion of Sewage Sludge

It is known that alkali and earth alkaline compounds in biomass such as sewage sludge affects behavior of ash which is derived. Formation of deposits on surfaces like heat exchangers can occur when biomass is used extensively. Low fusion and melting temperatures of biomass ash is the reason of formation of deposits on various surfaces of a combustion unit, a phenomena called as *slagging* and *fouling* (Spliethoff 2010).

To quantify the relationship between ash composition of materials and their slagging/fouling tendency, such indices are used (Table 2.3). Basically, these indices depend on the ratio of alkalis and sulfur in ash composition.

Classification	Index	Formula		
<u></u>		$Fe_2O_3 +$	CaO + MgO	$+ K_2 0 + N a_2 0$
Slagging	Base-to-Acid Ratio (B/A)	$\frac{1}{SiO_2 + TiO_2 + Al_2O_3}$		
	Iron to Calcium Ratio (I/C)	$\frac{Fe_2O_3}{CaO}$		
	Sulfur Ratio (Rs)	$\left(\frac{B}{A}\right) xS(in \ dry \ fuel)$		
Fouling	Total Alkalis (TA)	$Na_2O + K_2O$		
	Na2O Ratio (Rf)		$\left(\frac{B}{A}\right)xNa_2$	20
Fouling Ratio (Fu) $\left(\frac{B}{A}\right) x N a$		$\left(\frac{B}{A}\right)xNa_2O$ +	<i>K</i> 20	
Classification	Index	Tendency		
Classification	muex	Low	Medium	High
Slagging	Base-to-Acid Ratio (B/A)	<0.5	0.5 <b a<1<="" td=""><td>>1</td>	>1
	Iron to Calcium Ratio (I/C)	<0.31 or >3	<10.3 <i c<3<="" td=""><td>≠1</td></i>	≠1
	Sulfur Ratio (Rs)	<0.6	0.6 <rs<2< td=""><td>>2</td></rs<2<>	>2
Fouling	Total Alkalis (TA)	< 0.3	0.3 <ta<0.4< td=""><td>>0.4</td></ta<0.4<>	>0.4
	Na2O Ratio (Rf)	< 0.2	0.2 <rf<0.5< td=""><td>< 0.5</td></rf<0.5<>	< 0.5
	Fouling Ratio (Fu)	≤0.6	-	0.6 <fu≤40< td=""></fu≤40<>

Table 2.3 Empirical relations for slagging and fouling tendency of ash composition (S.-W.
Park and Jang 2011a)

There are also equations which account for phosphorus. Since phosphorus is not involved in coal or any carbon based primary fuel, it is not inserted in original equations. However, to be able to quantify ash characteristics of biomass, it is added. Therefore, above equations have the following form;

Base-to-Acid Ratio:
$$B/A = \frac{Fe_2O_3 + CaO + MgO + K_2O + Na_2O + P_2O_5}{Al_2O_3 + SiO_2 + TiO_2}$$

Na₂O ratio (Rf), Fouling index (Fu), Sulfur ratio (Rs) are all dependent on B/A ratio. Therefore, calculation of these indexed are corrected according to new B/A.

A modelling study which uses chemical equilibrium tool for determining effects of sewage sludge-coal co combustion on slagging/fouling indices of generated ash reveals that addition of sewage sludge to coal at %15 results in severe slagging. High ash ratio of sewage sludge and composition of sewage sludge ash are stated as reasons (Plaza et al. 2009).

Experimental studies which are conducted on the composition of sewage sludge ash reveals that wastewater treatment and sludge treatment process have a high impact. A study which is conducted on two different sewage sludge sample which are originated from different plants

where chemical phosphorus removal reports that chemical agent for phosphorus precipitation plays significant role in slagging/fouling index of sewage sludge ash. Use of $(Al(SO_4))_3$ or $(Fe_2(SO_4))_3$ differentiates the content of Al and Fe in ash composition (L. Wang et al. 2012).

Another aspects of sewage sludge ash is its ecotoxicological properties that is, the presence of heavy metals, PAHs, PCDD/Fs in ash, partitioning of such pollutants between bottom and fly ash.

Deng et al. (2009) studies the effect of sewage sludge addition to coal combustion by means of change in exotoxicological characteristics of ash. It is observed that in case where sewage sludge and coal mixed prior to combustion, concentration of PAHs and PCDD/Fs are increased. Both on flue gas and fly ash, PAH concentration which is originated from sewage sludge combustion is 4 to 10 times higher than the ones originating from coal combustion. PAH's from mixture of sewage sludge – coal combustion lies somewhere between those values. However, it is concluded that sewage sludge addition to coal combustion up to 1:1 ratio increases the formation of PAHs, PCDD/Fs (Deng et al. 2009).

Heavy metal distribution between bottom and fly ash are reported to be in favor of fly ash. In a study conducted by Lapa et al. (2007) sewage sludge is mono-combusted in a pilot scale fluidized bed reactor where bottom ash and fly ashes from two cyclones are collected. As it is shown in Table 2.4, it is observed that heavy metal concentrations in latter cyclone ash is much higher than that of first cyclone and bottom.

Parameter	Bottom ash (A1) (mg/kg dm)	First cyclone ash (A2) (mg/kg dm)	Second cyclone ash (A3) (mg/kg dm)
As	<0.75	2.6	9.5
Cd	<7.5	11.4	28.5
Cr	134	435	719
Cu	450	799	1396
Hg	4.2	3.0	5.1
Ni	48.5	168	291
Pb	372	596	1115
Zn	1208	2340	13,245
Fe	11,131	9591	36,433
Al	20,976	33,051	57,462

Table 2.4 Partitioning of heavy metals during sewage sludge combustion(Lapa et al. 2007)

On the other hand, eluates of these ashes show that heavy metals contained in sewage sludge ash are trapped in the matrix. Similarly, lower toxic effects of ash eluates on selected indicator organisms are observed (Lapa et al. 2007). Same research group published another paper using same sewage sludge sample, same reactor but with a different rank of coal. Consequently, same results are obtained (Barbosa et al. 2009).

Mercury emissions are investigated in detail by Duan et al. (2010). In a pilot scale circulating fluidized bed reactor, formation, partitioning and control of mercury emissions are studied. Sample of investigation are selected as sewage sludge - coal mixture which are mixed by a ratio of 1:9. Partitioning of Hg between bottom ash, fly ash and flue gas as well as effect of calcium sorbents, excess air coefficient, SO₂ and NO_x on Hg concentrations are investigated. It is concluded that, due to high vaporization rate of Hg, more than 95% of total Hg is released to flue gas. Also, amount of Hg retains in fly ash is much higher than that of bottom ash. Form of Hg in flue gas is mainly Hg⁰, because Cl content of both sewage sludge and coal is very low. Therefore, oxidation of Hg⁰ to Hg⁺² are not enhanced. Addition of calcium based adsorbents, CaO and CaCO₃ show some adsorption effect while CaO performs better. Increase in excess air also affects Hg adsorption in fly ash by changing combustion efficiency. Lowered combustion efficiency yields more unburnt carbon in fly ash. Consequently more unburnt carbon adsorbs Hg. SO₂ and NO_x increases formation of Hg⁺² in flue gas by reacting with Hg⁰. However, they do not have an effect on the concentration Hg in fly ash (Duan et al. 2010).

Studies on sewage sludge ash chemistry are expanded to recover phosphorus. Pettersson et al. (2008) published series of papers regarding leaching of heavy metal during phosphorus extraction from sewage sludge ash. Co-combustion of wood and sewage sludge in a 12MW circulating fluidized bed combustion is operated. Two sewage sludge samples are studied which originate from two different wastewater treatment plants. Both treatment plants use chemical precipitation for phosphorus removal. However, ferric sulphate and aluminum sulphate are used in these treatment plant separately. In operation three cases are applied; in first one limestone is subjected into combustion chamber in addition to sewage sludge - wood mixtures, in second case, hydrated lime is applied to bag filter to change ash composition and reduce HCl and SO₂. No lime is used in third case. As a result of operation, bottom ash, bag filter ash and secondary cyclone ash are obtained. Phosphorus extraction operation consists of reducing pH of collected ash samples to 0.5 - 2.5 by adding aluminum/ferric sulphate. It is observed that major part of phosphorus is concentrated on fly ash. Extraction process is applied efficiently where aluminum sulfate is used for both extraction agent and phosphorus removal in wastewater treatment plant. It is reported that 75-95% extraction of phosphorus from fly ash is achieved. In addition, it is concluded that application of limestone or hydrated lime for SO_2 capture does not positively or negatively affect phosphorus yield (Pettersson, Åmand, and Steenari 2008b).

Release of heavy metals during phosphorus extraction is investigated as the second part of the previous study (Pettersson, Åmand, and Steenari 2008a). It is reported that heavy metals apart from aluminum and cadmium are contained in the ash matrix, thus release of heavy metals to leachate is not observed. On the other hand, cadmium levels found in extracts are comparable to raw phosphorus rocks in various parts of the world. Aluminum levels are high since aluminum sulfate is used as extraction agent, however it is proposed that pH would be increased to form insoluble aluminum hydroxide. Therefore, it is concluded that phosphorus in ash which occurs by combustion of sewage sludge could be extracted in a leachate which shows similar characteristics with phosphorus mineral found in nature. The efficiency of extraction could be increased by using aluminum sulfate both as chemical precipitation agent of phosphorus in wastewater treatment plants and extraction agent of ash.
2.4. Kinetics of Sewage Sludge Combustion

2.4.1. Temperature Dependence of Chemical Reactions

Studies to define the behavior of solids under elevated temperatures are based on an application of transition state theory. Although transition state theory was developed for basic reactions which occurs in gaseous state (A. K. Galwey 2008), at the beginning of the second half of twentieth century, it started to be used for explaining the rate of decomposition of solids in thermal analysis. General expression which is used to define the temperature dependence of rate of decomposition of solids was stated as follows;

$$\frac{d\alpha}{dt} = k(T)f(\alpha)$$
 Eq. 2.1.

k(T): temperature dependence of rate of reaction (s⁻¹); $f(\alpha)$: reaction model;

With these statement, rate of thermal decomposition of solids are assumed to be a function of temperature and progress of decomposition.

Temperature dependence of any chemical reaction is a subject where first studies were published 150 years ago. Amongst series of empirical approaches, Arrhenius Equation is accepted as the most widely used statement due to its simplicity and accuracy (Laidler 1984).

$$k(T) = Ae^{-E/RT}$$
 Eq.2.2.

A: Frequency factor (s⁻¹); E: Activation energy (j/mole); R: Ideal Gas Constant (j/mole/K); T: Temperature (K);

 $f(\alpha)$ is used to define the kinetic model of thermal decomposition. Apart from other branches of chemistry, in the field of thermal analysis, reaction models represent the effect of progression of reactions to rate of reaction. Progress of reaction can either accelerate or decelerate the rate of reaction. Therefore, reaction models represent only this effect, rather than pathways or intermediate steps which occurs (Andrew K. Galwey 2004). Table 2.5 shows a number of different reaction models that are commonly used in the field of thermal analysis.

-		
Model	Differential form $f(\alpha) = \frac{1}{k} \frac{d\alpha}{dt}$	Integral form $g(\alpha) = kt$
Nucleation models		
Power law (P2)	$2 \alpha^{(1/2)}$	$\alpha^{(1/2)}$
Power law (P3)	$3 \alpha^{(2/3)}$	$\alpha^{(1/3)}$
Power law (P4)	$4 \alpha^{(3/4)}$	$\alpha^{(1/4)}$
Avarami-Erofe'ev (A2)	$2(1-\alpha)[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{1/2}$	$[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{1/2}$
Avarami-Erofe'ev (A3)	$3(1-\alpha)[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{2/3}$	$[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{1/3}$
Avarami-Erofe'ev (A4)	$4(1-\alpha)[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{3/4}$	$[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{1/4}$
Geometrical contraction models		
Contracting area (R2)	$2(1-\alpha)^{1/2}$	$[1-(1-\alpha)^{1/2}]$
Contracting volume (R3)	$3(1-\alpha)^{2/3}$	$[1-(1-\alpha)^{1/3}]$
Diffusion models		
1D Diffusion (D1)	$1/2\alpha$	α^2
2D Diffusion (D2)	$[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{-1}$	$[(1-\alpha)\ln(1-\alpha)] + \alpha$
3D Diffusion-Jander Eq. (D3)	$3(1-\alpha)^{2/3}/2(1-(1-\alpha)^{1/3})$	$[1-(1-\alpha)^{1/3}]^2$
Ginstling-Brounshtein (D4)	$(3/2((1-\alpha)^{-1/3}-1)$	$1 - (2\alpha/3) - (1 - \alpha)^{2/3}$
Reaction-order models		
Zero-order (F0/R1)	1	α
First-order (F1)	$(1-\alpha)$	$-\ln(1-\alpha)$
Second-order (F2)	$(1-\alpha)^{2}$	$(1-\alpha)^{-1}-1$
Third-order (F3)	$(1 - \alpha)^3$	$0.5[(1-\alpha)^{-2}-1]$

Table 2.5 Some forms of reaction models used in thermal analysis (Khawam and Flanagan 2005b)

2.4.2. Kinetic Analysis of Thermal Decomposition of Solids

Earlier studies which uses the concept temperature dependence of chemical reaction for explaining rate of thermal decompositions of solids roots back from 1950's. In this earliest method, Kissinger uses the second derivative of Eq.2.1 to get relationship below (Kissinger 1956);

$$\frac{d(ln\frac{\beta}{T_{max}^2})}{d(\frac{1}{T_{max}})} = -\frac{E}{R}$$
 Eq. 2.3.

 β = heating rate, dT/dt (K/s);

In this method, it is possible to calculate the activation energy which corresponds to the maximum value of mass loss rate. However, this method is limited to the maximum mass loss rate point, therefore activation energy value is calculated for a single point in whole conversion range.

However, there are numerous studies in literature which proposes a method to define rate of thermal decomposition, mainly by calculating Activation energy and frequency factor to obtain rate constant. These methods utilizes an approximation of the integral which is shown as below;

$$\int_0^a \frac{da}{f(a)} = A \int_0^t e^{-E/RT} dt$$
 Eq. 2.4

$$\int_0^a \frac{da}{f(a)} = \frac{A}{B} \int_0^T e^{-E/RT} dT$$
 Eq. 2.5

Since in 1960's softwares which is aided by powerful computers were not available, above integral which has not an exact solution is approximated by Doyle (1961) as below;

$$\int_{0}^{a} \frac{da}{f(a)} = g(a) = \frac{ART^{2}}{EB} e^{-\frac{E}{RT}}$$
 Eq. 2.6.

After the derivation of approximation of temperature integral, many methods to define kinetic triplet (reaction model, activation energy and frequency factor) is presented. These methods can be divided into two groups according to their approach to Eq. 2.1 and 2.2 as "isoconversional" methods and "model fitting" methods (Brown, Maciejewski, and Vyazovkin 2000).

Model Fitting Methods

Claiming that it is possible to derive kinetic triplet, the method often referred to as "Coats and Redfern" arouse an attention in the field of thermal analysis in 1960's. This method utilizes Doyle's approximation in order to derive such a relationship;

$$ln\frac{g(a)}{T^2} = ln\left[\frac{AR}{BE}\left(1 - \frac{2R\overline{T}}{E}\right)\right] - \frac{E}{RT}$$
 (Coats and Redfern 1965) Eq. 2.7.

As it can be seen in Eq. 2.7, from a thermogravimetric data, kinetic triplet can be calculated. First, Integral form of reaction model is assumed, then using temperature data from experiment, a linear relationship can be constructed, yielding activation energy and frequency factor. Most satisfying relation is held for accepted assumption, and reaction model is determined (Coats and Redfern 1964).

However, studies have shown that (Ebrahimi-Kahrizsangi and Abbasi 2008) model fitting methods are incapable of distinguishing different assumptions on reaction models (Vyazovkin et al. 2011). They give unrealistic results for activation energy and frequency factor with coefficient of linearization close to unity (Khawam and Flanagan 2005a). Therefore model fitting methods should not be used for determining kinetic interpretation of thermal analysis data (Vyazovkin and Wight 1999).

Model Free Methods

In general, model free methods uses series of non-isothermal thermogravimetric data to utilize a linear relationship which is derived by an approximation of Eq. 2.5. According to the

numerical approximation used, form of linear relationship is changed. However, a general form could be stated such as (Vyazovkin et al. 2011);

$$\ln\left(\frac{B}{T^{x}}\right) = Cons - y(\frac{E}{RT})$$
 Eq. 2.8.

All of model free methods end up with different values for x and y according to approximation used for numerical integration of temperature integral (Eq. 2.5).

One of the most commonly applied model free method is called as "Ozawa-Flynn-Wall" method. It uses Doyle's approximation of integral equation in Eq. 2.5 for obtaining such a relationship that;

$$\ln(B) = -0.457 \frac{E}{RT} + Constant$$
 Eq. 2.9.

Values taken from 3 or more experiment with different heating rates which corresponds to same conversion point should give a straight line which is used to calculate activation energy (Standardization 2005).

Another method which is named by its founders, "Kissinger-Akahira-Sunrose" uses linear relationship between heating rate and temperature for selected values of conversion.

$$\ln(B/T^2) = \ln(\frac{AR}{E}) - \frac{E}{RT}$$
 Eq. 2.10.

It can be seen that the approximation used in Kissinger-Akahira-Sunrose is actually Doyle's approximation which is carried one step further from Ozawa-Flynn-Wall method.

Burnham, converts the relationship which is used in Coats-Redfern model fitting to obtain an isoconversional method resulting (Burnham and Braun 1999);

$$\ln\left(\frac{B}{T^2\left(1-2R\frac{T}{E}\right)}\right) = -\frac{E}{RT} + \ln\left(-\frac{AR}{E\ln(1-a)}\right)$$
Eq. 2.11.

In order to calculate activation energy, first an initial value is assumed to derive the left hand side of the equation. Activation energy could be found after initiating iterative procedure.

Friedman method proposes an isoconversional method which requires no approximation of the integral equation. Natural logarithm of the differential form of the rate equation

$$\ln\left(\frac{da}{dt}\right) = \ln A + \ln f(a) - E/RT$$
 Eq. 2.12.

implies that series of T vs. ln(da/dt) should give a straight line which can be used to calculate activation energy (Friedman 1964).

Freeman and Carroll defined a method which is also called as Arrhenius method. Unlike isoconversional methods, one heating rate is sufficient to determine activation energy. General expression is converted to;

$$\frac{-E/R\Delta(\frac{1}{T})}{\Delta\ln(1-a)} = \frac{\Delta\ln(-\frac{d(1-a)}{dt})}{\Delta\ln(1-a)} - (1-a)$$
Eq. 2.13.

And it is derived that $\frac{\Delta(\frac{1}{T})}{\Delta\log(1-a)} vs \frac{\Delta\log(-\frac{d(1-a)}{dt})}{\Delta\log(1-a)}$ should give a straight line with the slope of – E/2.3R (Freeman and Carroll 1958).

Advanced Methods in Kinetic Analysis

Distributed Activation Energy Model (DAEM) is an alternative approach which is used to define thermal decomposition kinetics (Primak 1955). Unlike model fitting or isoconversional methods, in this model, number of candidate reactions are found according to peaks observed in DTG profile. Then, activation energies which correspond to peaks are determined. Distribution of activation energy from peak value is assumed to have a certain statistical profile; Gaussian distribution is the most commonly used type. Then, using distribution of activation energies, frequency factor and form of reaction mechanism can be determined. The strength of this method is that it is possible to determine the amount and sequence of reactions which occur in an experiment.

Non-parametric kinetics (NPK) method uses a simple technique from Applied Mathematics field. *Singular Value Decomposition* is used to divide a vector into its components. Since it is accepted in thermal analysis that reaction rate profile is a vector which is a multiplication of functions of conversion and temperature, it can be used to differentiate reaction rate needless to do any predictions (Sempere et al. 2002). Non-isothermal experiments having different heating rates is proposed to be sufficient for determining kinetic triplet over a region of conversion (Ruiz-Femenia and Caballero 2011).

2.5. Studies on Thermal Analysis of Sewage Sludge

Earliest studies on thermal analysis of sewage sludge began in 1980's. With differential scanning calorimetry (DSC), thermogravimetric analysis (TGA) is used as main tool in thermal analysis of sewage sludge. As more sophisticated instruments become available, TGA were used in conjunction with mass spectroscopy (MS) and/or Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR). The fundamental aim of thermal analysis which has been conducted for sewage sludge is generally limited to calculation of activation energy since the field of thermal analysis is not fully established for explaining rate of complex reactions which occurs in unknown mixtures, like sewage sludge. However, some studies tries to give insights regarding reaction kinetics of thermal decomposition of sewage sludge.

Urban and Antal published one of the earliest studies which considers sewage sludge as a candidate alternative energy source. In this perspective, thermal characteristics of sewage sludge is tried to be defined by using thermogravimetry and differential scanning calorimetry.

Using Friedman method, two zones were defined in which activation energy differs significantly. It is found that, as thermal conversion reaction continues, activation energy of unstabilized sewage sludge is raised from 120 kj/mole to 240 kj/mole (David L. Urban, Michael J. Antal 1982).

Another study which uses a differential method similar to Friedman as the method of calculation of activation energy determines a profile of activation energy throughout thermal conversion of sewage sludge. Pyrolysis is simulated in TGA by selecting carrier gas as nitrogen. According to the method of kinetic analysis, four experiments having different heating rates, 5, 10, 15, 20 °C/min are conducted. Although it is concluded that activation energy of sewage sludge sample has a characteristic profile which is initially around 300kj/mole then a reduction to 200 kj/mole and goes up to 500 kj/mole, no other study regarding remaining kinetic triplet is presented. However, it is reported that CO₂, CO and CH₄ are main products of sewage sludge pyrolysis which consists of 70% of total gas produced (Othman et al. 2010).

Differential method of Friedman is used by Wu et al. (2006) with some derivations. An additional relation to Friedman method is presented to obtain frequency factor and order of reaction. It is assumed that if reaction follows reaction order mechanism, the relationship;

$$ln\left[\frac{da/_{dt}}{e^{(-E(a)/RT)}}\right] = lnA(a) + n(a)ln(1-a)$$
 Eq. 2.14.

Should give a straight line for correct n. However, since it is assumed that form of reaction model follows reaction order mechanism, it is failed to determine realistic results of frequency factor and order of reaction. Therefore, it is concluded that the material of the study, oil sludge has a complex behavior and it cannot be explained by simple reaction mechanisms.

Zhai et al. (2011) uses Arrhenius method to conduct kinetic analysis. Assuming reaction order mechanism, activation energy, frequency factor and order of reactions are calculated for volatile decomposition range of sewage sludge samples. Non-realistic reaction order values are accompanied by changing activation energy and frequency factor values which all contradicts with fundamental assumption of thermal analysis, kinetic triplet should not deviate with heating rate of samples. It has been reported that with the help of FTIR addition to TGA module, identification of various functional groups which corresponds to different phases of thermal decomposition of sewage sludge sample is achieved. However, it is stated that no additional interpretation of FTIR spectra is conducted, therefore, presented functional group is observed only visually by FTIR spectra. (Zhai et al. 2011) However, it is reported in literature that identification of functional groups from an unknown mixture (such as sewage sludge) requires some procedures (Windig and Guilment 1991). Ferrase et al. (2003) uses an approach known as SIMPLISMA to detect some of the components of evolved gas of TGA-FTIR analysis of sewage sludge. As a result, it is reported that detection and differentiation of constituents in evolved gas which is produced by thermal decomposition of sewage sludge requires statistical treatment of FTIR spectra.

"Ozawa-Flynn-Wall" is another popular method which is used in thermal analysis. Otero et al., use this method to obtain activation energy of samples which consists of sewage sludge - coal mixtures. Having supported with DSC, it is concluded that 10% sewage sludge addition to coal alters heat release and DTG profiles of coal significantly. Any addition lower that 10% does not cause dramatic change. It is reported that due to high volatile matter content of sewage sludge which tends to undergo rapid thermal decomposition reaction, addition of sewage sludge causes a shift in temperature – weight profile. Activation energy of coal, sludge and coal sludge samples were determined that highest one belongs to sewage sludge while coal has lowest activation energy. There is no additional interpretation to these results, also remaining kinetic triplet is not mentioned (M Otero et al. 2007).

Same research group, published series of papers (M Otero et al. 2008; M Otero, Dıez, et al. 2002; M. Otero et al. 2006; Sanchez et al. 2009; M Otero et al. 2010; M Otero, Sánchez, and Gómez 2011; Marta Otero et al. 2008; M Otero, Calvo, et al. 2002; L.F. Calvo et al. 2004; M Otero et al. 2007) regarding thermogravimetric analysis of sewage sludge. In all these papers, combination of sewage sludge, coal and different biomass are selected as material of study. Ozawa-Flynn-Wall and/or Kissinger-Akahira-Sunrose are used as method of kinetic analysis. In kinetic analysis point of view, all papers are limited to calculation of activation energy. Although it is tried to compare activation energy values, practical results of activation energy comparison is not reported.

Xiao et al. (2010) uses a non-linear curve fitting method to determine kinetic triplet. In addition, experimental setup is conducted to observe the effect of air composition, therefore, 5 different gas composition from 30% Nitrogen - 70% Oxygen to 70% Nitrogen - 30% Oxygen is used for TGA experiments of sewage sludge, coal and sewage sludge – coal mixtures. In addition to basic conclusions of thermal analysis, like heating rate increases the maximum weight loss rate, it is reported that averaged activation energy over an interval of temperature differs as composition of air changes. This paper also assumes reaction model follows reaction order mechanism, however, calculated values of reaction orders have not a physicochemical meaning (Hanmin Xiao, Ma, and Liu 2010).

Non-linear curve fitting of DTG profiles is studied by Varhegyi et al. (2012) in conjunction with distributed activation energy (DAEM) model. In DAEM, peaks observed in DTG profiles are selected as candidates of reaction to be defined. Successive or parallel reactions could be assumed in this method, and a Gaussian distribution of reactions are assumed. As a result, it is reported that parallel reactions with reaction order mechanisms could adequately fit actual data. Activation energy of sewage sludge sample is calculated as 143 kj/mole for first reaction and 120 kj/mole for second reaction.(Várhegyi, Sebestyén, and Czégény 2012)

Distributed activation energy model has other uses in thermal analysis of sewage sludge. Having initial assumptions as parallel, many first order reactions which occurs in thermal conversion of sewage sludge. It is also assumed that activation energies which belong to corresponding reactions have Gaussian like distribution. Therefore, by using an algorithm which is derived by Scott et al. (2006) it is determined that rate of mass loss which belongs to different heating rates of corresponding TG experiments on sewage sludge is fitted with a good

accuracy. Also, it is reported that activation energy of sewage sludge sample has a distribution between 100 kj/mole and 300 kj/mole.

It is reported that results of TGA experiments can be interpreted without kinetic analysis. Although it is not widely accepted, an ignition index and a combustion index are proposed. These values are determined by interpretation of TGA profiles and it is stated that it defines ignition, combustion and burnout time of samples. Vamvuka and Sfakiotakis (2011) use this approach on mixtures of coal and various types of biomass including sewage sludge. It is concluded that additive of biomass to coal increases its reactivity by reducing ignition temperature. In addition, it is reported that sewage sludge has a broader temperature range of thermal conversion than other biomass types (Vamvuka and Sfakiotakis 2011) Devolatilization of volatile compounds in sewage sludge starts at very low temperatures, around 130°C, however temperatures where devolatilization ends reaches up to 580°C, higher/equal than that of coal.

CHAPTER 3

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sewage sludge samples from different wastewater treatment plants are taken to investigate the thermal properties of wastewater sludge. Dewatered/dried sewage sludge samples were taken from 6 different wastewater treatment plants. Dried, crushed and sieved sewage sludge samples are subjected to proximate, ultimate, thermogravimetric and X-Ray fluorescence analyses. Also, in a lab scale combustion reactor, mixtures of sewage sludge and a primary fuel are combusted at different proportions.

3.1. Wastewater Treatment Plants Investigated

Six wastewater treatment plants, having different wastewater and sludge treatment processes are included in this study. Treatment processes of wastewater treatment plants are listed in Table 3.1

	*					
Treatment Plants		Treatment Processes				
	Primary	Wastewater	Sludge	Sludge		
	Clarifier?	Treatment	Treatment	Dewatering/Drying		
		Process	Process			
А	Yes	A2O	Anaerobic	Dewatering +		
			Stabilization	Drying		
В	Yes	UCT	Anaerobic	Dewatering		
			Stabilization			
С	No	A2O	Cannibal	Dewatering +		
			Stabilization	Drying		
D	No	A2O	Aerobic	Dewatering +		
			Stabilization	Drying		
Е	No	A2O	Lime	Dewatering		
			Stabilization			
F	Yes	A2O	Anaerobic	Dewatering +		
			Stabilization	Drying		
A20. Anaerobic-A	A20: Anaerohic-Anoxic-Oxic Biological Wastewater Treatment Process with Nutrient					

Table 3.1 Wastewater treatment plants

A2O: Anaerobic-Anoxic-Oxic Biological Wastewater Treatment Process with Nutrient Removal

UCT: University of Cape Town Biological Wastewater Treatment Process with Nutrient Removal

From these wastewater treatment plants, sewage sludge samples were taken from the last line of sludge treatment process. In other words, they were taken at the effluent of either dewatering or drying process. The exception is for wastewater treatment plant E. In this treatment plant, lime stabilization is applied after dewatering process. Therefore, there are two kinds of sewage sludge which is produced in this treatment plant, one is dewatered and the other one is dewatered and lime stabilized sewage sludge. Sludge samples were collected three times throughout a year. List of sewage sludge samples which are taken from wastewater treatment plants are given in Table 3.2.

	Date when sewage sludge sample was collected				
Wastewater	October 2012	February 2013	May 2013		
Treatment Plants					
А	A-1	-	A-3		
В	B-1	B-2	B-3		
С	C-1	C-2	C-3		
D	D-1	-	D-3		
Е	E1-1	-	-		
	E2-1	E2-2	E2-3		
F	F-1	-	F-3		

Table 3.2 Sewage sludge samples

Sewage sludge samples were collected 3 times at each treatment plant. However, due to logistic reasons, samples were taken from WWTP A-D&F twice. Also, lime stabilized sludge sample was collected once.

Collected sewage sludge samples were brought to Middle East Technical University, Department of Environmental Engineering laboratories for analysis and preparation.

3.2. Characterization of Sewage Sludge Samples

As a first stage of sample preparation, all samples were brought to similar degrees of moisture content. In order to achieve similar moisture content, dewatered samples were air dried at 40°C in an oven for 3-4 days. This pretreatment allows to obtain more than %90 dry matter for a sample, which is the same dry matter content of sewage sludge sample dried at wastewater treatment plant.

After drying, all samples are sieved to 60 mesh sieve size in order to minimize the effect of different particle sizes.

3.2.1. Proximate Analysis

Proximate analysis constitutes determination of moisture, volatile matter, fixed carbon and ash. In order to carry the analysis, first moisture of samples were determined. Moisture is

determined by measuring weight loss of samples at 105°C at 2 hours. On the other hand, volatile matter and ash is determined by weight loss at 550 °C and 750 °C at 2 hours, respectively. After determination of weight loss at given temperatures, fixed carbon is calculated by the difference of volatile matter and ash from unity at dry basis.

3.2.2. Ultimate Analysis

First set of parameters which are determined in ultimate analysis are carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen, sulfur and oxygen. This analysis is conducted by Truspec Leco CHN-S analyzer at Middle East Technical University, Department of Environmental Engineering. Dried sewage sludge samples are introduced to auto sampler of the device, then content of carbon, nitrogen and hydrogen could be determined simultaneously. There is an add-on for this device to analyze sulfur content which has similar configuration with the main device. Oxygen is calculated by the difference of carbon, nitrogen, hydrogen and ash from unity. Figure 3.1 shows a picture of Truspec Leco CHN-S analyzer.



Figure 3.1 Truspec Leco CHN-S elemental analyzer

Determination of calorific value of samples is also carried in ultimate analysis. A Leco AC 500 Bomb Calorimeter device in Middle East Technical University, Department of Environmental Engineering is used in this experiment. Samples were placed to the holding of the vessel of device and a complete combustion is achieved in medium which is pressurized using pure oxygen. Amount of heat generated in combustion process yields calorific value of samples. A picture of Leco AC 500 Bomb Calorimeter is given in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2 Leco AC 500 calorimeter

3.2.3. Micro X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) Analysis

Determination of inorganic content in sewage sludge ash is carried as the last set of analysis which is conducted in this study. XRF is used as the experimental procedure for this purpose. In XRF anaylsis, sample is fluxed with sodium tetraborate at 1100°C to achieve loss of organics on ignition. Remaining inorganic content of sample pelletized prior to analysis("Mikro-X Ray Fluoresans (μ XRF)" 2013). Major inorganic contents of sample, Na, Mg, Al, Si, P, S, Cl, K, Ca, Ti, V, Cr, Mn and Fe are determined by this analysis. XRF Analysis is done by Institute of Earth Science, Ankara University.

Data obtained from XRF analysis are used to determine slagging/fouling indices of sewage sludge samples. Then, these values are compared with the limit values that are set in literature. Detailed discussion about slagging/fouling and determination of slagging/fouling indices are reviewed in Section 2.3.3.

3.3. Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA) of Sewage Sludge Samples

The idea of TG Analysis is measuring the weight and temperature of sample at a constant frequency, i.e. 8 measurement per second in a controlled temperature program. Sample could be either heated at a particular heating rate or exposed to a fixed temperature. At the end of experiment, vector of weight loss and temperature rise both with respect to time are obtained.

In this study, TG Analyses of sewage sludge samples were conducted by Middle East Technical University, Central Laboratory. The instrument, whose picture is given in Figure 3.3, used in this study is Perkin Elmer Pyris STA 6000.



Figure 3.3 Perkin Elmer Pyris STA 6000 TG analyzer

3.3.1. Experimental Procedure

In this study, sewage sludge samples were subjected to TG Analysis. 20 mg dried and sieved sludge samples were introduced to the analyzer. Temperature program is selected as a constant non-isothermal run. That is, sewage sludge samples are heated at a constant heating rate. Each sludge sample is subjected to four non-isothermal run with 4°C/min, 8°C/min, 16°C/min, 32°C/min as heating rate. However, prior to each non-isothermal run, first an isothermal run was conducted at 105°C for 20 minutes to ensure complete moisture loss. Air is selected as medium which is fluxed through the sample with the flow rate of 40 mL/min. Experimental setup of this study is listed in Table 3.3.

Sample	Gaseous	Temperature	Duration of	Heating rate	Temperature
Name	Medium	of	Isothermal	of	Range of
		Isothermal	Run (min)	Isothermal	Non-
		Run (°C)		Run	Isothermal
				(°C/min)	Run (°C)
A-1, B-1,	Synthetic Air	105	20	4, 8, 16, 32	105-950
C-1, D-1,	(21% Oxygen				
E1-1, E2-1,	- 79%				
F-1	Nitrogen				

Table 3.3 Experimental setup of TGA

As it can be seen on Table 3.3 only the first group of samples (October 2012) were involved in TGA. Each sample was analyzed four times with the heating rate of 4, 8, 16, 32°C/min from 105°C to 950°C. Again each sample was first exposed to an isothermal mass loss at 105°C before every experiment. Therefore, 28 TGA curves which belongs to 7 different samples were obtained in this study.

At the end of each experiment, weight loss curve and temperature rise curve is obtained as sample is heated. Due to reactions which takes place during experiments, heating program of sample i.e. 4°C/min, 8°C/min etc. does not match with sample's actual heating. Since a constant heating program is applied in experiments, derivative of weight loss and temperature rise with respect to time can be derived. Therefore, 4 curves, weight loss, sample temperature rise, derivative of weight loss with respect to time are obtained.

3.3.2. Data Treatment

Data treatment of TG experiments consists of two operations. First operation is *smoothing the derivative curve* and second operation is normalization of parameters to mass loss curve.

3.3.2.1. Derivation and Treatment of Reaction Rate and Heating Rate Curves

First step in data treatment of experiments is defining a basis for weight loss curves which allows to compare different experiments. Although mass of sample which is analyzed was tried to be kept as constant, there are small differences. Weight of samples which are used in TG experiments are listed in Table 3.4.

	4 (°C/min)	8 (°C/min)	16 (°C/min)	32 (°C/min)
A1-1 (mg)	20.487	19.903	20.189	20.063
B1-1 (mg)	19.971	20.953	21.763	19.751
C1-1 (mg)	14.796	15.039	16.062	15.039
D1-1 (mg)	20.394	19.906	20.714	20.769
E1-1 (mg)	14.876	15.232	14.876	15.232
E2-1 (mg)	15.581	15.568	14.788	15.826
F1-1 (mg)	20.869	19.776	21.159	20.944

Table 3.4 Samples subjected to TGA

In addition to initial weight of samples, their final weight also varies extensively. In order to prevent the systematic error which could be caused by this difference, weight loss is defined as the **extent of conversion** which is referred as α with such relationship;

$$\alpha = \frac{w - w_f}{w_i - w_f}$$

Eq. 3.1.

where;
α: extent of conversion,
w: weight of sample at time t;
w_i: initial weight of the sample;

w_f: final weight of the sample.

Using the relationship above, it is possible to define weight loss curves where values of " α " changes from 0 to 1, meaning 0 as the beginning of experiment while 1 as the end of the experiment. Therefore, variation of initial and final weights of the samples are brought to the same basis.

After defining extent of conversion of samples, derivative of weight loss with respect to time and derivative of sample temperature rise with respect to time curves are obtained through simple differentiation operation as given in Eq. 3.2 and Eq. 3.3.

$$\left(\frac{d\alpha}{dt}\right)_{i} = \frac{a_{i} - a_{i+1}}{t_{i} - t_{i+1}}$$
 Eq.3.2.

$$\left(\frac{dT}{dt}\right)_{i} = \frac{T_{i} - T_{i+1}}{t_{i} - t_{i+1}}$$
 Eq.3.3.

where;

 $\binom{da}{dt}_{i}$: derivative of extent of conversion with respect to time, rate of reaction, $\binom{dT}{dt}_{i}$: derivative of temperature rise with respect to time, heating rate, β

However, due to the nature of the differentiation operation, resultant derivatives contains too much noise. In order to overcome this problem, Savitzky-Golay filtering(Caballero and Conesa 2005) is used through a MATLAB 2012a[©] code and one sample illustration is given in Figure 3.4. Sample codes are given in Appendix C.



Figure 3.4 The effect of Savitzky-Golay filtering

3.3.2.2. Normalization of Data

Next step of data treatment involves interpolating resultant curves for certain extent of conversion values. It is a fact that application of four different heating program yields above mentioned curves having different size. That is, since temperature interval in all experiments is constant, from 105°C to 950°C, amount of measurement which takes place differs from one

heating program to another. For instance, in 4°C/min heating rate program, there are 105,000 measurements while in 32°C/min, measurements are reduced to 13,125. Table 3.5 shows the amount of measurement which is done at each experimental setup.

Table 3.5 Measurements	done	in TG	experiments
------------------------	------	-------	-------------

Heating Rate	4 (°C/min)	8 (°C/min)	16 (°C/min)	32 (°C/min)
Number of	105000	52500	25250	13125
Measurements				

In order to obtain reaction rate, heating rate and temperature rise profile throughout extent of conversion, an interpolation operation is done. In this operation, values of these curves for certain values of extent of conversion is determined. The range of extent of conversion selected is 0,010 to 0,980. Therefore, for each extent of conversion point, values of reaction rate, heating rate and sample temperature is calculated using a MATLAB 2012a© operators, *polytool, polyfit* and *polyval*. Sample codes are given in Appendix C. Resultant vectors have the following form which is shown in Table 3.6.

Table 3.6 Final form of experimental data

Extent of	Sample	Sample Heating	Reaction Rate,
conversion, α	Temperature, °C	Rate, °C/min	α/min
0,010	T ₁	β_1	δ_1
0,011	T_2	β_2	δ_2
0,980	T ₉₇₁	B ₉₇₁	δ_{971}

The application of interpolation of temperature, heating rate and reaction rate over extent of conversion allows for obtaining same sized vectors whose original size is different. Also, it is possible to derive the change of temperature, heating rate and reaction rate as extent of conversion increased, that is, as the experiment continues.

3.3.3. Kinetic Analysis

Kinetic analysis of samples contains three subtopics; determination of activation energy, calculation of reaction rate and its comparison with actual data and specifying the appropriate reaction model.

3.3.3.1. Determination of Activation Energy

In this study, the method which is derived by Friedman (1964) is used for calculation of activation energy. Rate of reaction for thermal decomposition of solid generally described by the relationship is turned into;

$$\left(\frac{da}{dt}\right) = Ae^{-Ea/RT}f(a)$$
 Eq. 3.4.

where;

 ${\binom{da}{dt}}$: Reaction rate, A: Frequency factor, E_a: Activation energy, T: Temperature, R: Ideal gas constant, f(α): Reaction model,

It should be kept in mind that reaction rate, frequency factor, activation energy, temperature and reaction model are functions of extent of conversion. Section 3.3.2.2 explains the procedure for data treatment and Table 3.6 shows that the only independent variable is the extent of conversion " α ".

Taking natural logarithm of both side;

$$\ln\left(\frac{da}{dt}\right)_{\alpha} = \ln A_{\alpha} + \ln f(a) - E_{\alpha}/RT_{\alpha}$$
 Eq. 3.5.

Using data of parallel experiments of a sample with four different heating rates, series of T_{α} and $\left(\frac{da}{dt}\right)_{\alpha}$ which correspond to extent of conversion values are obtained. For each point of extent of conversion, linear correlation of parameters could be derived.

$$slope = -E_a/R$$
 Eq. 3.6.

$$intercept = lnA_a + lnf(a)$$
 Eq. 3.7.

Activation energy of sample is calculated by using slope of linear relationship. Also, coefficient of correlation for each correlation is determined. High correlation coefficient ensures the reliability of activation energy.

In this study, the method of activation energy calculation is limited to Friedman Method only. Integral model free methods and model fitting methods, which are explained before, are omitted due to their assumptions and limitations.

3.3.3.2. Calculation of Reaction Rate

Quality of data obtained in TG experiments can be checked by fitting calculated reaction rate with actual reaction rate data. In order to calculate the reaction rate;

$$\left(\frac{da}{dt}\right)_{calculated} = Ae^{-Ea/RT}f(a)$$
 Eq. 3.8.

the above expression is used. On the other hand, actual reaction rate is determined by using experimental data in Eq. 3.9;

$$\left(\frac{da}{dt}\right)_{actual} = \frac{a_i - a_{i+1}}{t_i - t_{i+1}}$$
 Eq. 3.9.

Therefore, it is possible to compare these two profiles to check whether Friedman Method successfully defines the activation energy and the reaction rate.

3.3.3.3. Identification of Reaction Model and Frequency Factor

Determination of remaining kinetic triplet, frequency factor and reaction model, is the next step once it is proven that Friedman Method works properly. First of all, the relationship;

$$intercept = lnA + lnf(a)$$
 Eq. 3.10

is taken as the starting point. It is a fact that reaction model has particular forms which are stated throughout the history of thermal analysis. Table 3.7 summarizes these reaction models (Vyazovkin et al. 2011).

Table 3.7 Reaction models used in kinetic analysis (Vyazovkin et al. 2011)

Reaction Model	Code	$f(\alpha)$	g(a)
Nucleation Models			
Power Law	P2	$2\alpha^{(1/2)}$	$\alpha^{(1/2)}$
Power Law	P3	$3\alpha^{(2/3)}$	$\alpha^{(1/3)}$
Power Law	P4	$4\alpha^{(3/4)}$	$\alpha^{(1/4)}$
Avarami-Eforeev	A2	$2(1-\alpha)[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{(1/2)}$	$[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{(1/2)}$
Avarami-Eforeev	A3	$3(1-\alpha)[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{(1/3)}$	$[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{(1/3)}$
Avarami-Eforeev	A4	$4(1-\alpha)[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{(1/4)}$	$[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{(1/4)}$
Geometrical Contractio	n Models		
Contracting Area	R2	$2(1-\alpha)^{(1/2)}$	$1 - [(1 - \alpha)^{(1/2)}]$
Contracting Sphere	R3	$3(1-\alpha)^{(2/3)}$	$1 - [(1 - \alpha)^{(1/3)}]$
Diffusion Models			
1D Diffusion	D1	1/(2α)	α^2
2D diffusion	D2	$[-\ln(1-\alpha)]^{-1}$	$[(1-\alpha)\ln(1-\alpha)]+\alpha$
3D Diffusion-Jander Eq	D3	$[3(1-\alpha)^{(2/3)}]/2(1-(1-\alpha)^{(1/3)})$	$[1-(1-\alpha)^{1/3}]^{2}$
Ginstling-Brounshtein	D4	$3/2((1-\alpha)^{(-1/3)}-1)$	$1-2\alpha/3-(1-\alpha)^{(2/3)}$

Reaction Order Mode	els		
Zero Order	FO-R1	1	α
First Order	F1	1-α	$-In(1-\alpha)$
Second Order	F2	$(1-\alpha)^2$	$(1-\alpha)^{-1} - 1$
Third Order	F3	$(1-\alpha)^{3}$	$0.5[(1-\alpha)^{-2}-1]$

The idea is to assume a reaction model and to generate frequency factor which corresponds to the model. Since reaction models stated above has particular values over extent of conversion, frequency factor, which is valid for assumed reaction model, could be derived using intercept relationship mentioned above. As a result, 16 pair of reaction model and frequency factor is generated for a sample.

After construction of frequency factor – reaction model pairs, next step involves finding which pair actually explains thermal decomposition of sample. In order to do this, **time vector** is defined with the following statement (Vyazovkin et al. 2011);

$$t(a) = g(a)/Ae^{-Ea/RT}$$

Eq. 3.11.

where,
t(α): time vector,
g(α): integral form of reaction model,
A: frequency factor,
Ea: activation energy,
R: ideal gas constant,
T: sample temperature.

There is also an ASTM standard (ASTM E1641-07, Standard Test Method for Decomposition Kinetics by Thermogravimetry) which utilizes Eq. 4.6 by defining $g(\alpha)$ as a first order reaction (ASTM E 1641-07).

Since frequency factor, activation energy, reaction model are vectors where extent of conversion is independent variable, result is also a vector which represents time expired for unit change in extent of conversion.

Therefore, if actual sample temperature profiles are used in this equation, one should be able to calculate how much time has passed to achieve certain degree of conversion during an experiment. Also, above equation can be used to compare reaction model assumptions, which lead different time requirement predictions.

It is also possible to compare derivatives of time predictions and actual data. From a TG result, derivative of time passed with respect to unit change in extent of conversion can be calculated. Moreover, results obtained from time vector is suitable to be differentiated with respect to unit change in extent of conversion. Therefore, comparison of predictions and actual data can be done in differentiated form.

Regardless of the form of the comparison, either integral of differentiated form, this method can successfully separate reaction model forms and create such predictions which are comparable with experimental data. Best fit over a particular region of extent of conversion is considered as descriptive reaction model. Going backwards, once a reaction model holds true over a region, frequency factor which corresponds to reaction model becomes correct. Therefore, kinetic parameters of sample over a particular region could be defined.

3.4. Laboratory Scale Combustion Experiments of Sewage Sludge Coal Blends

In order to assess the quality of sewage sludge as an additive fuel in thermal processes, a laboratory scale combustion setup was used. In combustion experiments, pelletized sewage sludge-coal mixture samples are burned in an electrically heated furnace at a fixed temperature. Approximately 0.17 gr of pellets with 5 mm diameter and several millimeters height are used as detailed information could be found in Section 3.4.2. Experimental setup used in this study is a batch reactor, therefore, only one pellet is burned at a time. Cylindrical quartz reactor has dimensions of 50 mm diameter and 1200 mm height.

The effect of sludge addition to coal is observed by analyzing the gaseous products of combustion process. Experimental setup is shown in Figure 3.5.



Figure 3.5 Diagram of lab scale combustion setup

At the beginning of combustion experiments, cylindrical quartz reactor is heated by the tubular electrically heated furnace. Temperature of the furnace can be set up to 1100°C, however, combustion temperature is set to 900°C to ensure the protection of quartz reactor from extreme temperatures. Thermocouples located close to furnace wall in the combustion zone allow adjusting the temperature of the furnace, so that temperature of the combustion zone is 900°C.

When the temperature of the combustion zone reaches to 900°C, air is introduced from the bottom of the reactor. Flow meter is used to adjust the flow rate of air given to the reactor. After that, top seal of the reactor is opened to drop the sample pellet into the reactor and is closed quickly. Pellet instantly reaches to the combustion zone of the reactor and combustion starts instantaneously. After the seal at the top of the reactor is closed, the gas analyzer starts sampling the flue gas. Combustion is finished when oxygen concentration of the flue gas reaches back to the atmospheric concentration, which is 20.9%.

3.4.1. Flue Gas Analyzer

 O_2 , CO_2 , CO, NO, NO_2 and SO_2 in the combustion gas are continuously monitored by Madur Photon flue gas analyzer. The analyzer consists of two units; first unit, which is called as PDG-100, is used for conditioning of flue gas. Moisture in the flue gas is trapped in this unit. Therefore, results of analysis are reported on dry basis. Also, filtration of solid particles in the flue gas is done in this unit.



Figure 3.6 Madur photon flue gas analyzer

Conditioned flue gas is analyzed in Photon unit. O_2 and CO_2 is measured in % by volume, other gases are measured in ppm. Unit conversion of gases which are measured in ppm is also available in the Photon unit; therefore it is possible to convert results to "mg/Nm³" or "mg/Nm³ relative into %10 O₂".

3.4.2. Sample Preparation for Combustion Experiments

First set of sewage sludge and a coal samples are selected to investigate sewage sludge – coal combustion. Temperature of combustion can be predetermined by using temperature control program of the electrically heated furnace and it is selected as 900°C, which is the highest available temperature for the furnace. In order to observe the effects of sewage sludge addition to coal during combustion, sewage sludge – coal mixtures are prepared with varying percentages of sludge added to coal in order to create batches of sewage sludge – coal mixtures. Also, the capacity of the reactor used in this study is determined as 1000 cal, therefore mass of each batch is calculated so that each batch will have a calorific value of 1000 calories. Experimental conditions are listed in Table 3.8.

Table 3.	.8 Ex	perimental	conditions	of	combustion	experiments
14010 0		Permenten	•••••••••	<u> </u>	••••••••	••••••••••••••••••

Sewage	Percentage of Sewage Sludge in Mixtures on	Temperature (°C)
Sludge	Energy Basis (β)	
Sample		
A-1, B-1, C-1,	%0,%3,%5,%10,%15,%30	900°C
D-1, E1-1, E2-		
1, F-1		

Sewage sludge to coal ratios in mixtures is determined using the following formula;

1000 calories = $M_1(gr)$. LHV_{sewage sludge}(cal/g) + $M_2(gr)$. LHV_{coal}(cal/g) Eq. 3.12.

where;

 M_1 = Mass of sewage sludge added to mixtures shown in Table 3.10 (g) M_2 = Mass of coal added to mixtures shown in Table 3.10 (g) LHV = Lower Heating Value on dry basis (cal/g)

 M_1 and M_2 values used in preparing mixtures are determined to give the percentages shown in Table 3.8. It can also be stated by the relationship given below;

 $\begin{aligned} & Percentage \ of \ SS \ (\%) = \frac{M_1(gr).LHV_{sewage \ sludge}(cal/g)}{M_1(gr).LHV_{sewage \ sludge}(cal/g) + M_2(gr).LHV_{coal}(cal/g)} 100 = \\ & \frac{M_1(gr).LHV_{sewage \ sludge}(cal/g)}{1000 \ calories} 100 \end{aligned}$ Eq. 3.13.

Calorific value and moisture content of sewage sludge samples and mass of each sample used for combustion experiments (total calories = 1000 cal) are given in Table 3.9 and 3.10, respectively.

Sample Name	LHV (cal/g)	Moisture (%)
A-1	2389,3	3,26
B-1	3341,5	5,88
C-1	3290,8	3,53
D-1	2961,7	1,63
E1-1	1958,3	6,04
E2-1	3395,5	12,67
F-1	2411,5	1,51
Coal	6128,4	4,3

Table 3.9 Calorific value of sewage sludge samples and coal

Table 3.10 Sample mass used to create different fuel mixtures for combustion experiments (calorific value = 1000 cal)

(caloffic value = 1000 cal)							
	Sample	%0	%3	%5	%10	%20	%30
	Name	sludge	sludge	sludge	sludge	sludge	sludge
		addition	addition	addition	addition	addition	addition
	A-1 (gr)	0	0,0130	0,0216	0,0433	0,0865	0,1298
M1	B-1 (gr)	0	0,0095	0,0159	0,0318	0,0636	0,0954
	C-1 (gr)	0	0,0095	0,0158	0,0315	0,0630	0,0945
	D-1 (gr)	0	0,0103	0,0172	0,0343	0,0686	0,1030
	E1-1 (gr)	0	0,0163	0,0272	0,0543	0,1087	0,1630
	E2-1 (gr)	0	0,0101	0,0169	0,0337	0,0674	0,1012
	F-1 (gr)	0	0,0126	0,0211	0,0421	0,0842	0,1263
M_2	Coal (gr)	0,1706	0,1655	0,1621	0,1535	0,1365	0,1194

Last step of sample preparation is to pelletize sewage sludge and coal mixtures prior to combustion experiments. For this purpose, a hand sized pellet press is used. In order to obtain sewage sludge – coal mixtures whose percentages are given in Table 3.8, first corresponding amounts of sewage sludge and coal samples whose masses are listed in Table 3.10 are mixed in separate holders. Then, mixtures are poured into the mold of the pellet press and pressure is applied. Since pelletizer used in this study is a hand sized, manually operated tool, it is not possible to adjust the pressure by a controller. Nevertheless, pressure applied in each palletizing operation is tried to be kept same. As a result, batches of sewage sludge – coal mixtures in the form of cylindrical pellets with 0.5 mm diameter and several millimeters height are made.

3.4.3. Combustion Experiments and Interpretation of Results

Concentrations of O_2 , CO_2 , CO_2 , CO, NO, NO_2 and SO_2 measured in a batch combustion experiment is given in Fig.3.7. Based on results of each experiment, material balance on carbon, nitrogen and sulfur for each experiment is performed. Carbon, nitrogen and sulfur content of mixtures are already known by ultimate analysis. Using gaseous emission profiles obtained from Madur analyzer, amount of carbon, nitrogen and sulfur released through combustion experiment is calculated.



Figure 3.7 Emissions measured in a combustion experiment

Start and end of each experiment can be observed by the change of profiles; i.e. oxygen concentration returns to its original value of %20.95 when experiment ends. Time passed in experiments can also be followed and flow rate of gases is known, therefore, an integration to calculate mass of carbon, nitrogen and sulfur can be done using the following relationships;

Mass of sulfur;

$$M_S = 2,86Q_{analyzer} 32/64 \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{end}} Conc. of SO_2(ppm) dt$$
 Eq. 3.13.

Mass of nitrogen;

$$\begin{split} M_S &= 2,056Q_{analyzer} 14/46 \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{end}} Conc. of \ NO_2(ppm) \ dt + 1,34Q_{analyzer} 14/\\ &30 \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{end}} Conc. of \ NO(ppm) \ dt \end{split}$$
 Eq. 3.14.

Mass of carbon;

$$\begin{split} M_S &= 1,25 Q_{analyzer} 12/28 \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{end}} Conc. of \ CO(ppm) \ dt + Q_{analyzer} P_{analyzer} 12/T/R/\\ 100 \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{end}} Conc. of \ CO_2(\%) \ dt \end{split}$$
 Eq. 3.15.

where;

Q_{analyzer}: Volumetric flow rate of gas sampling by analyzer P_{analyzer}: Pressure of gas sampling by analyzer t_{star}: Time when experiment starts t_{end}: Time when experiment ends R: Ideal gas constant T: Temperature The coefficients of 2.86; 2,056; 1.34; 1.25 are the conversion factors of gases from ppm to mg/Nm^3 for SO₂, NO₂, NO and CO, respectively. On the other hand, 32/64; 14/46; 14/30; 12/28 are the ratios of molecular weights of S, N and C to SO₂, NO₂, NO and CO, respectively.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In this section, results of thermal characterization of sludge samples including proximate/ultimate analysis, micro XRF analysis, TG analysis as well as the combustion experiments which are explained in experimental setup in Section 3.4 are given.

4.1. Thermal Characterization of Sewage Sludge Samples and Coal

In the scope of thermal characterization, proximate and ultimate analyses were conducted on sewage sludge samples. Also, elemental composition of sewage sludge ashes is determined.

4.1.1. Proximate/Ultimate Analysis of Sewage Sludge Samples and Coal

Proximate analysis of sewage sludge samples on dry basis are given in Table 4.1. Moisture content of air dried samples is also determined. Proximate and ultimate analysis was conducted on triplicate samples. Therefore, the results presented in Table 4.1 are the averages of these triplicate analysis. Standard errors are also presented with the averaged results.

Table 4.1 Proximate analysis of sewage sludge and coal					
Sample	Moisture (%)*	Volatile Matter (%)**	Fixed Carbon (%)**	Ash (%)**	
A-1	3.3±0.09	47±0.07	5.0±0.24	48±0.57	
A-3	4.7 ± 0.06	47±0.26	5.1±0.19	47.9±0.26	
B-1	5.9±0.12	65.8±0.07	3.6±0.13	30.6±0.19	
B-2	9±0.43	69.1±0.52	4.7±0.37	26.2±0.16	
B-3	6.2 ± 0.1	68.9±0.09	5.0±0.15	26.1±0.25	
C-1	3.5±0.05	63.1±0.09	2.2±0.06	34.7±0.04	
C-2	4.9 ± 0.08	61.6±0.16	2.9±0.34	35.6±0.77	
C-3	4.2±0.03	62.5±0.02	2.8±0.29	34.6±0.82	
D-1	1.6±0.03	59.6±0.04	1.6±0.03	38.9±0.02	
D-3	4.1 ± 0.04	57.2±0.07	2.4 ± 0.29	40.4 ± 0.76	
E1-1	6±0.06	34.2±0.02	7.4±0.3	58.4±0.83	
E2-1	12.7±0.17	64.3±0.24	4.2±0.23	31.5±0.27	
E2-2	5.7±0.19	78.1±0.14	3.6±0.13	18.4 ± 0.06	
E2-3	4.1±0.15	74.4±0.23	4.2±0.16	21.3±0.11	
F-1	1.5±0.05	45.8±0.13	3.2±0.09	51±0.09	

Table 4.1 Proximate analysis of sewage sludge and coal

F-3	2.3 ± 0.05	40±0.04	4.5 ± 0.06	55.5 ± 0.08
Coal	4.3±0.03	29.3±0.11	53.5±0.12	17.2±0.22

* % by weight

** % by weight on dry basis

-Numbers after dash indicates seasons when samples are taken.

-E1 and E2 are taken from same wastewater treatment plant; E1 is taken after lime stabilization,

E2 is taken before lime stabilization.

It can be seen in Table 4.1 that E1-1 has the highest ash content and lowest volatile matter content of all samples. Treatment plant E has A2O process for wastewater treatment and lime stabilization for sludge treatment. Therefore the plant does not use any biological treatment process for sludge stabilization. E1-1 is sampled from the plant after lime addition, whereas E2 samples were collected before lime addition. When results of E1-1 and E2 samples are compared, it can be seen that lime stabilization directly reduces volatile matter and increases ash content. Also the lack of additional processes for sludge stabilization could be the reason for high volatile matter content of E2 samples. In addition, B and C samples have high volatile matter and highest ash content. Lastly, sample C lies in the middle considering volatile matter and ash content.

Calorific value and elemental composition of combustible portion of sewage sludge samples are determined in the scope of ultimate analysis and the results are given in Table 4.2.

Table 4.2 Offinate analysis of sewage studge and coal						
	Carbon (%)*	Hydrogen (%)*	Nitrogen (%)*	Sulfur (%)*	Oxygen (%)*	Calorific Value
A 1	27.10.0.00		5.06.0.06		15:0.05	0200 24 1 62
A-1	27.19±0.08	3.9 ± 0.03	5.06 ± 0.06	0.86 ± 0.01	15±0.05	2389.34±1.63
A-3	23.14 ± 0.07	3.29 ± 0.01	3.79 ± 0.01	0.75 ± 0.01	21.2 ± 0.03	2174.57±41.62
B-1	35.85±0.18	5.19 ± 0.02	7.69±0.1	1.56 ± 0.03	19.1±0.08	3341.54±17.58
B-2	35±0.04	4.81 ± 0.01	5.27 ± 0.01	1.74 ± 0.03	27 ± 0.02	3581.46±140.34
B-3	32.69±0.03	4.52 ± 0.01	5.22 ± 0.06	1.62 ± 0.02	29.9±0.03	3110.45±14.61
C-1	35.14±0.01	4.59±0.03	6.21±0.03	1.29±0.02	18±0.02	3290.77±29.39
C-2	31.55 ± 0.01	4.03 ± 0.01	5.01 ± 0.01	1.46 ± 0.01	22.4±0.01	3092.58±20.51
C-3	31.88 ± 0.02	3.95 ± 0.01	5.01 ± 0.04	1.63 ± 0.02	22.9 ± 0.02	3076.97±11.59
D-1	31.53±0.11	4.55±0.02	7.11±0.11	0.67 ± 0.00	17.2±0.06	2961.7±10.96
D-3	27.3 ± 0.03	$3.94{\pm}0.01$	5.1 ± 0.04	0.67 ± 0.00	22.6±0.02	2708.22±8.19
E1-1	24.19±0.09	3.75 ± 0.04	4.53±0.02	0.63 ± 0.01	8.5 ± 0.04	1958.33±82.38
E2-1	35.42±0.28	5.04±0.02	6.6±0.04	0.78 ± 0.02	20.7±0.09	3395.48±22.91
E2-2	37.79 ± 0.32	5.34 ± 0.05	6.72 ± 0.04	0.81 ± 0.01	31±0.11	3852.22±18.63
E2-3	36.26±0.09	5.1±0.02	6.45±0.12	0.77±0.01	30.1±0.06	3566.63±21.74
F-1	26.76±0.02	3.85±0	3.84±0.03	1.79±0.07	12.8±0.03	2411.48±9.66

Table 4.2 Ultimate analysis of sewage sludge and coal

Coal 63.80±0.15 3.65±0.02 1.88±0.04 0.55±0.02 12.94±0.06 6128.43±66.75

*% by weight on dry basis

** Lower heating value on dry basis (cal/g)

First of all, it should be stated that results obtained in proximate/ultimate analysis are in conformity with the literature data. A summary which includes the average values and the ranges obtained in this study and from the literature is given in Table 4.3.

Table 4.3 Comparison of proximate/ultimate analysis with data from literature

	Volatile			
	Matter	Carbon	A -1- (0/)**	Calorific Value
	(%)**	(%)**	Asn $(\%)^{**}$	(cal/g)***
Literature*	24-52-71	10-31-46	15-39-73	1000-2982-4500
This Study	34-58-78	24-31-37	18-37-58	1900-2927-3800
Values in the middle c	orrespond to average	values		
**				

** % by weight on dry basis

*** Lower heating value on dry basis (cal/g)

^{*}According to the values which are taken from following papers: (Azuara et al. 2013; Biagini et al. 2002; Boran et al. 2008; L F Calvo et al. 2004; Cao et al. 2013; Casajus et al. 2009; H. Chen, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2011; Chun, Kim, and Yoshikawa 2011; Conesa et al. 2009; Deng et al. 2009; Domínguez et al. 2008; Domínguez et al. 2006; Duan et al. 2010; Elled, Davidsson, and Åmand 2010; M. Belén Folgueras, Díaz, and Xiberta 2005; M.B. Folgueras and Díaz 2010; M.Belén Folgueras et al. 2003; M.Belén Folgueras, María Díaz, and Xiberta 2004; Font, Fullana, and Conesa 2005; Font et al. 2001; Francisca Gómez-Rico et al. 2005; J. Han et al. 2012; X. Han et al. 2012; Helena Lopes et al. 2003; Hernandez et al. 2011; Horttanainen et al. 2010; Hossain, Strezov, and Nelson 2009; Inguanzo et al. 2002; Ischia et al. 2011; Ji et al. 2010; Jiang, Du, and Yang 2010; Judex, Gaiffi, and Burgbacher 2012; J.-K. Kim and Lee 2011; J. Kim and Lee 2010; H.-S. Lee and Bae 2009; Li et al. 2009; Lin and Ma 2012; Ma et al. 2011; J. a Menéndez, Inguanzo, and Pis 2002; J. a. Menéndez et al. 2005; J. a. Menéndez et al. 2004; Mun, Kang, and Kim 2009; Murakami et al. 2009; Muthuraman, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2010; Nadziakiewicz and Kozioł 2003; Nielsen et al. 2011; Nilsson, Gómez-Barea, and Cano 2012; Nowicki et al. 2010; M Otero, Dıez, et al. 2002; M Otero et al. 2010; Marta Otero et al. 2008; Othman et al. 2010; S.-W. Park and Jang 2011b; S.-W. Park and Jang 2011a; S.-J. Park et al. 2011; Plaza et al. 2009; Pokorna et al. 2009; Rodriguez et al. 2008; S. a. Scott et al. 2007; S. Scott et al. 2006; Sebestyén et al. 2011; Seggiani et al. 2012; Solimene et al. 2010; Soria-Verdugo et al. 2013; Thipkhunthod et al. 2006; F.-J. Tian et al. 2002; Y. Tian et al. 2011; Toraman et al. 2004; Urciuolo et al. 2012; Vamvuka and Sfakiotakis 2011; Várhegyi, Sebestyén, and Czégény 2011; L. Wang et al. 2012; L. Wang et al. 2011; R. Wang et al. 2011; Wei, Schnell, and Hein 2005; Werther and Ogada 1999; Z. Wu et al. 2012; Wzorek 2012; Han-min Xiao, Ma, and Lai 2009; Hanmin Xiao, Ma, and Liu 2010; Yang et al. 2008; Zhai et al. 2011; J. Zhang et al. 2013; Q. Zhang et al. 2012)

Sewage sludge is mainly composed of volatile matter and ash. Volatile matter content of sewage sludge samples used in this study ranges between 34.2% and 78.1%. Similarly, ash content of sewage sludge samples changes between 18.4% and 58.4%. Fixed carbon does not have such a particular range because it is always significantly lower than the volatile matter. Maximum fixed carbon determined in samples is 7.4%.

Ultimate analysis of samples reveals that organic fraction of sewage sludge samples contain predominantly carbon and oxygen. Nitrogen and hydrogen generally have similar values and their percentage in samples is not higher than 8%. Sulfur has the lowest percentage among all elements, varying from 0.6% to 1.8%. Calorific value of samples varies between 1900 and 3800 cal/g on dry basis.

It can be understood from proximate and ultimate analysis that thermal characterization does not have constant and predictable values. It should be noted that sludge stabilization process certainly has an impact on proximate and ultimate analysis. Sewage sludge E2, which is not stabilized at all, has the highest calorific value in all cases. However, even though sewage sludge B undergoes an anaerobic stabilization, it comes the second in calorific value. Sample C is taken from a plant that has a special sludge stabilization process, cannibal stabilization, has approximately same calorific values with sample B, which is anaerobically stabilized. This all means that sludge stabilization process does have a certain impact on calorific value of sewage sludge, however, there are other factors that affect the calorific value as well.

Variation in thermal characteristics is observed even for sludge samples taken from the same wastewater treatment plant. Figure 4.1 demonstrates the changes in calorific values of sewage sludge samples taken in different periods of a year.



Figure 4.1 Change in calorific values of sewage sludge samples

It can be seen in Figure 4.1 that differences of calorific value with sampling within the same plant at different times can go up to 500 cal/g in some cases. This kind of variation can lead to erroneous conclusions if a prediction is made according to only one measurement. For instance, sewage sludge E2 can be considered as a candidate as an additive fuel if such a conclusion is based on a measurement which is done in February, 2013, where calorific value of the sludge is close to that of lignite. However, calorific value of the sludge from the same treatment plant is measured in another time lower than 3400 cal/g, approximately 500 cal/g lower than the first case. This kind of variation indicates that operating parameters of wastewater treatment plant and characteristics of wastewater could affect calorific value of sewage sludge. Therefore, in order to indicate such a variation in a particular sewage sludge from a wastewater treatment plant, calorific value of sewage sludge should be measured periodically in a year.

To determine the calorific values of sludge one has to have a bomb calorimeter which may not be available in every laboratory. So it would be good if calorific value of sludge can be correlated with a frequently and easily measured parameter. One candidate parameter for this is the volatile matter content of sludge. Figure 4.2 shows that for the sludge samples, the VM and calorific values of sludges correlates well. Therefore, one way of estimating calorific value of a sewage sludge can be to use such a relationship between the volatile matter and the heating value of the sludge, as shown in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2 Correlation between calorific value and volatile matter of samples

It can be seen from Figure 4.2 that there is a good correlation between the calorific value and the volatile matter content of sewage sludge samples used in this study. The correlation coefficient has been found to be 0.94 with the P-value of $5.87E^{-8}$. P-value tests the probability whether the hypothesis holds or not. Hypothesis in the case given in Figure 4.2 is that when a new data point enters the sample space, whether it falls in the correlation of 0.94 or not. P-value of $5.87E^{-8}$ indicates that a new data will be in the range of correlation with the probability of (1- $5.87E^{-8}$)100%. Therefore, it can be said that coefficient of correlation found in Figure 4.2 is statistically accurate since 0.05 is generally considered as the upper limit for P-value (Moyé 2006). Such an empirical relationship can be used to estimate calorific value of an unknown sewage sludge sample which is generated in a wastewater treatment plant since the volatile matter content is a continuously measured parameter in a treatment plant.

To check if volatile matter correlates well with calorific value for a larger set of sludge samples, volatile matter contents and calorific values of as many sewage sludges as possible were obtained from literature. A correlation between volatile matter contents and calorific values of these sludges was tried to be found. Correlation obtained between volatile matter contents and calorific values of many sewage sludges is given in Fig. 4.3. Coefficient of this correlation which is found to be 0.770 with the P-value of $1.23E^{-24}$ indicates that there is a relation between these two parameters. However, correlation coefficient cannot be used to perform predictions. Additionally, it was a point of interest to see if a correlation exists between carbon contents and calorific values of these sludges. Therefore, carbon contents and calorific values of different sludges obtained from the literature were plotted in Figure 4.4. As can be seen from the figure, there is a good relationship between these parameters although there is a scattering of data to a certain extent. The correlation coefficient has been found to be 0.817 with the P-value of $1.78E^{-33}$. This is quite normal because the data was generated by different researchers from different parts of the world which have used sewage sludge samples originated from various treatment plants.

Also a correlation was sought between the carbon and volatile matter contents of the sludges of the literature are given in Figure 4.3. As can be seen from the figure, a strong correlation between these parameters could not be found. The correlation coefficient was 0.769 with the P-value of 4.49E⁻²⁹. Therefore, it was understood that this correlation cannot be used to estimate the calorific value of a sludge from its carbon content.



Figure 4.3 Correlation between volatile matter contents and calorific values of sludges obtained from literature data[†]

[†] According to the values which are taken from following papers: (Azuara et al. 2013; Biagini et al. 2002; Boran et al. 2008; L F Calvo et al. 2004; Cao et al. 2013; Casajus et al. 2009; H. Chen, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2011; Chun, Kim, and Yoshikawa 2011; Conesa et al. 2009; Deng et al. 2009; Domínguez et al. 2008; Domínguez et al. 2006; Duan et al. 2010; Elled, Davidsson, and Åmand 2010; M. Belén Folgueras, Díaz, and Xiberta 2005; M.B. Folgueras and Díaz 2010; M.Belén Folgueras et al. 2003; M.Belén Folgueras, María Díaz, and Xiberta 2004; Font, Fullana, and Conesa 2005; Font et al. 2001; Francisca Gómez-Rico et al. 2005; J. Han et al. 2012; X. Han et al. 2012; Helena Lopes et al. 2003; Hernandez et al. 2011; Horttanainen et al. 2010; Hossain, Strezov, and Nelson 2009; Inguanzo et al. 2002; Ischia et al. 2011; Ji et al. 2010; Jiang, Du, and Yang 2010; Judex, Gaiffi, and Burgbacher 2012; J.-K. Kim and Lee 2011; J. Kim and Lee 2010; H.-S. Lee and Bae 2009; Li et al. 2009; Lin and Ma 2012; Ma et al. 2011; J. a Menéndez, Inguanzo, and Pis 2002; J. a. Menéndez et al. 2005; J. a. Menéndez et al. 2004; Mun, Kang, and Kim 2009; Murakami et al. 2009; Muthuraman, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2010; Nadziakiewicz and Kozioł 2003; Nielsen et al. 2011; Nilsson, Gómez-Barea, and Cano 2012; Nowicki et al. 2010; M Otero, Dıez, et al. 2002; M Otero et al. 2010; Marta Otero et al. 2008; Othman et al. 2010; S.-W. Park and Jang 2011a; S.-W. Park and Jang 2011b; S.-J. Park et al. 2011; Plaza et al. 2009; Pokorna et al. 2009; Rodriguez et al. 2008; S. a. Scott et al. 2007; S. Scott et al. 2006; Sebestyén et al. 2011; Seggiani et al. 2012; Solimene et al. 2010; Soria-Verdugo et al. 2013; Thipkhunthod et al. 2006; F.-J. Tian et al. 2002; Y. Tian et al. 2011; Toraman et al. 2004; Urciuolo et al. 2012; Vamvuka and Sfakiotakis 2011; Várhegyi, Sebestyén, and Czégény 2011; L. Wang et al. 2012; L. Wang et al. 2011; R. Wang et al. 2011; Wei, Schnell, and Hein 2005; Werther and Ogada 1999; Z. Wu et al. 2012; Wzorek 2012; Han-min Xiao, Ma, and Lai 2009; Hanmin Xiao, Ma, and Liu 2010; Yang et al. 2008; Zhai et al. 2011; J. Zhang et al. 2013; Q. Zhang et al. 2012)



Figure 4.4 Correlation between carbon contents and calorific values of sludges obtained from literature data[‡]

[‡] According to the values which are taken from following papers: (Azuara et al. 2013; Biagini et al. 2002; Boran et al. 2008; L F Calvo et al. 2004; Cao et al. 2013; Casajus et al. 2009; H. Chen, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2011; Chun, Kim, and Yoshikawa 2011; Conesa et al. 2009; Deng et al. 2009; Domínguez et al. 2008; Domínguez et al. 2006; Duan et al. 2010; Elled, Davidsson, and Åmand 2010; M. Belén Folgueras, Díaz, and Xiberta 2005; M.B. Folgueras and Díaz 2010; M.Belén Folgueras et al. 2003; M.Belén Folgueras, María Díaz, and Xiberta 2004; Font, Fullana, and Conesa 2005; Font et al. 2001; Francisca Gómez-Rico et al. 2005; J. Han et al. 2012; X. Han et al. 2012; Helena Lopes et al. 2003; Hernandez et al. 2011; Horttanainen et al. 2010; Hossain, Strezov, and Nelson 2009; Inguanzo et al. 2002; Ischia et al. 2011; Ji et al. 2010; Jiang, Du, and Yang 2010; Judex, Gaiffi, and Burgbacher 2012; J.-K. Kim and Lee 2011; J. Kim and Lee 2010; H.-S. Lee and Bae 2009; Li et al. 2009; Lin and Ma 2012; Ma et al. 2011; J. a Menéndez, Inguanzo, and Pis 2002; J. a. Menéndez et al. 2005; J. a. Menéndez et al. 2004; Mun, Kang, and Kim 2009; Murakami et al. 2009; Muthuraman, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2010; Nadziakiewicz and Kozioł 2003; Nielsen et al. 2011; Nilsson, Gómez-Barea, and Cano 2012; Nowicki et al. 2010; M Otero, Dıez, et al. 2002; M Otero et al. 2010; Marta Otero et al. 2008; Othman et al. 2010; S.-W. Park and Jang 2011a; S.-W. Park and Jang 2011b; S.-J. Park et al. 2011; Plaza et al. 2009; Pokorna et al. 2009; Rodriguez et al. 2008; S. a. Scott et al. 2007; S. Scott et al. 2006; Sebestyén et al. 2011; Seggiani et al. 2012; Solimene et al. 2010; Soria-Verdugo et al. 2013; Thipkhunthod et al. 2006; F.-J. Tian et al. 2002; Y. Tian et al. 2011; Toraman et al. 2004; Urciuolo et al. 2012; Vamvuka and Sfakiotakis 2011; Várhegyi, Sebestyén, and Czégény 2011; L. Wang et al. 2012; L. Wang et al. 2011; R. Wang et al. 2011; Wei, Schnell, and Hein 2005; Werther and Ogada 1999; Z. Wu et al. 2012; Wzorek 2012; Han-min Xiao, Ma, and Lai 2009; Hanmin Xiao, Ma, and Liu 2010; Yang et al. 2008; Zhai et al. 2011; J. Zhang et al. 2013; Q. Zhang et al. 2012)



Figure 4.5 Correlation between volatile matter and carbon contents of sludges obtained from literature data[§]

4.1.2. Determination of Ash Composition of Sewage Sludge Samples by XRF Analysis

Inorganic elements which constitute the ash of sewage sludge samples were determined by using XRF analysis in this study. Results of XRF analysis are reported on dry basis in Table 4.4.

[§] According to the values which are taken from following papers: (Azuara et al. 2013; Biagini et al. 2002; Boran et al. 2008; L F Calvo et al. 2004; Cao et al. 2013; Casajus et al. 2009; H. Chen, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2011; Chun, Kim, and Yoshikawa 2011; Conesa et al. 2009; Deng et al. 2009; Domínguez et al. 2008; Domínguez et al. 2006; Duan et al. 2010; Elled, Davidsson, and Åmand 2010; M. Belén Folgueras, Díaz, and Xiberta 2005; M.B. Folgueras and Díaz 2010; M.Belén Folgueras et al. 2003; M.Belén Folgueras, María Díaz, and Xiberta 2004; Font, Fullana, and Conesa 2005; Font et al. 2001; Francisca Gómez-Rico et al. 2005; J. Han et al. 2012; X. Han et al. 2012; Helena Lopes et al. 2003; Hernandez et al. 2011; Horttanainen et al. 2010; Hossain, Strezov, and Nelson 2009; Inguanzo et al. 2002; Ischia et al. 2011; Ji et al. 2010; Jiang, Du, and Yang 2010; Judex, Gaiffi, and Burgbacher 2012; J.-K. Kim and Lee 2011; J. Kim and Lee 2010; H.-S. Lee and Bae 2009; Li et al. 2009; Lin and Ma 2012; Ma et al. 2011; J. a Menéndez, Inguanzo, and Pis 2002; J. a. Menéndez et al. 2005; J. a. Menéndez et al. 2004; Mun, Kang, and Kim 2009; Murakami et al. 2009; Muthuraman, Namioka, and Yoshikawa 2010; Nadziakiewicz and Kozioł 2003; Nielsen et al. 2011; Nilsson, Gómez-Barea, and Cano 2012; Nowicki et al. 2010; M Otero, Dıez, et al. 2002; M Otero et al. 2010; Marta Otero et al. 2008; Othman et al. 2010; S.-W. Park and Jang 2011a; S.-W. Park and Jang 2011b; S.-J. Park et al. 2011; Plaza et al. 2009; Pokorna et al. 2009; Rodriguez et al. 2008; S. a. Scott et al. 2007; S. Scott et al. 2006; Sebestyén et al. 2011; Seggiani et al. 2012; Solimene et al. 2010; Soria-Verdugo et al. 2013; Thipkhunthod et al. 2006; F.-J. Tian et al. 2002; Y. Tian et al. 2011; Toraman et al. 2004; Urciuolo et al. 2012; Vamvuka and Sfakiotakis 2011; Várhegyi, Sebestyén, and Czégény 2011; L. Wang et al. 2012; L. Wang et al. 2011; R. Wang et al. 2011; Wei, Schnell, and Hein 2005; Werther and Ogada 1999; Z. Wu et al. 2012; Wzorek 2012; Han-min Xiao, Ma, and Lai 2009; Hanmin Xiao, Ma, and Liu 2010; Yang et al. 2008; Zhai et al. 2011; J. Zhang et al. 2013; Q. Zhang et al. 2012)
	A-1	B-1	C-1	D-1	E1-1	E2-1	F-1
Na ₂ O	0.07	0.07	0.19	0.05	0.06	0.05	0.27
MgO	0.87	0.94	0.75	0.61	0.40	0.49	0.71
Al_2O_3	3.23	0.84	2.54	2.80	0.40	0.58	3.77
SiO ₂	10.31	3.13	6.86	7.76	1.56	2.33	8.38
P_2O_5	1.79	2.74	1.12	1.87	0.91	1.57	1.44
SO ₃	1.23	1.77	1.53	0.72	0.56	0.60	2.15
Cl	0.17	0.14	0.17	0.09	0.07	0.11	0.65
K_2O	1.06	0.45	1.04	1.43	0.64	1.04	0.89
CaO	8.51	6.39	4.35	1.92	21.24	4.21	6.84
TiO ₂	0.32	0.17	0.29	0.27	0.07	0.12	0.41
V_2O_5	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.01
Cr_2O_3	0.04	0.02	0.02	0.06	0.01	0.02	0.44
MnO	0.05	0.04	0.03	0.04	0.01	0.02	0.04
Fe ₂ O ₃	2.34	3.06	2.57	2.14	0.58	1.01	2.77

Table 4.4 Inorganic element contents of sewage sludges used in this study (% by wt.)

It can be seen in Table 4.4 that Si and Ca are the most abundant inorganic elements in sewage sludges tested in this study. Moreover, Fe, K, S, P and Al are other inorganic elements that are found in high concentrations.

Inorganic elements found in ash are the precursor of the phenomena called "slagging and fouling". Slagging and fouling occur in combustion processes; therefore, potential of occurrence of these events in co-combustion of sewage sludge with another fuel is determined. Slagging is the deposit of bottom ash in the walls of reactor's combustion zone. It is mainly caused by melting of bottom ash and alkali metals which reduces the melting point of ash. On the other hand, fouling occurs due to the deposit of fly ash particles on heat exchanger surfaces in upper parts of the reactor where temperature is relatively colder (Teixeira et al. 2012).

Slagging and Fouling indices in this study are calculated by using compositions given in Table 4.5. Slagging indices which are used in this study are "base to acid ratio" (B/A), "iron calcium ratio" (I/C) and "sulfur ratio" (Rs). Total Alkalis (TA), Na₂O ratio (Rf) and Fouling index (Fu) are indices which represent fouling tendency of samples (Park and Jang, 2011a). The slagging and fouling indices are calculated for sludge samples taken from different wastewater treatment plants.

An example calculation of slagging and fouling indices for sludge sample A-1 is illustrated below:

$$Base to Acid Ratio (B/A) = \frac{Fe_2O_3 + CaO + MgO + K_2O + Na_2O + P_2O_5}{Al_2O_3 + SiO_2 + TiO_2}$$
$$= \frac{2.34 + 8.51 + 0.87 + 1.06 + 0.07 + 1.79}{3.23 + 10.31 + 0.32} = 1.1$$
$$Iron - Calcium Ratio (I/C) = \frac{Fe_2O_3}{CaO} = \frac{2.34}{8.51} = 0.3$$
$$Sulfur Ratio (S) = (B/A)xS = 1.1x1.23 = 1.3$$
$$Total Alkalis (TA) = Na_2O + K_2O = 0.07 + 1.06 = 1.1$$
$$Na_2O Ratio (Rf) = (B/A)xNa_2O = 1.1x0.07 = 0.1$$
$$Fu = (B/A)x(Na_2O + K_2O) = 1.1x1.1 = 1.2$$

Illustration above shows the use of relevant formula for the determination of slagging-fouling indices of Sample A-1. This procedure was applied for all samples whose elemental compositions are given in Table 4.4. Results of such calculations along with the reference levels for low, medium and high slagging and fouling indices are listed in Table 4.5.

Table 4.5 Slagging and fouling indices of sewage sludge samples

Slagging Fouling Indices of Sewage Sludge Samples						Limit Values(Park and Jang, 2011a)				
	A-1	B-1	C-1	D-1	E1-1	E2-1	F-1	Low	Medium	High
B/A	1.1	3.3	1.0	0.7	11.7	2.8	1.0	<0.5	0.5 <b a<1<="" td=""><td>>1</td>	>1
								<0.31 or		
I/C	0.3	0.5	0.6	1.1	0.0	0.2	0.4	>3	<10.3 <i c<3<="" td=""><td>≠1</td></i>	≠1
S	1.3	5.8	1.6	0.5	6.6	1.7	2.2	<0.6	0.6 <rs<2< td=""><td>>2</td></rs<2<>	>2
TA	1.1	0.5	1.2	1.5	0.7	1.1	1.2	< 0.3	0.3 <ta<0.4< td=""><td>>0.4</td></ta<0.4<>	>0.4
Rf	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.7	0.1	0.3	< 0.2	0.2 <rf<0.5< td=""><td>< 0.5</td></rf<0.5<>	< 0.5
Fu	1.2	1.7	1.3	1.1	8.2	3.0	1.2	≤0.6	-	0.6 <fu≤40< td=""></fu≤40<>

Table 4.5 shows that all sewage sludge samples have moderate to high slagging and fouling tendency when compared to limit values. Base to acid ratio (B/A) of all samples are higher than "high" class, except from sample D-1. In terms of iron to calcium ratio (I/C), three samples have low grade and remaining samples have moderate grade. Sulfur ratio of D-1 sample have low propensity, A-1, C-1 and E2-1 have moderate and B-1, E1-1 and F-1 have high grade. Amount of total alkalis in all samples have higher than "high" limit value. Also, fouling index of all samples are higher than "high class" limit value. Therefore, it can be summarized that indices presented in this study imply that use of sewage sludge in combustion processes can have negative impact. This result actually supports conclusions which are summarized in literature review, Section 2.3.3. Therefore, it can be concluded that composition of sewage sludge ash is a limiting factor on its use in combustion processes. In co-combustion process of sewage sludge and coal, ash composition of sewage sludge could

prevent its use in excess amounts. This issue has to be critically considered when determining the quantity of sludge to be used as additive fuel.

4.2. Co-combustion of Sewage Sludge and Coal

In this set of experiments, the effect of sewage sludge addition on the efficiency of coal combustion is determined. In order to reveal the effect of sludge addition, first only coal samples were combusted in the reactor. Then, sewage sludge and coal mixtures with varying degrees of sludge addition were used in the combustion reactor. All different types of sludge samples were added at 3%, 5%, 10%, 20% and 30% fractions to coal, based on calorific values that make 1000 calories in total. As a result, change in combustion efficiency was calculated.

In order to determine the efficiency of combustion process, mass balance on carbon is conducted. The success of each combustion experiment is determined by calculating the amount of carbon which transforms into carbon dioxide.

First step of creating a mass balance is to determine how much carbon is introduced into the reactor in each set of experiment. The calculated values are given in Table 4.6.

				2		
	0%*	3%*	5%*	10%*	20%*	30%*
A-1 (gr)	0.1041	0.1044	0.1046	0.1051	0.1060	0.1070
B-1 (gr)	0.1041	0.1042	0.1043	0.1044	0.1047	0.1051
C-1 (gr)	0.1041	0.1042	0.1042	0.1044	0.1046	0.1049
D-1 (gr)	0.1041	0.1042	0.1042	0.1043	0.1046	0.1048
E1-1 (gr)	0.1041	0.1047	0.1051	0.1060	0.1080	0.1099
E2-1 (gr)	0.1041	0.1041	0.1041	0.1041	0.1041	0.1042
F-1 (gr)	0.1041	0.1043	0.1044	0.1048	0.1055	0.1062
			0.01			

Table 4.6 Amount of carbon introduced into reactor by different fuel mixtures

* Ratio of sewage sludge in fuel mixtures; 0% represents batches which contain no sewage sludge; 30% indicates mixtures prepared by 30% sludge and 70% of coal.

Amount of coal and sewage sludge used in the experiments were listed in Table 3.10. By using the data in this table, carbon contents in each sample was calculated and are given in Table 4.6. Then, if the fraction of carbon which transforms into carbon dioxide (CO_2) and carbon monoxide (CO) is calculated, then the efficiency of carbon combustion in the experiments can be determined.

The procedure to calculate the amount of carbon which has been transformed into carbon monoxide and carbon dioxide is given in Section 3.4.3. An example figure showing the results of triplicate batch combustion experiments can be seen in Figure 4.6. Graphical representations of triplicate experiments which are conducted in each set of experiments are given in Appendix A. An example calculation is performed to illustrate the procedure is given in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.6 Result of co-combustion of coal with 3% A-1 sludge

In this graphical representation, change in O_2 and CO_2 are shown on the left hand side of the graph. The flue gas analyzer measures these gases as % by volume basis. On the other hand, CO, NO, NO₂ and SO₂ profiles which are measured in ppm unit are shown on the right hand side of the graph. Measurements of flue gas composition are performed in every two seconds; therefore profiles of gaseous products are plotted with respect to time.

It can be seen in Appendix A that as soon as pellets are dropped into the reactor, there is a sharp decrease in oxygen concentration in the reactor and increase in carbon monoxide and carbon dioxide. On the average, oxygen level is dropped immediately to 10%, carbon dioxide rises around 5-10%. Concentration of carbon monoxide depends on the sludge additive in mixtures, it can be around 1000 ppm when sewage sludge percentage is 3-5%. On the other hand, it could go up to 6000 ppm when mixtures with 30% sewage sludge is burned. The first region in combustion experiments last 30-40 seconds, then carbon monoxide formation stops and carbon dioxide and oxygen levels gradually go back to atmospheric values.

One reason behind this two-step combustion could be the nature of sewage sludge and coal. First region where carbon monoxide formation occurs could be the result of rapid devolatilization of volatile matter present in sewage sludge. When devolatilization ends, char in sewage sludge and coal can start to be burned in a more stable medium.

Another possible reason could be the temperature difference between reactor and pellets at the beginning of experiments. As soon as sample is introduced to the reactor, rapid heating of pellet occurs in the reactor. Therefore, as sample is heated, conditions of incomplete combustion could be satisfied. This could be further supported by the fact that time passed during the first step of combustion in each experiments are quite similar. Since mass of pellets

are also very similar to each other, as it can be seen in Table 3.10, the time required for heating of pellets should be close to each other.

The first step of determination of combustion efficiency is to determine the mass of carbon transformed into carbon dioxide and carbon monoxide. The following formula is used.

where, M_{carbon}: mass of carbon (g) Q_{analyzer}: Flow rate of analyzer (L/s) t: time (second) P_{analyzer}: Pressure (atm) R: Ideal gas constant (L.atm/K/mole) T: Temperature (Kelvin)

Equation 4.1 allows for calculation of amount of carbon in the form of oxides. The first part of the equation calculates CO and the second part of the equation calculates CO_2 . Summation of the two gives total carbon. Since combustion experiments were carried in triplicate tests, the calculations shown above were done three times and results were averaged.

For the sample result given in Figure 4.6 (Sample A-1), detailed calculations for the carbon content detected in the flue gas are shown below:

 $\frac{M_{carbon}}{M_{carbon from CO_2}(M_{carbon from CO_2})(M_{carbon $$f_{carbon} = \frac{0.100925 + 0.105844 + 0.109471}{3} + \frac{0.000966 + 0.000759 + 0.001114}{3}$$

$$M_{carbon} = 0.1064 \ gr$$

Similar calculations were conducted for other samples/ experiments and the results are given in Table 4.7.

combustion experiments (%)								
	0%*	3%*	5%*	10%*	20%*	30%*		
A-1 (gr)	87.5	101.9	96.5	96.5	95.1	96.4		
B-1 (gr)	87.5	101.9	92.2	93.5	99.2	95.2		
C-1 (gr)	87.5	105.6	98.9	99.1	99.9	111.9		
D-1 (gr)	87.5	105.1	101.9	100.5	96.1	104.7		
E1-1 (gr)	87.5	100.2	105.4	108.8	101.6	98.5		
E2-1 (gr)	87.5	95.5	100.7	106.4	98.2	94.8		
F-1 (gr)	87.5	92.0	101.1	112.2	102.7	99.3		
* Ratio of sewage sludge in fuel mixtures: 0% represents batches which contain no sewage								

Table 4.7 Percentage of carbon that is captured as carbon monoxide and carbon dioxide in combustion experiments (%)

* Ratio of sewage sludge in fuel mixtures; 0% represents batches which contain no sewage sludge; 30% indicates mixtures prepared with 30% sludge and 70% coal.

When the example procedure is iterated for all experiments, percentage of carbon that is captured as carbon monoxide and carbon dioxide can be calculated by using values in Table 4.7. As it can be seen in Table 4.7, carbon balance holds within $\pm 10\%$ error.

The efficiency of the carbon combustion is defined as the ratio of carbon leaving the system as carbon monoxide to total amount of carbon which is introduced into the system. Carbon monoxide is the indicator of incomplete combustion and it can be inferred that combustion efficiency is reduced when carbon monoxide production increases.

Therefore, combustion efficiency is defined with the following equation;

 $\frac{Combustion\ efficiency(\%) = 1 - }{\frac{Carbon\ showing\ as\ carbon\ monoxide\ in\ the\ flue\ gas}{Carbon\ which\ is\ captured\ as\ carbon\ monoxide+carbon\ dioxide}} x100 \qquad Eq.\ 4.2.$

For the example given in Figure 4.6 for the sample A-1, the above calculation will have the following form:

Combustion efficiency(%) =
$$1 - \frac{0.000946}{0.1064} \times 100 = 99.096$$

Results of calculated combustion efficiencies are shown in Figure 4.7.



* Ratio of sewage sludge in fuel mixtures; 0% represents batches which contain no sewage sludge; 30% indicates mixtures prepared by 30% of sludge and 70% of coal.



It can be observed from Figure 4.7 that coal replacement with sewage sludge causes carbon monoxide formation, which is the indication of incomplete combustion. In some cases a critical point is observed, for instance, for sludge samples C-1 and D-1, sludge additions of more than 5% results an increase in carbon monoxide formation. In A-1, B-1 and F-1, no critical point is observed. However, increase of sludge ratio in mixtures gradually decreases combustion efficiency. In some cases there are some results which contradict the expectations. In E1-1 and E2-1, profiles in Figure 4.7 suggest that there is a point where carbon monoxide formation reaches a local minimum, however it cannot be the case. These results indicate there may be an experimental error. Nevertheless, both cases imply that addition of this sludge to coal in amount more than 20% decreases combustion efficiency.

It should be noted that combustion efficiencies obtained in this study is only applicable to this experimental setup. Different experimental setups, lab-scale of pilot scale as well as full scale applications could yield different efficiencies of sewage sludge combustion. For instance, example study summarized in Section 2.3.2 reports that more than 1% sewage sludge addition as additive fuel for coal for a given full scale thermal power plant results in reduced combustion efficiency. On the other hand, Lee et al. (2007) reports that nearly 100% combustion efficiency is achieved in a lab-scale fluidized bed reactor even in mono combustion of sewage sludge, once operating conditions for sewage sludge combustion is optimized (Lee et al. 2007). The experimental set-up and reactor conditions used in this study yields a maximum of 99.7 % combustion efficiency without any sludge addition as can be seen from Figure 4.7.

In summary, it can be concluded that given a combustion system which is optimized for coal, co-combustion of sewage sludge and coal reduces the combustion efficiency when sewage

sludge is used in increasing amounts. The point where sewage sludge addition upsets combustion efficiency depends on the type of sludge since it is observed in this study that different flue gas compositions are achieved with different fuel mixtures.

Mass balances on nitrogen and sulfur are also conducted in this study. For the example given in Figure 4.6 for Sample A-1 the calculation procedures for sulfur and nitrogen are demonstrated below:

$$M_{Sulfur} = 2.86Q_{analyzer} 32/64 \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{end}} Conc. of SO_2(ppm) dt$$
 Eq. 4.3.

where,

M_{sulfur}: mass of sulfur (g) Q_{analyzer}: Flow rate of analyzer (L/s) t: time (second) 2.86: constant for changing concentration of SO₂ from ppm to mg/Nm³ 32/64: Ratio of Molecular Weight of Sulfur and SO₂

$$\frac{M_{Sulfur}}{=\frac{(M_{sulfur\,from\,SO_2})_{experiment1} + (M_{sulfur\,from\,SO_2})_{experiment2} + (M_{sulfur\,from\,SO_2})_{experiment3}}{3}$$

$$M_{Sulfur} = \frac{0.000221 + 0.000364 + 0.000418}{3} = 0.000334$$

For nitrogen determination;

$$\begin{split} M_{nitrogen} &= 2.056 Q_{analyzer} 14/46 \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{end}} Conc. of \ NO_2(ppm) \ dt + 1.34 Q_{analyzer} 14/\\ 30 \int_{t_{start}}^{t_{end}} Conc. of \ NO(ppm) \ dt \end{split}$$
 Eq. 4.4.

where,

M_{nitrogen}: mass of nitrogen (g) Q_{analyzer}: Flow rate of analyzer (L/s) t: time (second) 2.056: constant for changing concentration of NO₂ from ppm to mg/Nm³ 14/46: Ratio of Molecular Weight of Nitrogen and NO₂ 1.34: constant for changing concentration of NO from ppm to mg/Nm³ 14/30: Ratio of Molecular Weight of Nitrogen and NO

$$M_{nitrogen} = \frac{0.0000641 + 0.0000660 + 0.0000550}{3} + \frac{0.000408 + 0.000471 + 0.000483}{3} = 0.000516$$

Same as carbon balance, result of mass balances that are conducted on nitrogen and sulfur are listed in Table 4.8 and Table 4.9, respectively.

	0%*	3%*	5%*	10%*	20%*	30%*	
A-1	11.8	13.7	13.5	10.8	7.4	6.2	
B-1	11.8	13.6	13.2	10.3	9.0	4.7	
C-1	11.8	14.1	13.7	11.0	7.3	4.7	
D-1	11.8	13.9	14.9	11.6	7.1	5.8	
E1-1	11.8	15.0	16.4	12.7	7.9	5.6	
E2-1	11.8	13.7	12.8	10.0	6.5	4.2	
F-1	11.8	13.1	18.2	15.0	14.1	4.6	

Table 4.8 Percentage of nitrogen converted to NO_x in combustion experiments (%)

* Ratio of sewage sludge in fuel mixtures; 0% represents batches which contain no sewage sludge; 30% indicates mixtures prepared with 30% sludge and 70% coal.

Table 4.9 Percentage of sulfur converted to SO₂ in combustion experiments (%)

	0%*	3%*	5%*	10%*	20%*	30%*
A-1	25.3	30.5	30.1	27.9	16.7	13.8
B-1	25.3	36.1	42.1	43.6	35.5	34.7
C-1	25.3	34.6	24.2	39.2	29.0	42.5
D-1	25.3	43.0	46.1	43.0	30.4	34.1
E1-1	25.3	19.1	25.7	39.5	16.9	16.7
E2-1	25.3	7.3	41.1	45.1	40.5	27.7
F-1	25.3	13.9	75.3	88.2	103.9	29.3

* Ratio of sewage sludge in fuel mixtures; 0% represents batches which contain no sewage sludge; 30% indicates mixtures prepared with 30% sludge and 70% coal.

It can be seen in Table 4.8 and 4.9 that amount of nitrogen and sulfur oxidized is fairly low as compared to nitrogen and sulfur content in samples used in experiments. Nitrogen and sulfur balance did not hold for the experiments. In addition, there is no profile which represents the effect of sludge addition on oxides of sulfur and nitrogen formation, i.e. sulfur and nitrogen oxide concentrations appear to be constant almost in all cases.

Possible reasons for this result could be the amount of fuel mixtures used in experiments. In average, 0.15 gr pellets are burned and resultant SO_2 and NO_x are very low considering sulfur and nitrogen content of sewage sludge and coal samples. Attempt of creating a mass balance for very small amounts of sulfur and nitrogen could be one of the possible reasons of failure in mass balance. Gas analyzer may not measure emissions accurately. SO_2 and NO_x may be condensed during moisture trap in gas conditioning section of the flue gas analyzer, PGD-100. Also, there is a possibility of reactions between nitrogen oxides and unburned hydrocarbons. Nevertheless, experimental setup used in this study was not successful to observe the effect of sludge addition on SO_2 and NO_x formation in co-combustion experiments.

4.3. Kinetic Study of Thermogravimetric Analysis of Sewage Sludge Samples

Thermogravimetric analysis is used to understand kinetic characteristics of sewage sludge combustion. In this study, samples are heated in predetermined heating programs in a TGA and change in mass and temperature of sample is observed.

As explained in Section 3.3.2.1., mass losses of samples are normalized with respect to initial weight of samples and result is called as "extent of conversion". Consequently, profiles of mass loss with respect to time are obtained on this basis. Figure 4.8 illustrates an example of mass loss profile. Remaining profiles are given in Appendix B.



Figure 4.8 Mass loss profiles of sample A-1 in TGA experiments at different heating rates

It can be seen in Figure 4.8 that the extent of conversion is zero at the beginning of experiments. It proceeds and when combustible part of sewage sludge is burned out, extent of conversion reaches unity. The mass loss rate of the sample depends on the heating rate. When the sample is heated at a rate of 32 °C per minute, the complete conversion of the sample occurs in roughly 1500 seconds. However, it takes 9000 seconds for complete conversion of the sample at a heating rate of 4 °C per minute.

Temperature of the sample is another parameter which is constantly monitored by a thermocouple located in close to the sample. Although sample is heated in a constant temperature rise program, the real heating rate observed in the sample generally deviates and makes fluctuations from the heating rate programmed. An example is shown in Figure 4.9 while remaining profiles are given in Appendix B.



Figure 4.9 Heating rates of sample A-1 in TGA experiments

Figure 4.9 shows that the heating rate of the sample is not constant. It can have higher or lower values from the heating rate programmed indicating that exothermic or endothermic reactions take place in the sample.

Rate of reactions during experiments are determined using the procedure given in Section 3.3.2.1. An example of reaction rate with respect to time in experiments is given in Figure 4.10. Rest of the reaction rate profiles are given in Appendix B.



Figure 4.10 Reaction rates of sample A-1 in TGA experiments

Since four heating rates are applied to the sample, 4 different curves are obtained for mass losses with respect to time. In general, comparison of these profiles indicates that the rate of mass loss which has occurred in the sample is not constant. Initial rates are very fast and as time progresses, the rates gradually decrease. When the heating rate is e.g. 32 C/min, the initial reaction rate is the highest. As heating rate decreases, initial reaction rates also decrease and then stops at the end of the reaction. This also means that the particle is burned out. The first peaks in the curves represent the combustion of volatile matter, and later on the other peaks represent the combustion of char, etc.

Results of all TGA analysis where experimental conditions are explained in Section 3.3.3., are given in Appendix B. Mass loss, sample heating rate and reaction rates of each experiment are included in Appendix B.

4.3.1. Activation Energy Calculation

Activation energy of reaction is calculated according to the procedure which is explained in Section 3.3.3.1. Results of activation energy calculations are shown in Figure 4.11. Also, coefficient of correlation regarding activation energy calculation is given in Figure 4.12.7



Figure 4.11 Change of activation energy of sewage sludge samples with extent of conversion



Figure 4.12 Coefficient of correlations obtained in activation energy calculations



Figure 4.13 P-values which correspond to values of coefficient of correlation obtained in activation energy calculations

Figure 4.11 show that activation energy of sewage sludge samples can have different values. Values vary between 40 kJ/mole and 350 kJ/mole. While A-1, C-1 and D-1 samples have similar trends; E2-1 and F-1 have unique particular profiles. Sample E1-1 and B-1, on the other hand, have similarities over some regions.

Figure 4.12 shows the coefficient of correlation obtained in activation energy calculation. Figure 4.13 shows the accuracy of values of degree of linearization obtained in activation energy calculation. Therefore, Figure 4.12 and Figure 4.13 need to be examined together. It should be kept in mind that any coefficient of correlation which has the P-value higher than 0.05 has no statistical meaning. Therefore, correspondent activation energy value is not statistically useful. Regions where correlation coefficient close to unity also has P-values lower than 0.05 have statistically meaningful activation energy values. Results show that nearly in all experiments, activation energy calculation is correctly determined for the region of 0.010 - 0.400 in terms of extent of conversion. That means, it is correctly calculated for the first half of experiments. An error shows up after this point and reduces degree of linearization to 0.8 and P-values increase more than 0.05 in average. The reason behind this result might be due to change in type of reactions taking place in combustion of samples. Decrease in the rate of mass loss in experiments which occurs in later part of experiments might cause interferences in measuring temperature or weight of sample. Thus, this can result in lower values of coefficient of correlation and subsequently higher P-values.

Activation energies of all samples determined in this study ranges between 30 - 360 kJ/mole, which are comparable with the values reviewed in Section 2.5.

4.3.2. Calculation of Reaction Rate

As it is explained in Section 3.3.3.2, reaction rates measured in TG experiments are tried to be estimated. Results of reaction rate calculation are given in Figure 4.14 - 4.20.



Figure 4.14 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values with calculated values for sample A-1 (* indicates calculated values)



Figure 4.15 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values with calculated values for sample B-1 (* indicates calculated values)



Figure 4.16 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values with calculated values for sample C-1 (* indicates calculated values)



Figure 4.17 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values with calculated values for sample D-1 (* indicates calculated values)



Figure 4.18 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values with calculated values for sample E1-1 (* indicates calculated values)



Figure 4.19 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values with calculated values for sample E2-1 (* indicates calculated values)



Figure 4.20 Change of reaction rate with extent of conversion- comparison of measured values with calculated values for sample F-1 (* indicates calculated values)

As it is described in Section 3.3.3.2 reaction rate values obtained from experimental data are fitted. However, there are some cases where calculated reaction rates do not fit the experimental data. In general, profiles of reaction rates which belong to heating rates of 4 °C/min and 8 °C/min are successfully fitted. However, errors between the model calculations and the experimental values grow bigger in other heating rates, namely 16 °C/min and 32°C/min. Therefore, it can be inferred that increase in heating rates of the samples definitely have some impact on rates of reactions during experiments. This observation can also be proved by comparing sample heating rates, which are given Appendix B. It can be seen in Appendix B that although temperature program is kept constant, i.e., sample is heated at a constant rate (4, 8, 16, 32 °C), temperature rise in the sample. Moreover, higher temperature deviations are seen in higher heating rates. This was also observed by Vyazvokin et al. (2011) with a recommendation that <u>"temperature deviation should be eliminated by using smaller sample size or lower heating rates, or using kinetic analysis methods which considers deviation of temperature."</u>

Although the method used in this study is suitable to take account these differences, lower success rate was obtained in fitting of reaction rates to a model at higher heating rates. This brings a question that physical condition of experiment affects the kinetic triplet which is supposed to describe a "chemical" reaction. This is a problem for which an alternative approach is given in the literature. The term "apparent" activation energy is created to be used in the field of thermal analysis. This term refers to an empirical, experiment oriented activation energy, rather than an energy barrier of the rate limiting step.(Andrew K. Galwey 2004) Therefore, results of our study given above can also be used as an example of activation energies representing empirical values which is specific to the experiment. In this case,

activation energies given in Figure 4.11 are specific to experiments with heating rates of 4 and 8 °C/min. Activation energies for other two heating rates are close to the first ones but different than previous case with some deviations in reaction rates.

Therefore, it can be concluded that when all experimental conditions are kept similar (with exception of heating rates; it should be kept close to each other) resultant activation energy reflects these set of experimental conditions. Also, different activation energies for the same sample can be obtained by changing the experimental conditions in a controlled program. Effect of change in mass of the sample, gas flow rate, set of heating rates etc. on "apparent" activation energies could be identified with different experimentation.

4.3.3. Determination of Reaction Model and Frequency Factor

The last step of kinetic study is determination of reaction model and corresponding frequency factor. In addition to the Section 3.3.3.3 where procedure is given, an illustration on sample A-1 is given below.

As it is listed in Table 3.8 that there are four kinds of reaction models; **nucleation** models which are represented as A and P, **geometrical contraction** models which are represented as R, **diffusion** models which are represented as D and **reaction order** models which are represented as F. Numbers next to the abbreviation of reaction models indicate the type of such a reaction model. For instance; F1 indicates first order reaction model and R2 indicates contraction area (i.e. 2-dimensional geometrical contraction). Therefore, the aim of this section is to find the best matching reaction model for combustion of sewage sludge samples.

The first step of reaction model and frequency factor determination is to obtain such a relationship for all samples;

$$intercept = lnA + lnf(a)$$
 Eq. 4.5.

Intercept values are obtained during activation energy calculation; in case of sample A-1, intercept values are given in Figure 4.21.



Figure 4.21 Intercept values obtained during activation energy calculation of sample A-1

As it can be seen in Table 3.8, 16 reaction models have different forms, therefore, for each reaction model there will be a different frequency factor. As a result, 16 pairs of reaction models and frequency factors are obtained.

Activation energy and candidate reaction models– frequency factor pairs are determined. Next step is to determine which reaction model – frequency factor is the most suitable pair. In order to test reaction model – frequency factor pairs, following equation is utilized.

$$t(a) = g(a)/Ae^{-Ea/RT}$$
(Vyazovkin et al. 2011) Eq. 4.6.

where,
t(α): time vector,
g(α): integral form of reaction model,
A: frequency factor,
Ea: activation energy,
R: ideal gas constant,
T: sample temperature.

There is also an ASTM standard (E1641-07, Standard Test Method for Decomposition Kinetics by Thermogravimetry) which utilizes Eq. 4.6 by defining $g(\alpha)$ as a first order reaction (ASTM E1641-07).

TGA experiments conducted on A-1 sample generate four different sample temperature profile according to the heating rates (4 °C/min, 8 °C/min, 16 °C/min, 32 °C/min). Also using these profiles, activation energy profile was previously determined. Therefore, according to reaction models – frequency factor pairs that were created, there are 16 different time vectors which

are candidates to explain a certain experiment. Result of experimental and calculated values for A-1 sample in 4 °C/min heating experiment is given in Figure 4.22.



Figure 4.22 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile for sample A-1 at 4 °C/min heating rate

In Figure 4.22 thick red line represents experimental data obtained in TGA analysis of Sample A-1 at 4 °C/min heating rate. Other lines are results of time vectors which are created from 16 reaction model – frequency factor pairs. Results of fitting other experimental data to the model are given in Appendix D.1.

As it can be seen in Figure 4.22 none of the reaction models can adequately describe mass loss profile. Same results are obtained for other trials (sludge samples and heating rates) which can be seen in Appendix D.1. Since it is a fact that multiple reactions take place in sewage sludge combustion, this is an expected result. Therefore, differential form of time vector data is fitted to differential form of time profile of the experiments.

Differential fitting is carried out by following a differentiation operation of vectors given in Appendix D.1. In case of example given in Figure 4.22, resultant profiles have the following form as given in Figure 4.23.



Figure 4.23 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of sample A-1 at 4 °C/min heating rate

Vectors given in Figure 4.23 is the differential form of vectors given in Figure 4.22. These profiles represent the time passed for incremental increase on extent of conversion. Therefore, differential data allow comparing the experimental results with cases in any selected range of conversion.

Closer look at the Figure 4.23 yields the observation that in some regions of extent of conversion, some reaction models can have better fits to the experimental data. This means that during combustion of the sample, different reaction models are applicable. In case of experiment on Sample A-1 at 4 °C/min heating rate, it can be seen that the extent of reaction over the region of 0.3 - 0.9, P2 model provides a satisfactory fit with the experimental data. A similar procedure is followed by Folgueras and Diaz (2013) for two different kinds of sewage sludge samples. However, identification of reaction model is tried to be found using the relationship;

$$\frac{d\alpha}{dT} - \ln f(\alpha) = \ln \frac{A}{\beta} - \frac{E}{RT}$$
 Eq.4.7.

Problem in this method is that reaction models listed in this study is tried to be inserted into Eq. 4.7 to obtain the best fit which is determined to be the "correct" reaction model. It is proposed that, given the set of reaction models, the one which yields highest coefficient of correlation is the correct form of reaction model; activation energy and frequency factor that correspond to that reaction model also hold. This approach is basically the same with "model fitting methods" which are proved to be inaccurate, as it is explained in Section 2.4.2. Therefore, the reaction order model, which are determined as the correct form are not accurate (M.B. Folgueras, Alonso, and Díaz 2013).

Results of differential fitting for other experiments are given in Appendix D.2. It can be seen in Appendix D.2 that the time required for the combustion in certain regions could be explained by different reaction models. In all cases, reaction order models (F0, F1, F2, and F3), diffusion models (D1, D2, D3, D4) and geometrical contraction models (R2, R3) failed to match with experimental data. On the other hand, nucleation models (P2, P3, P4, A2, A3, and A4) have good fits. There is also an observation that a form of diffusion models, D4, has a trend which has the best approximation to mass loss profiles at the beginning of experiments. Considering the region to 0,100 in the extent of reaction, there is a characteristic profile that all samples have. D4 also fits such a profile but it lies generally below the experimental data.

Results given in Appendix D.2 indicate that representative reaction models are not the same for experimental data of a sample. That is, considering a region of conversion for a sample, when different heating rates are applied, different reactions dominates during the mass loss. This indicates that heating rates change reactions which describe mass loss of the sample. Therefore, it can be concluded that it is not possible to predict behavior of these samples in actual combustion processes using TGA data alone. However, it is proved that type of reaction, activation energy and frequency factor of corresponding reactions which occur in combustion of sewage sludge samples in TGA setup can be determined by using the procedure which is presented in this study. This can be used to identify all factors which affects reactions and rates of such reactions that takes place to fully describe sewage sludge combustion.

Considering different sets of analysis used in this study, it can be concluded that nucleation processes give better fits for mass loss of sewage sludge samples as compared to other reaction rate models.

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS

Results of this study have shown that calorific values of sewage sludges on dry basis are close to the calorific values of Turkish lignite coals on the average. However, it is observed that calorific value of sewage sludge varies extensively, ranging between 1900 and 3800 cal/g. It is found that calorific value of sludge depends on different factors like treatment method, influent characteristics of wastewater, operating conditions etc. When two sewage sludge samples which come from different wastewater treatment plants having the same treatment process scheme are compared, the calorific values can be quite different. In addition to this, calorific value of sewage sludge samples change throughout an operating year even in the same wastewater treatment plant. Therefore, a comprehensive study which aims to clarify effects of wastewater/sludge treatment processes and their operating conditions on calorific value of produced sludge has been done in this study.

It was also found that volatile matter content can be used in estimating the calorific value of sewage sludge. Volatile matter is a parameter which is measured in wastewater treatment plants in a scheduled routine. As it is presented in this study, the empirical correlation between volatile matter and calorific value of sewage sludge can be used in wastewater treatment plants when a bomb calorimeter is not accessible to measure the calorific value directly.

Although the calorific value of sewage sludge reaches to acceptable levels in some cases, use of sewage sludge in combustion processes is limited due to its combustion and ash characteristics. Slagging and fouling intensity of sewage sludge determined in this study indicates that use of sewage sludge in co-combustion processes needs to be kept in small amounts. Presence of alkaline elements in the sludge gives high base to acid ratio, where base to acid ratio of all sludge samples range between 0.7 and 11.7. It should be noted that values higher than 1 corresponds to high tendency of slagging. Also, sulfur and phosphorus content of sewage sludge ash are high, which makes nearly of all of slagging and fouling indices higher than limit values.

Co-combustion experiments showed that use of sewage sludge in high percentages in the fuel mixture actually lowers the combustion efficiency. Coal combustion efficiency is about 99.7%. However, when mixtures of coal and sewage sludge (3, 5, 10, 20, 30% sewage sludge is added to coal) are combusted, lower combustion efficiencies are obtained as sewage sludge portion is increased in the mixtures. It was found that the efficiency is reduced to nearly 97% in some cases. Therefore, it would be best to consider the combustion process as a final disposal method for the sludge. Using the TGA analysis have shown that the kinetic triplet (activation energy, frequency factor and reaction model) of sludges can be determined to a certain extent using the method presented in this study, depending on the quality of data. This

method is an application of Friedman method with some modifications which are explained in Section 3.3. The second conclusion drawn from the TGA results in this study is that physical interferences (mass of sample, heating rate etc.) change the type of reactions that dominates during the loss of mass. This observation leads to the conclusion that kinetic triplet is specific to the set of experiments which are applied and cannot be extrapolated to make some predictions. Given the set of experimental conditions, it is revealed that data obtained in TGA analysis of sewage sludge combustion can be represented by nucleation processes with more accuracy as compared to other reaction models in case high quality data are available.

It should be stated as a limitation of this study that such a reaction model which describes an experiment from beginning to end could not be found. Fits of reaction models to experimental data are applicable to only some regions of conversion. This is due to the heterogeneity of the sludge samples and considered to be a natural finding. To investigate this, studies need to further continue using different experimental setups by changing the variables such as gas flow rate, mass of sample, condition of sample, heating rate, etc.

CHAPTER 6

FUTURE STUDIES AND RECOMMENDATIONS

- Quantitative determination of operating conditions of sludge stabilization process on calorific value of sewage sludge needs to be studied further. This study is limited to identify that there is a certain effect of sludge stabilization process on thermal characteristics of sewage sludge. Further investigations are needed to determine a relationship that describes the change in calorific value of sewage sludge as operating conditions of sludge stabilization process changes.
- This study investigates co-combustion of sewage sludge and coal in a prefixed reactor type and experimental setup. Studies to increase the combustion efficiency coal sewage sludge mixtures could be conducted. In this regard, different reactor types, experimental conditions can be studied.
- Qualitative comparison of activation energies obtained using different sets of experimental conditions of thermogravimetric analysis need to be done. This study describes a method to perform a kinetic analysis of thermal decomposition of a material. However, the method presented in this study relies on high quality data. Experimental errors are limiting factors on determining kinetic triplet. Therefore, experimental parameters can be changed to obtain data of better quality. Composition and flow rate of air, mass and condition of samples (pellets or loose material), set of heating rates, temperature intervals can be sequentially changed. Using such series of experimental setups. Also, the best experimental conditions which give the data of best quality can be determined.

REFERENCES

- Anthony, DB, and JB Howard. 2004. "Coal Devolatilization and Hydrogastification." AIChE Journal 22 (4): 625–656. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/aic.690220403/abstract.
- Appels, Lise, Jan Baeyens, Jan Degrève, and Raf Dewil. 2008. "Principles and Potential of the Anaerobic Digestion of Waste-activated Sludge." *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science* 34 (6) (December): 755–781. doi:10.1016/j.pecs.2008.06.002. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0360128508000312.
- Aranda Usón, Alfonso, Ana M. López-Sabirón, Germán Ferreira, and Eva Llera Sastresa. 2013. "Uses of Alternative Fuels and Raw Materials in the Cement Industry as Sustainable Waste Management Options." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 23 (July): 242–260. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2013.02.024. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1364032113001263.
- Azuara, M., I. Fonts, P. Barcelona, M.B. Murillo, and G. Gea. 2013. "Study of Catalytic Post-treatment of the Vapours from Sewage Sludge Pyrolysis by Means of γ-Al2O3." *Fuel* 107 (May): 113–121. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2013.02.017. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236113001051.
- Barbosa, Rui, Nuno Lapa, Dulce Boavida, Helena Lopes, Ibrahim Gulyurtlu, and Benilde Mendes. 2009. "Co-combustion of Coal and Sewage Sludge: Chemical and Ecotoxicological Properties of Ashes." *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 170 (2-3) (October 30): 902–9. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.05.053. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19515486.
- Biagini, Enrico, Federica Lippi, Luigi Petarca, and Leonardo Tognotti. 2002. "Devolatilization Rate of Biomasses and Coal-biomass Blends: An Experimental Investigation." *Fuel* 81 (8) (May): 1041–1050. doi:10.1016/S0016-2361(01)00204-6. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236101002046.
- Boran, J., L. Houdkova, V. Ucekaj, and P. Stehlik. 2008. "Utilization of Energy from Thermal Treatment of Sludge." *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal* 19 (4): 433–443. doi:10.1108/14777830810878623. http://www.emeraldinsight.com/10.1108/14777830810878623.
- Borghi, Roland, and Michel Destriau. 1998. Combustion and Flames: Chemical and Physical Principles.
- Brown, ME, M Maciejewski, and S Vyazovkin. 2000. "Computational Aspects of Kinetic Analysis: Part A: The ICTAC Kinetics Project-data, Methods and Results." *Thermochimica* ... 355. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040603100004433.

- Burnham, Alan K., and Robert L. Braun. 1999. "Global Kinetic Analysis of Complex Materials." *Energy & Fuels* 13 (1) (January): 1–22. doi:10.1021/ef9800765. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef9800765.
- Caballero, José a., and Juan a. Conesa. 2005. "Mathematical Considerations for Nonisothermal Kinetics in Thermal Decomposition." *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 73 (1) (March): 85–100. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2004.12.003. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0165237005000045.
- Calvo, L F, M E Sánchez, A Morán, and A I García. 2004. "TG-MS AS A TECHNIQUE FOR A BETTER MONITOR- ING OF THE PYROLYSIS, GASIFICATION AND COMBUSTION OF TWO KINDS OF SEWAGE SLUDGE" 78: 587–598.
- Calvo, L.F., M. Otero, B.M. Jenkins, a.I. García, and a. Morán. 2004. "Heating Process Characteristics and Kinetics of Sewage Sludge in Different Atmospheres." *Thermochimica Acta* 409 (2) (January): 127–135. doi:10.1016/S0040-6031(03)00359-9. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0040603103003599.
- Cao, Jing-Pei, Liu-Yun Li, Kayoko Morishita, Xian-Bin Xiao, Xiao-Yan Zhao, Xian-Yong Wei, and Takayuki Takarada. 2013. "Nitrogen Transformations During Fast Pyrolysis of Sewage Sludge." *Fuel* 104 (February): 1–6. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2010.08.015. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S001623611000431X.
- Casajus, C., J. Abrego, F. Marias, J. Vaxelaire, J.L. Sánchez, and a. Gonzalo. 2009. "Product Distribution and Kinetic Scheme for the Fixed Bed Thermal Decomposition of Sewage Sludge." *Chemical Engineering Journal* 145 (3) (January): 412–419. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2008.08.033. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1385894708005615.
- Chen, Guohua, Po Lock Yue, and AS Mujumdar. 2002. "Sludge Dewatering and Drying." *Drying Technology* 20 (4&5): 883–916. http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1081/DRT-120003768.
- Chen, Hongfang, Tomoaki Namioka, and Kunio Yoshikawa. 2011. "Characteristics of Tar, NOx Precursors and Their Absorption Performance with Different Scrubbing Solvents During the Pyrolysis of Sewage Sludge." *Applied Energy* 88 (12) (December): 5032– 5041. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2011.07.007. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0306261911004521.
- Christensen, GL. 1987. "Lime Stabilization of Wastewater Sludge." *Lime for Environmental Use in ASTM STP*. http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=s6Hdybgj2gQC&oi=fnd&pg=PA78&d q=Lime+Stabilization+for+Wastewater+Sludges&ots=rQp1ZTOgfT&sig=Ssyp6Ch_2 QnuaQzHEaoIm2chrZA.
- Chun, Young Nam, Seong Cheon Kim, and Kunio Yoshikawa. 2011. "Pyrolysis Gasification of Dried Sewage Sludge in a Combined Screw and Rotary Kiln Gasifier." *Applied Energy* 88 (4) (April): 1105–1112. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2010.10.038. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S030626191000440X.

Coats, AW, and JP Redfern. 1964. "Kinetic Parameters from Thermogravimetric Data." *Nature* 201: 68–69. http://www.nature.com/nature/journal/v201/n4914/abs/201068a0.html.

 —. 1965. "Kinetic Parameters from Thermogravimetric Data. II." *Journal of Polymer Science Part B*: ... 1: 917–920. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/pol.1965.110031106/full.

- Conesa, J.a., R. Font, a. Fullana, I. Martín-Gullón, I. Aracil, a. Gálvez, J. Moltó, and M.F. Gómez-Rico. 2009. "Comparison Between Emissions from the Pyrolysis and Combustion of Different Wastes." *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 84 (1) (January): 95–102. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2008.11.022. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0165237008001897.
- David L. Urban, Michael J. Antal, Jr. 1982. "A Study of the Kinetics of Sewage Sludge Pyrolysis Using DSC and TGA." *Fuel* 61 (9): 799–806.
- Deng, Wenyi, Jianhua Yan, Xiaodong Li, Fei Wang, Yong Chi, and Shengyong Lu. 2009. "Emission Characteristics of Dioxins, Furans and Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons During Fluidized-bed Combustion of Sewage Sludge." *Journal of Environmental Sciences* 21 (12) (January): 1747–1752. doi:10.1016/S1001-0742(08)62483-3. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1001074208624833.
- Domínguez, a, Y Fernández, B Fidalgo, J J Pis, and J a Menéndez. 2008. "Bio-syngas Production with Low Concentrations of CO2 and CH4 from Microwave-induced Pyrolysis of Wet and Dried Sewage Sludge." *Chemosphere* 70 (3) (January): 397–403. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.06.075. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17692361.
- Domínguez, a, J a Menéndez, M Inguanzo, and J J Pís. 2006. "Production of Bio-fuels by High Temperature Pyrolysis of Sewage Sludge Using Conventional and Microwave Heating." *Bioresource Technology* 97 (10) (July): 1185–93. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2005.05.011. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16473008.
- Doyle, CD. 1961. "Kinetic Analysis of Thermogravimetric Data." Journal of Applied Polymer Science V (15): 285–292. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/app.1961.070051506/abstract.
- Duan, Yufeng, Changsui Zhao, Yunjun Wang, and Chengjun Wu. 2010. "Mercury Emission from Co-combustion of Coal and Sludge in a Circulating Fluidized-Bed Incinerator †." *Energy & Fuels* 24 (1) (January 21): 220–224. doi:10.1021/ef900565c. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef900565c.
- Ebrahimi-Kahrizsangi, R, and MH Abbasi. 2008. "Evaluation of Reliability of Coats-Redfern Method for Kinetic Analysis of Non-isothermal TGA." *Trans. of Nonferrous Metals Society of China* 18: 217–221. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1003632608600394.
- Elled, a.L., K.O. Davidsson, and L.E. Åmand. 2010. "Sewage Sludge as a Deposit Inhibitor When Co-fired with High Potassium Fuels." *Biomass and Bioenergy* 34 (11) (November): 1546–1554. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.05.003. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0961953410001698.

- Ferrasse, J.H, S Chavez, P Arlabosse, and N Dupuy. 2003. "Chemometrics as a Tool for the Analysis of Evolved Gas During the Thermal Treatment of Sewage Sludge Using Coupled TG–FTIR." *Thermochimica Acta* 404 (1-2) (September): 97–108. doi:10.1016/S0040-6031(03)00064-9. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0040603103000649.
- Folgueras, M. Belén, R. María Díaz, and Jorge Xiberta. 2005. "Pyrolysis of Blends of Different Types of Sewage Sludge with One Bituminous Coal." *Energy* 30 (7) (June): 1079–1091. doi:10.1016/j.energy.2004.08.001. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0360544204003548.
- Folgueras, M.B., M. Alonso, and R.M. Díaz. 2013. "Influence of Sewage Sludge Treatment on Pyrolysis and Combustion of Dry Sludge." *Energy* 55 (June): 426–435. doi:10.1016/j.energy.2013.03.063. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0360544213002594.
- Folgueras, M.B., and R.M. Díaz. 2010. "Influence of FeCl3 and Lime Added to Sludge on Sludge-coal Pyrolysis." *Energy* 35 (12) (December): 5250–5259. doi:10.1016/j.energy.2010.07.040. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0360544210004159.
- Folgueras, M.Belén, Ramona M. Díaz, Jorge Xiberta, and Ismael Prieto. 2003.
 "Thermogravimetric Analysis of the Co-combustion of Coal and Sewage Sludge." *Fuel* 82 (15-17) (October): 2051–2055. doi:10.1016/S0016-2361(03)00161-3. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236103001613.
- Folgueras, M.Belén, R María Díaz, and Jorge Xiberta. 2004. "Sulphur Retention During Cocombustion of Coal and Sewage Sludge." *Fuel* 83 (10) (July): 1315–1322. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2004.01.015. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236104000274.
- Font, R, a Fullana, J.a Conesa, and F Llavador. 2001. "Analysis of the Pyrolysis and Combustion of Different Sewage Sludges by TG." *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 58-59 (April): 927–941. doi:10.1016/S0165-2370(00)00146-7. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0165237000001467.
- Font, R., a. Fullana, and J. Conesa. 2005. "Kinetic Models for the Pyrolysis and Combustion of Two Types of Sewage Sludge." *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 74 (1-2) (August): 429–438. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2004.10.009. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0165237005000392.
- Francisca Gómez-Rico, M., Rafael Font, Andrés Fullana, and Ignacio Martín-Gullón. 2005. "Thermogravimetric Study of Different Sewage Sludges and Their Relationship with the Nitrogen Content." *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 74 (1-2) (August): 421–428. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2004.11.029. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0165237005000215.
- Freeman, ES, and B Carroll. 1958. "The Application of Thermoanalytical Techniques to Reaction Kinetics: The Thermogravimetric Evaluation of the Kinetics of the Decomposition of Calcium Oxalate." *The Journal of Physical Chemistry* 62 (4): 394– 397. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/j150562a003.

- Friedman, HL. 1964. "Kinetics of Thermal Degradation of Char Forming Plastics from Thermogravimetry. Application to a Phenolic Plastic." *Journal of Polymer Science Part C: Polymer ...* 6 (1) (March 7): 183–195. doi:10.1002/polc.5070060121. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/polc.5070060121.
- Fytili, D., and a. Zabaniotou. 2008. "Utilization of Sewage Sludge in EU Application of Old and New methods—A Review." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 12 (1) (January): 116–140. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2006.05.014. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1364032106000827.
- Galwey, A. K. 2008. "What Can We Learn About the Mechanisms of Thermal Decompositions of Solids from Kinetic Measurements?" *Journal of Thermal Analysis* and Calorimetry 92 (3) (July 2): 967–983. doi:10.1007/s10973-007-8413-0. http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s10973-007-8413-0.
- Galwey, Andrew K. 2004. "Is the Science of Thermal Analysis Kinetics Based on Solid Foundations?" *Thermochimica Acta* 413 (1-2) (April): 139–183. doi:10.1016/j.tca.2003.10.013. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0040603103005422.
- Han, Jun, Linbo Qin, Wei Ye, Yuqi Li, Long Liu, Hao Wang, and Hong Yao. 2012.
 "Emission of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons from Coal and Sewage Sludge Cocombustion in a Drop Tube Furnace." Waste Management & Research : the Journal of the International Solid Wastes and Public Cleansing Association, ISWA 30 (9) (October): 875–82. doi:10.1177/0734242X12451309. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22751851.
- Han, Xiangxin, Mengting Niu, Xiumin Jiang, and Jianguo Liu. 2012. "Combustion Characteristics of Sewage Sludge in a Fluidized Bed." *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research* 51 (32) (August 15): 10565–10570. doi:10.1021/ie3014988. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ie3014988.
- Hartenstein, R. 1981. "Sludge Decomposition and Stabilization." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 212 (4496) (May 15): 743–9. doi:10.1126/science.212.4496.743. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17752228.
- Helena Lopes, M, P Abelha, N Lapa, J S Oliveira, I Cabrita, and I Gulyurtlu. 2003. "The Behaviour of Ashes and Heavy Metals During the Co-combustion of Sewage Sludges in a Fluidised Bed." *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)* 23 (9) (January): 859–70. doi:10.1016/S0956-053X(03)00025-4. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14583249.
- Henze, M. 2002. Wastewater Treatment: Biological and Chemical Processes. http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=Ja4AxcKIvQUC&oi=fnd&pg=PA11& dq=Wastewater+Treatment+Biological+and+Chemical+Processes&ots=LUAzISc-Em&sig=DuEZMzcPd6_efksw7yEBG7SaRYw.
- Hernandez, Ana Belén, Jean-Henry Ferrasse, Perrine Chaurand, Hans Saveyn, Daniel Borschneck, and Nicolas Roche. 2011. "Mineralogy and Leachability of Gasified Sewage Sludge Solid Residues." *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 191 (1-3) (July 15): 219–27. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.04.070. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21592652.

High, RE. 1988. "Decanter Centrifuge." US Patent 4,731,182. http://www.google.com/patents?hl=en&lr=&vid=USPAT4731182&id=zuQyAAAAEB AJ&oi=fnd&dq=Decanter+Centrifuge&printsec=abstract.

Higman, Christopher, and Maarten van der Burgt. 2008. Gasification.

- Horttanainen, Mika, Juha Kaikko, Riikka Bergman, Minna Pasila-Lehtinen, and Janne Nerg. 2010. "Performance Analysis of Power Generating Sludge Combustion Plant and Comparison Against Other Sludge Treatment Technologies." *Applied Thermal Engineering* 30 (2-3) (February): 110–118. doi:10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2009.07.005. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1359431109002233.
- Hossain, Mustafa K., Vladimir Strezov, and Peter F. Nelson. 2009. "Thermal Characterisation of the Products of Wastewater Sludge Pyrolysis." *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 85 (1-2) (May): 442–446. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2008.09.010. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0165237008001228.
- Inguanzo, M, A Domi, J A Mene, C G Blanco, and J J Pis. 2002. "On the Pyrolysis of Sewage Sludge : the Influence of Pyrolysis Conditions on Solid , Liquid and Gas Fractions." *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 63: 209–222.
- Ischia, Marco, Roberto Dal Maschio, Maurizio Grigiante, and Marco Baratieri. 2011. "Claysewage Sludge Co-pyrolysis. A TG-MS and Py-GC Study on Potential Advantages Afforded by the Presence of Clay in the Pyrolysis of Wastewater Sewage Sludge." *Waste Management* 31 (1) (January): 71–7. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2010.05.027. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20605088.
- Ji, Aimin, Shuting Zhang, Xuebin Lu, and Yong Liu. 2010. "A New Method for Evaluating the Sewage Sludge Pyrolysis Kinetics." *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)* 30 (7) (July): 1225–9. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2009.10.003. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19897350.
- Jiang, Jianguo, Xuejuan Du, and Shihui Yang. 2010. "Analysis of the Combustion of Sewage Sludge-derived Fuel by a Thermogravimetric Method in China." Waste Management (New York, N.Y.) 30 (7) (July): 1407–13. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2010.03.009. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20356726.
- Judex, Johannes W, Michael Gaiffi, and H Christian Burgbacher. 2012. "Gasification of Dried Sewage Sludge: Status of the Demonstration and the Pilot Plant." Waste Management (New York, N.Y.) 32 (4) (April): 719–23. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2011.12.023. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22284442.
- Katz, WJ, and Anthony Geinopolos. 1967. "Sludge Thickening by Dissolved-Air Flotation." *Journal (Water Pollution Control Federation)* 39 (6): 946–957. http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/25035944.
- Khawam, Ammar, and Douglas R Flanagan. 2005a. "Complementary Use of Model-free and Modelistic Methods in the Analysis of Solid-state Kinetics." *The Journal of Physical Chemistry. B* 109 (20) (May 26): 10073–80. doi:10.1021/jp050589u. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16852219.

- Khawam, Ammar, and Douglas R. Flanagan. 2005b. "Role of Isoconversional Methods in Varying Activation Energies of Solid-state Kinetics." *Thermochimica Acta* 436 (1-2) (October): 101–112. doi:10.1016/j.tca.2005.05.015. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0040603105002856.
- Kim, Jae-Kwan, and Hyun-Dong Lee. 2011. "Combustion Possibility of Dry Sewage Sludge Used as Blended Fuel in Anthracite-Fired Power Plant." *Journal of Chemical Engineering of Japan* 44 (8): 561–571. doi:10.1252/jcej.10we242. http://joi.jlc.jst.go.jp/JST.JSTAGE/jcej/10we242?from=CrossRef.
- Kim, JK, and HD Lee. 2010. "Investigation on the Combustion Possibility of Dry Sewage Sludge as a Pulverized Fuel of Thermal Power Plant." *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry* 16 (4) (July): 510–516. doi:10.1016/j.jiec.2009.10.004. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1226086X10000638.
- Kissinger, Homer E. 1956. "Variation of Peak Temperature with Heating Rate in Differential Thermal Analysis." *Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards* 57 (4) (October): 217. doi:10.6028/jres.057.026. http://nvlpubs.nist.gov/nistpubs/jres/057/jresv57n4p217_A1b.pdf.
- Laidler, KJ. 1984. "The Development of the Arrhenius Equation." *Journal of Chemical Education* 61 (6): 494–498. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/pdf/10.1021/ed061p494.
- Lapa, N, R Barbosa, M H Lopes, B Mendes, P Abelha, D Boavida, I Gulyurtlu, and J Santos Oliveira. 2007. "Chemical and Ecotoxicological Characterization of Ashes Obtained from Sewage Sludge Combustion in a Fluidised-bed Reactor." *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 147 (1-2) (August 17): 175–83. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2006.12.064. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17261348.
- Lee, DH, Rong Yan, Jingai Shao, and DT Liang. 2007. "Combustion Characteristics of Sewage Sludge in a Bench-Scale Fluidized Bed Reactor[†]." *Energy & Fuels* 139 (7): 2– 8. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef700266q.
- Lee, Ho-Soo, and Sung-Keun Bae. 2009. "Combustion Kinetics of Sewage Sludge and Combustible Wastes." *Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management* 11 (3) (September 4): 203–207. doi:10.1007/s10163-009-0251-7. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10163-009-0251-7.
- Li, Pei-Sheng, Yi Hu, Wan Yu, Ya-Nan Yue, Qiao Xu, Song Hu, Nian-Su Hu, and Jun Yang. 2009. "Investigation of Sulfur Forms and Transformation During the Cocombustion of Sewage Sludge and Coal Using X-ray Photoelectron Spectroscopy." *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 167 (1-3) (August 15): 1126–32. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.01.115. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19278780.
- Lin, Hai, and Xiaoqian Ma. 2012. "Simulation of Co-incineration of Sewage Sludge with Municipal Solid Waste in a Grate Furnace Incinerator." *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)* 32 (3) (March): 561–7. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2011.10.032. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22119515.
- Ma, Xue-wen, Huan-xin Weng, Min-hua Su, and Lehua Pan. 2011. "Drying Sewage Sludge Using Flue Gas from Power Plants in China." *Environmental Earth Sciences* 65 (6)

(July 8): 1841–1846. doi:10.1007/s12665-011-1166-x. http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s12665-011-1166-x.

- Manara, P., and a. Zabaniotou. 2012. "Towards Sewage Sludge Based Biofuels via Thermochemical Conversion – A Review." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 16 (5) (June): 2566–2582. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2012.01.074. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S136403211200086X.
- McAllister, Sara, Jyh-Yuan Chen, and A. C. Fernandez-Pello. 2011. Fundamentals of Combustion Processes.
- Menéndez, J a, M Inguanzo, and J J Pis. 2002. "Microwave-induced Pyrolysis of Sewage Sludge." *Water Research* 36 (13) (July): 3261–4. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21353518.
- Menéndez, J.a., a. Domínguez, M. Inguanzo, and J.J. Pis. 2005. "Microwave-induced Drying, Pyrolysis and Gasification (MWDPG) of Sewage Sludge: Vitrification of the Solid Residue." *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 74 (1-2) (August): 406– 412. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2004.10.013. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S016523700500046X.
- Menéndez, J.a., a. Domínguez, M. Inguanzo, and J.J. Pis. 2004. "Microwave Pyrolysis of Sewage Sludge: Analysis of the Gas Fraction." *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 71 (2) (June): 657–667. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2003.09.003. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0165237003001566.
- Metcalf, E. 2002. "Wastewater Engineering: Treatment and Reuse." *McGraw-Hill, New York*. http://www.lavoisier.fr/livre/notice.asp?ouvrage=1029966.

"Mikro-X Ray Fluoresans (µXRF)." 2013. http://yebim.ankara.edu.tr/?p=189.

- Milne, TA, N Abatzoglou, and RJ Evans. 1998. "Biomass Gasifier' Tars': Their Nature, Formation, and Conversion." http://www.pssurvival.com/PS/Gasifiers/Biomass_Gasifier_Tars_Their_Nature_Formation_And_Con version_1998.pdf.
- Mixon, JA. 1981. "Sludge Thickening Apparatus." US Patent 4,259,185. http://www.google.com/patents?hl=en&lr=&vid=USPAT4259185&id=3Fw3AAAAEB AJ&oi=fnd&dq=Sludge+Thickening+Apparatus&printsec=abstract.
- Moldoveanu, S. 2009. Pyrolysis of Organic Molecules: Applications to Health and Environmental Issues. http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=lg2r9BDlbM8C&oi=fnd&pg=PP2&dq =Pyrolysis+of+Organic+Molecules+Applications+to+Health+and+Environmental+Issu es&ots=RYcscSvP0P&sig=KafmBkCo2Bt2wmSwYh1LPYo93eI.
- Moyé, LA. 2006. *Statistical Reasoning in Medicine: The Intuitive P-value Primer. Mayo Clinic Proceedings*. Vol. 76. doi:10.1016/S0025-6196(11)63242-4. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0025619611632424.

- Mun, Tae-Young, Bo-Sung Kang, and Joo-Sik Kim. 2009. "Production of a Producer Gas with High Heating Values and Less Tar from Dried Sewage Sludge through Air Gasification Using a Two-Stage Gasifier and Activated Carbon." *Energy & Fuels* 23 (6) (June 18): 3268–3276. doi:10.1021/ef900028n. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef900028n.
- Murakami, Takahiro, Yoshizo Suzuki, Hidekazu Nagasawa, Takafumi Yamamoto, Takami Koseki, Hitoshi Hirose, and Seiichiro Okamoto. 2009. "Combustion Characteristics of Sewage Sludge in an Incineration Plant for Energy Recovery." *Fuel Processing Technology* 90 (6) (June): 778–783. doi:10.1016/j.fuproc.2009.03.003. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0378382009000551.
- Muthuraman, Marisamy, Tomoaki Namioka, and Kunio Yoshikawa. 2010. "Characteristics of Co-combustion and Kinetic Study on Hydrothermally Treated Municipal Solid Waste with Different Rank Coals: A Thermogravimetric Analysis." *Applied Energy* 87 (1) (January): 141–148. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2009.08.004. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0306261909003183.
- Nadziakiewicz, Jan, and Michał Kozioł. 2003. "Co-combustion of Sludge with Coal." *Applied Energy* 75 (3-4) (July): 239–248. doi:10.1016/S0306-2619(03)00037-0. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0306261903000370.
- Nielsen, Anders R., Morten B. Larsen, Peter Glarborg, and Kim Dam-Johansen. 2011. "Sulfur Release from Cement Raw Materials During Solid Fuel Combustion." *Energy & Fuels* 25 (9) (September 15): 3917–3924. doi:10.1021/ef200963v. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef200963v.
- Nilsson, Susanna, Alberto Gómez-Barea, and Diego Fuentes Cano. 2012. "Gasification Reactivity of Char from Dried Sewage Sludge in a Fluidized Bed." *Fuel* 92 (1) (February): 346–353. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2011.07.031. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236111004285.
- Nipattummakul, Nimit, Islam I. Ahmed, Somrat Kerdsuwan, and Ashwani K. Gupta. 2010. "Hydrogen and Syngas Production from Sewage Sludge via Steam Gasification." *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy* 35 (21) (November): 11738–11745. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.08.032. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S036031991001671X.
- Nowicki, Lech, Anna Antecka, Tomasz Bedyk, Paweł Stolarek, and Stanisław Ledakowicz. 2010. "The Kinetics of Gasification of Char Derived from Sewage Sludge." *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* 104 (2) (September 18): 693–700. doi:10.1007/s10973-010-1032-1. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10973-010-1032-1.
- Otero, M, L F Calvo, M V Gil, a I García, and a Morán. 2008. "Co-combustion of Different Sewage Sludge and Coal: a Non-isothermal Thermogravimetric Kinetic Analysis." *Bioresource Technology* 99 (14) (September): 6311–9. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007.12.011. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18255288.
- Otero, M, LF Calvo, B Estrada, AI Garcıa, and A Morán. 2002. "Thermogravimetry as a Technique for Establishing the Stabilization Progress of Sludge from Wastewater Treatment Plants." *Thermochimica Acta* 389 (June 1986): 121–132. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040603101008565.
- Otero, M, C Dıez, LF Calvo, AI GarcıÌ□a, and A Morán. 2002. "Analysis of the Cocombustion of Sewage Sludge and Coal by TG-MS." *Biomass and Bioenergy* 22: 319– 329. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0961953402000120.
- Otero, M, X Gómez, a I García, and a Morán. 2007. "Effects of Sewage Sludge Blending on the Coal Combustion: a Thermogravimetric Assessment." *Chemosphere* 69 (11) (November): 1740–50. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.05.077. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17624399.
- Otero, M, M E Sánchez, and X Gómez. 2011. "Co-firing of Coal and Manure Biomass: a TG-MS Approach." *Bioresource Technology* 102 (17) (September): 8304–9. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2011.06.040. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21737261.
- Otero, M, M E Sanchez, X Gómez, and a Morán. 2010. "Thermogravimetric Analysis of Biowastes During Combustion." *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)* 30 (7) (July): 1183–7. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2009.12.010. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20079622.
- Otero, M., M. E. Sánchez, a. García, and a. Morán. 2006. "Simultaneous Thermogravimetric-mass Spectrometric Study on the Co-combustion of Coal and Sewage Sludges." *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* 86 (2) (October 6): 489–495. doi:10.1007/s10973-005-7367-3. http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s10973-005-7367-3.
- Otero, Marta, X. Gómez, a. I. García, and a. Morán. 2008. "Non-isothermal Thermogravimetric Analysis of the Combustion of Two Different Carbonaceous Materials." *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* 93 (2) (January 26): 619– 626. doi:10.1007/s10973-007-8415-y. http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s10973-007-8415-y.
- Othman, Mohd Roslee, Young-Hun Park, Thanh An Ngo, Seung-Soo Kim, Jinsoo Kim, and Kwang Seok Lee. 2010. "Thermogravimetric Characteristics and Pyrolysis Kinetics of Giheung Respia Sewage Sludge." *Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering* 27 (1) (February 16): 163–167. doi:10.1007/s11814-009-0338-9. http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s11814-009-0338-9.
- Park, Sang-Woo, and Cheol-Hyeon Jang. 2011a. "Characteristics of Carbonized Sludge for Co-combustion in Pulverized Coal Power Plants." *Waste Management (New York, N.Y.)* 31 (3) (March): 523–9. doi:10.1016/j.wasman.2010.10.009. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21051215.

 2011b. "Effects of Carbonization and Solvent-extraction on Change in Fuel Characteristics of Sewage Sludge." *Bioresource Technology* 102 (17) (October): 8205– 10. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2011.05.072. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21683585.

Park, Se-Joon, Jong-Soo Bae, Dong-Wook Lee, Ho Won Ra, Jai-Chang Hong, and Young-Chan Choi. 2011. "Effects of Hydrothermally Pretreated Sewage Sludge on the Stability and Dispersibility of Slurry Fuel Using Pulverized Coal." *Energy & Fuels* 25 (9) (September 15): 3934–3939. doi:10.1021/ef200893p. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef200893p.

- Pettersson, Anita, Lars-Erik Åmand, and Britt-Marie Steenari. 2008a. "Leaching of Ashes from Co-combustion of Sewage Sludge and wood—Part II: The Mobility of Metals During Phosphorus Extraction." *Biomass and Bioenergy* 32 (3) (March): 236–244. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2007.09.006. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0961953407001584.
- Pettersson, Anita, LE Åmand, and BM Steenari. 2008b. "Leaching of Ashes from Cocombustion of Sewage Sludge and wood—Part I: Recovery of Phosphorus." *Biomass* and Bioenergy 32 (3) (March): 224–235. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2007.09.006. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0961953407001584.
- Phuphuakrat, Thana, Nimit Nipattummakul, Tomoaki Namioka, Somrat Kerdsuwan, and Kunio Yoshikawa. 2010. "Characterization of Tar Content in the Syngas Produced in a Downdraft Type Fixed Bed Gasification System from Dried Sewage Sludge." *Fuel* 89 (9) (September): 2278–2284. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2010.01.015. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236110000232.
- Plaza, Piotr, Anthony J Griffiths, Nick Syred, and Thomas Rees-gralton. 2009. "Use of a Predictive Model for the Impact of Cofiring Coal / Biomass Blends on Slagging and Fouling Propensity †" (13): 3437–3445.
- Pokorna, E., N. Postelmans, P. Jenicek, S. Schreurs, R. Carleer, and J. Yperman. 2009. "Study of Bio-oils and Solids from Flash Pyrolysis of Sewage Sludges." *Fuel* 88 (8) (August): 1344–1350. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2009.02.020. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236109000891.
- Porteous, G. C. "Dewatering Sewage Sludge by Centrifuge."
- Primak, W. 1955. "Kinetics of Processes Distributed in Activation Energy." *Physical Review* 100 (6): 1677–1689. http://prola.aps.org/abstract/PR/v100/i6/p1677_1.
- Rodriguez, R., D. Gauthier, S. Udaquiola, G. Mazza, O. Martinez, and G. Flamant. 2008. "Kinetic Study and Characterization of Sewage Sludge for Its Incineration." *Journal of Environmental Engineering and Science* 7 (3) (May): 247–257. doi:10.1139/S07-052. http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.1139/S07-052.
- Ruiz-Femenia, Ruben, and Jose a. Caballero. 2011. "Analysis of the Relative Strength of the Singular Values Obtained from the Non-parametric Kinetic Method." *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* 107 (2) (February 18): 585–596. doi:10.1007/s10973-011-1349-4. http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s10973-011-1349-4.
- Sanchez, M.E., M. Otero, X. Gómez, and a. Morán. 2009. "Thermogravimetric Kinetic Analysis of the Combustion of Biowastes." *Renewable Energy* 34 (6) (June): 1622– 1627. doi:10.1016/j.renene.2008.11.011. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0960148108004278.

Sanin, FD, WW Clarkson, and PA Vesilind. 2011. Sludge Engineering: The Treatment and Disposal of Wastewater Sludges. http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=LO8czJTqbQ0C&oi=fnd&pg=PR9&dq =Sludge+Engineering+The+Treatment+and+Disposal+of+Wastewater+Sludges&ots=_ NnL_bMf5G&sig=Qo76IFy4weP9OzMYyXwBnHezyHI.

- Scott, S, J Dennis, J Davidson, and a Hayhurst. 2006. "Thermogravimetric Measurements of the Kinetics of Pyrolysis of Dried Sewage Sludge." *Fuel* 85 (9) (June): 1248–1253. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2005.11.003. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236105004370.
- Scott, S.a., J.F. Davidson, J.S. Dennis, and a.N. Hayhurst. 2007. "The Devolatilisation of Particles of a Complex Fuel (dried Sewage Sludge) in a Fluidised Bed." *Chemical Engineering Science* 62 (1-2) (January): 584–598. doi:10.1016/j.ces.2006.09.023. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S000925090600604X.
- Scott, S.a., J.S. Dennis, J.F. Davidson, and A.N. Hayhurst. 2006. "An Algorithm for Determining the Kinetics of Devolatilisation of Complex Solid Fuels from Thermogravimetric Experiments." *Chemical Engineering* ... 61 (8) (April): 2339–2348. doi:10.1016/j.ces.2005.11.002. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0009250905008341.
- Sebestyén, Zoltán, Ferenc Lezsovits, Emma Jakab, and Gábor Várhegyi. 2011. "Correlation Between Heating Values and Thermogravimetric Data of Sewage Sludge, Herbaceous Crops and Wood Samples." *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* 110 (3) (December 4): 1501–1509. doi:10.1007/s10973-011-2078-4. http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s10973-011-2078-4.
- Seggiani, M., S. Vitolo, M. Puccini, and a. Bellini. 2012. "Cogasification of Sewage Sludge in an Updraft Gasifier." *Fuel* 93 (March): 486–491. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2011.08.054. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S001623611100528X.
- Sempere, J, R Nomen, R Serra, and J Soravilla. 2002. "The NPK Method: An Innovative Approach for Kinetic Analysis of Data from Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry." *Thermochimica Acta* 388: 407–414. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040603102000370.
- Siemens. 2008. "Cannibal Solids Reduction Process." http://www.water.siemens.com/SiteCollectionDocuments/Product_Lines/Envirex_Prod ucts/Brochures/EN-CAN-BR-0608.pdf.
- Solimene, R., M. Urciuolo, a. Cammarota, R. Chirone, P. Salatino, G. Damonte, C. Donati, and G. Puglisi. 2010. "Devolatilization and Ash Comminution of Two Different Sewage Sludges Under Fluidized Bed Combustion Conditions." *Experimental Thermal* and Fluid Science 34 (3) (April): 387–395. doi:10.1016/j.expthermflusci.2009.10.033. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0894177709001782.
- Soria-Verdugo, A., N. Garcia-Hernando, L.M. Garcia-Gutierrez, and U. Ruiz-Rivas. 2013. "Analysis of Biomass and Sewage Sludge Devolatilization Using the Distributed Activation Energy Model." *Energy Conversion and Management* 65 (January): 239– 244. doi:10.1016/j.enconman.2012.08.017. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0196890412003330.
- Spliethoff, H. 2010. Power Generation from Solid Fuels. Power Generation from Solid Fuels. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-02856-4. http://www.springerlink.com/index/r146037j4l44043w.pdf.

- Standard, AA. 2007. "E1641-07, Standard Test Method for Decomposition Kinetics by Thermogravimetry." ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA. http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Standard+Test+Meth od+for+Decomposition+Kinetics+by+Thermogravimetry#0.
- Standardization, International Organization for. 2005. "Plastics Thermogravimetry (TG) of Polymers — Part 2: Determination of Activation Energy". Vol. 2005.
- Stasta, Pavel, Jaroslav Boran, Ladislav Bebar, Petr Stehlik, and Jaroslav Oral. 2006. "Thermal Processing of Sewage Sludge." *Applied Thermal Engineering* 26 (13) (September): 1420–1426. doi:10.1016/j.applthermaleng.2005.05.030. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1359431105002140.
- Stehlík, Petr. 2009. "Contribution to Advances in Waste-to-energy Technologies." *Journal* of Cleaner Production 17 (10) (July): 919–931. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2009.02.011. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959652609000407.
- Stelmach, Sławomir, and Ryszard Wasielewski. 2008. "Co-combustion of Dried Sewage Sludge and Coal in a Pulverized Coal Boiler." *Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management* 10 (2) (October 8): 110–115. doi:10.1007/s10163-007-0206-9. http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s10163-007-0206-9.
- Surampalli, RY, S Yan, TC Zhang, CM Kao, and BN Lohani. 2009. Sustainable Sludge Management: Production of Value Added Products. http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=n4nLfyBgQ2UC&oi=fnd&pg=PR5&d q=Sustainable+Sludge+Management+Production+of+Value+Added+Products&ots=Qx YdEqJv0d&sig=Cmvi20UVuYSvg3hYKG4OmqnU1r4.
- Teixeira, Paula, Helena Lopes, Ibrahim Gulyurtlu, Nuno Lapa, and Pedro Abelha. 2012. "Evaluation of Slagging and Fouling Tendency During Biomass Co-firing with Coal in a Fluidized Bed." *Biomass and Bioenergy* 39 (April): 192–203. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.01.010. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0961953412000116.
- Thipkhunthod, Puchong, Vissanu Meeyoo, Pramoch Rangsunvigit, Boonyarach Kitiyanan, Kitipat Siemanond, and Thirasak Rirksomboon. 2006. "Pyrolytic Characteristics of Sewage Sludge." *Chemosphere* 64 (6) (August): 955–62. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.01.002. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16483633.
- Tian, Fu-Jun, Bao-Qing Li, Yong Chen, and Chun-Zhu Li. 2002. "Formation of NOx Precursors During the Pyrolysis of Coal and Biomass. Part V. Pyrolysis of a Sewage Sludge☆." *Fuel* 81 (17) (December): 2203–2208. doi:10.1016/S0016-2361(02)00139-4. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236102001394.
- Tian, Yu, Wei Zuo, Zhengyuan Ren, and Dongdong Chen. 2011. "Estimation of a Novel Method to Produce Bio-oil from Sewage Sludge by Microwave Pyrolysis with the Consideration of Efficiency and Safety." *Bioresource Technology* 102 (2) (January): 2053–61. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.09.082. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20952188.

- Toraman, Oner Yusuf, Hüseyin Topal, Oktay Bayat, and Aysel Atimtay. 2004. "Emission Characteristics of Co-combustion of Sewage Sludge with Olive Cake and Lignite Coal in a Circulating Fluidized Bed." *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A* 39 (4) (December 27): 973–986. doi:10.1081/ESE-120028407. http://www.informaworld.com/openurl?genre=article&doi=10.1081/ESE-120028407&magic=crossref||D404A21C5BB053405B1A640AFFD44AE3.
- Turovskiy, IS, and PK Mathai. 2006. *Wastewater Sludge Processing*. http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=DwMWvTki7h8C&oi=fnd&pg=PR5& dq=Wastewater+Sludge+Processing&ots=6Z24bPhZFf&sig=IV-LV_69DHyf8hWu30pdwlQPYIU.
- Urciuolo, M., R. Solimene, R. Chirone, and P. Salatino. 2012. "Fluidized Bed Combustion and Fragmentation of Wet Sewage Sludge." *Experimental Thermal and Fluid Science* 43 (November): 97–104. doi:10.1016/j.expthermflusci.2012.03.019. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0894177712000866.
- "Uses of Lime Biosolids and Sludge." 2013. *National Lime Association*. http://www.lime.org/uses_of_lime/environmental/biosolids.asp.
- Vamvuka, Despina, and Stelios Sfakiotakis. 2011. "Combustion Behaviour of Biomass Fuels and Their Blends with Lignite." *Thermochimica Acta* 526 (1-2) (November): 192–199. doi:10.1016/j.tca.2011.09.021. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0040603111004941.
- Várhegyi, G, Z Sebestyén, and Z Czégény. 2011. "Combustion Kinetics of Biomass Materials in the Kinetic Regime." *Energy &* http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef201497k.
 - —. 2012. "Combustion Kinetics of Biomass Materials in the Kinetic Regime." *Energy* & *Fuels* 26: 1323 1335. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef201497k.
- Vyazovkin, Sergey, Alan K. Burnham, José M. Criado, Luis a. Pérez-Maqueda, Crisan Popescu, and Nicolas Sbirrazzuoli. 2011. "ICTAC Kinetics Committee Recommendations for Performing Kinetic Computations on Thermal Analysis Data." *Thermochimica Acta* 520 (1-2) (June): 1–19. doi:10.1016/j.tca.2011.03.034. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0040603111002152.
- Vyazovkin, Sergey, and CA Wight. 1999. "Model-free and Model-fitting Approaches to Kinetic Analysis of Isothermal and Nonisothermal Data." *Thermochimica Acta* 341: 53–68. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040603199002531.
- Wang, Hailong, Sally L Brown, Guna N Magesan, Alison H Slade, Michael Quintern, Peter W Clinton, and Tim W Payn. 2008. "Technological Options for the Management of Biosolids." *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International* 15 (4) (June): 308–17. doi:10.1007/s11356-008-0012-5. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18488261.
- Wang, Liang, Geir Skjevrak, Johan E. Hustad, and Morten G. Grønli. 2011. "Effects of Sewage Sludge and Marble Sludge Addition on Slag Characteristics During Wood Waste Pellets Combustion." *Energy & Fuels* 25 (12) (December 15): 5775–5785. doi:10.1021/ef2007722. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef2007722.

—. 2012. "Sintering Characteristics of Sewage Sludge Ashes at Elevated Temperatures." *Fuel Processing Technology* 96 (April): 88–97. doi:10.1016/j.fuproc.2011.12.022. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0378382011004401.

- Wang, Ruikun, Jianzhong Liu, Yujie Yu, Yaxuan Hu, Junhu Zhou, and Kefa Cen. 2011. "The Slurrying Properties of Coal Water Slurries Containing Raw Sewage Sludge." *Energy & Fuels* 25 (2) (February 17): 747–752. doi:10.1021/ef101409h. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef101409h.
- Wei, X, U Schnell, and K Hein. 2005. "Behaviour of Gaseous Chlorine and Alkali Metals During Biomass Thermal Utilisation." *Fuel* 84 (7-8) (May): 841–848. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2004.11.022. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236104003667.
- Werther, J., and T. Ogada. 1999. "Sewage Sludge Combustion." *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science* 25 (1) (February): 55–116. doi:10.1016/S0360-1285(98)00020-3. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0360128598000203.
- Windig, Willem., and Jean. Guilment. 1991. "Interactive Self-modeling Mixture Analysis." *Analytical Chemistry* 63 (14) (July): 1425–1432. doi:10.1021/ac00014a016. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ac00014a016.
- Wu, R.M., D.J. Lee, C.Y. Chang, and J.L. Shie. 2006. "Fitting TGA Data of Oil Sludge Pyrolysis and Oxidation by Applying a Model Free Approximation of the Arrhenius Parameters." *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 76 (1-2) (June): 132–137. doi:10.1016/j.jaap.2005.10.001. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S016523700500166X.
- Wu, Zhonghua, Jing Zhang, Zhanyong Li, Jian Xie, and Arun S Mujumdar. 2012. "Production of a Solid Fuel Using Sewage Sludge and Spent Cooking Oil by Immersion Frying." *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 243 (December): 357–63. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.10.054. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23158688.
- Wzorek, Małgorzata. 2012. "Characterisation of the Properties of Alternative Fuels Containing Sewage Sludge." *Fuel Processing Technology* 104 (December): 80–89. doi:10.1016/j.fuproc.2012.04.023. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0378382012001518.
- Xiao, Han-min, Xiao-qian Ma, and Zhi-yi Lai. 2009. "Isoconversional Kinetic Analysis of Co-combustion of Sewage Sludge with Straw and Coal." *Applied Energy* 86 (9) (September): 1741–1745. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2008.11.016. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0306261908003085.
- Xiao, Hanmin, Xiaoqian Ma, and Kai Liu. 2010. "Co-combustion Kinetics of Sewage Sludge with Coal and Coal Gangue Under Different Atmospheres." *Energy Conversion and Management* 51 (10) (October): 1976–1980. doi:10.1016/j.enconman.2010.02.030. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0196890410000968.
- Yang, Yao Bin, Lynne Sliwinski, Vida Sharifi, and Jim Swithenbank. 2008. "Dynamic Behaviour of Sewage Sludge Incineration in a Large-scale Bubbling Fluidised Bed in Relation to Feeding-rate Variations." *Fuel* 87 (8-9) (July): 1552–1563.

doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2007.08.004. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0016236107003699.

- Zhai, Yunbo, Wenfeng Peng, Guangming Zeng, Zongming Fu, Yuanming Lan, Hongmei Chen, Chang Wang, and Xiaopeng Fan. 2011. "Pyrolysis Characteristics and Kinetics of Sewage Sludge for Different Sizes and Heating Rates." *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* 107 (3) (May 20): 1015–1022. doi:10.1007/s10973-011-1644-0. http://www.springerlink.com/index/10.1007/s10973-011-1644-0.
- Zhang, Jun, Yu Tian, Yanni Cui, Wei Zuo, and Tao Tan. 2013. "Key Intermediates in Nitrogen Transformation During Microwave Pyrolysis of Sewage Sludge: A Protein Model Compound Study." *Bioresource Technology* 132 (March): 57–63. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2013.01.008. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23395756.
- Zhang, Qiang, Haifeng Liu, Weifeng Li, Jianliang Xu, and Qinfeng Liang. 2012. "Behavior of Phosphorus During Co-gasification of Sewage Sludge and Coal." *Energy & Fuels* 26 (5) (May 17): 2830–2836. doi:10.1021/ef300006d. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef300006d.

APPENDICES



A. Emissions Obtained in Co-Combustion Experiments

Figure A.1 Results of coal combustion experiment



Figure A.2 Result of co-combustion of coal and A-1 sludge with %3 addition



Figure A.3 Result of co-combustion of coal and A-1 sludge with %5 addition



Figure A.4 Result of co-combustion of coal and A-1 sludge with %10 addition



Figure A.5 Result of co-combustion of coal and A-1 sludge with %20 addition



Figure A.6 Result of co-combustion of coal and A-1 sludge with %30 addition



Figure A.7 Result of co-combustion of coal and B-1 sludge with %3 addition



Figure A.8 Result of co-combustion of coal and B-1 sludge with %5 addition



Figure A.9 Result of co-combustion of coal and B-1 sludge with %10 addition



Figure A.10 Result of co-combustion of coal and B-1 sludge with %20 addition



Figure A.11 Result of co-combustion of coal and B-1 sludge with %30 addition



Figure A.12 Result of co-combustion of coal and C-1 sludge with %3 addition



Figure A.13 Result of co-combustion of coal and C-1 sludge with %5 addition



Figure A.14 Result of co-combustion of coal and C-1 sludge with %10 addition



Figure A.15 Result of co-combustion of coal and C-1 sludge with %20 addition



Figure A.16 Result of co-combustion of coal and C-1 sludge with %30 addition



Figure A.17 Result of co-combustion of coal and D-1 sludge with %3 addition



Figure A.18 Result of co-combustion of coal and D-1 sludge with %5 addition



Figure A.19 Result of co-combustion of coal and D-1 sludge with %10 addition



Figure A.20 Result of co-combustion of coal and D-1 sludge with %20 addition



Figure A.21 Result of co-combustion of coal and D-1 sludge with %30 addition



Figure A.22 Result of co-combustion of coal and E1-1 sludge with %3 addition



Figure A.23 Result of co-combustion of coal and E1-1 sludge with %5 addition



Figure A.24 Result of co-combustion of coal and E1-1 sludge with %10 addition



Figure A.25 Result of co-combustion of coal and E1-1 sludge with %20 addition



Figure A.26 Result of co-combustion of coal and E1-1 sludge with %30 addition



Figure A.27 Result of co-combustion of coal and E2-1 sludge with %3 addition



Figure A.28 Result of co-combustion of coal and E2-1 sludge with %5 addition



Figure A.29 Result of co-combustion of coal and E2-1 sludge with %10 addition



Figure A.30 Result of co-combustion of coal and E2-1 sludge with %20 addition



Figure A.31 Result of co-combustion of coal and E2-1 sludge with %30 addition



Figure A.32 Result of co-combustion of coal and F-1 sludge with %3 addition



Figure A.33 Result of co-combustion of coal and F-1 sludge with %5 addition



Figure A.34 Result of co-combustion of coal and F-1 sludge with %10 addition



Figure A.35 Result of co-combustion of coal and F-1 sludge with %20 addition



Figure A.36 Result of co-combustion of coal and F-1 sludge with %30 addition





Figure B. 1 Mass Loss Profiles of A-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 2 Sample Heating Rates of A-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 3 Reaction Rates of A-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 4 Mass Loss Profiles of B-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 5 Sample Heating Rates of B-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 6 Reaction Rates of B-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 7 Mass Loss Profiles of C-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 8 Sample Heating Rates of C-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 9 Reaction Rates of C-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 10 Mass Loss Profiles of D-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 11 Sample Heating Rates of D-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 12 Reaction Rates of D-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 13 Mass Loss Profiles of E1-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 14 Sample Heating Rates of E1-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 15 Reaction Rates of E1-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 16 Mass Loss Profiles of E2-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 17 Sample Heating Rates of E2-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 18 Reaction Rates of E2-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 19 Mass Loss Profiles of F-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 20 Sample Heating Rates of F-1 Sample in TGA Experiments



Figure B. 21 Reaction Rates of F-1 Sample in TGA Experiments
C. Matlab Codes for Filtering and Interpolation Operation

Savitzky-Golay Filtering

```
Sg=sgolayfilt(%sample heating rate%beta,5,10001);
Sg=sgolayfilt(%reaction rate%dadt,5,10001);
```

Interpolation Using Polynomial Fit

```
For i=31:1:40;
%plyval=polytool(alfa32(i*263:i*263+262),temp32(i*263:i*263+262),3
);
J=37;
A=polyfit(alfa32(j*263:j*263+262),temp32(j*263:j*263+262),3);
C=0.968;
D=0.980;
B=polyval(a,c:0.001:d);
Temperature=b';
A1=polyfit(alfa32(j*263:j*263+262),beta32smthd(j*263:j*263+262),3)
;
B1=polyval(a1,c:0.001:d);
Sample heating rate=b1';
A2=polyfit(alfa32(j*263:j*263+262),dadt32smthd(j*263:j*263+262),3)
;
B2=polyval(a2,c:0.001:d);
Reaction rate=b2';
End
```

D. Fitting of Time Vectors to Experimental Data

D.1. Fitting Integral Data



Figure D.1 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.2 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.3 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 16 °C/min experiment



Figure D.4 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.5 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.6 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.7 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.8 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.9 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.10 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 16 °C/min experiment



Figure D.11 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.12 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.13 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.14 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 16 °C/min experiment



Figure D.15 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.16 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.17 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.18 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 16 °C/min experiment



Figure D.19 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.20 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.21 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.22 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 16 °C/min experiment



Figure D.23 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.24 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.25 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.26 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 16 °C/min experiment



Figure D.27 Fitting integral time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 32 °C/min experiment

D.2. Fitting Differential Data



Figure D.28 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.29 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.30 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 16 °C/min experiment



Figure D.31 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of A-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.32 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.33 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.34 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of B-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.35 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.36 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.37 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of C-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.38 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 4 $^{\circ}C/min$ experiment



Figure D.39 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.40 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 16 $^{\circ}C/min$ experiment



Figure D.41 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of D-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.42 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.43 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.44 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 16 °C/min experiment



Figure D.45 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E1-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.46 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 4 $^{\circ}$ C/min experiment



Figure D.47 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.48 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 16 °C/min experiment



Figure D.49 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of E2-1 in 32 °C/min experiment



Figure D.50 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 4 °C/min experiment



Figure D.51 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 8 °C/min experiment



Figure D.52 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 16 °C/min experiment



Figure D.53 Fitting differential time vectors to TGA profile of F-1 in 32 °C/min experiment